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Foreword

Richard Holbrooke

In diplomacy, as in life itself, one often learns more from failures than
from successes. Triumphs will seem, in retrospect, to be foreordained, a
series of brilliant actions and decisions that may in fact have been lucky or
inadvertent, whereas failures illuminate paths and pitfalls to be avoided—
in the parlance of modern bureaucrats, lessons learned. With this in mind,
it is time to look again at what happened in Paris in 1919. Margaret
MacMillan’s engrossing account of that seminal event contains some suc-
cess stories, to be sure, but measured against the judgment of history and
consequences, it is a study of flawed decisions with terrible consequences,
many of which haunt us to this day.

In the headline version of history, the road from the Hall of Mirrors to
the German invasion of Poland only twenty years later is usually presented
as a straight line. But as MacMillan forcefully demonstrates, this widely
accepted view of history distorts the nature of the decisions made in Paris
and minimizes the importance of actions taken in the intervening years.

The manner in which the war ended—with an “armistice” and no
fighting on German soil-—played a significant role in subsequent events.
“Things might have been different,” MacMillan writes, “if Germany had
been more thoroughly defeated.” Most Germans outside the High Com-
mand did not realize that Germany was finished militarily, and therefore
did not regard November 11, 1918, as a day of surrender. Hitler would
capitalize on this; his promise to undo the Treaty of Versailles was a potent
and popular theme during his rise to power. But MacMillan corrects the
widely held view that the reparations payments imposed by the victors
were so onerous as to have caused the wreck of the German economy that
paved the way for Hitler.

By any standard, the cast of characters that assembled in Paris in 1919
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was remarkable, from Lawrence of Arabia to a small Vietnamese kitchen
hand later known as Ho Chi Minh. And for the first time in history, an
American stood at the center of a great world drama. Woodrow Wilson in-
spired tens of millions who never met him, and frustrated those who
worked with him. He was idealistic and remote, naive and rigid, noble and
conflicted. His strengths and weaknesses, his health, even the influence of
his overbearing and ignorant wife, were all critical factors in events of his-
toric importance.

In the eighty years since he left office, Wilson’s reputation has risen
and fallen regularly—but he remains as fascinating and central to an un-
derstanding of modern American foreign policy as ever. His many sup-
porters, from Herbert Hoover to Robert McNamara, have argued that his
enemies in both Paris and the United States Senate were responsible for
the undoing of one of history’s noblest dreams. Others, including Sen-
ator Jesse Helms, have viewed Wilson’s determined adversary, Senator
Henry Cabot Lodge, as a principled protector of American sovereignty
and charged Wilson with seeking to undermine the American Constitu-
tion. Another school of thought, especially prevalent in the latter years of
the Cold War, criticized Wilson for unrealistic, overly moralistic goals;
among its best-known practitioners are George F. Kennan and Henry Kis-
singer, who accused Wilson of “extraordinary conceit,” even while con-
ceding that he “originated what would become the dominant intellectual
school of American foreign policy.” (To Kissinger’s horror, his president,
Richard Nixon, placed Wilson’s portrait in the place of honor in the Cab-
inet Room.)

Through the fog of this never-ending debate, one thing is clear:
as Wilson arrived in France in December 1918, he ignited great hopes
throughout the world with his stirring Fourteen Points—especially the
groundbreaking concept of “self-determination.” Yet Wilson, often ill-
informed or badly prepared for detailed negotiations, seemed vague as to
what his own phrase actually meant. “When I gave utterance to those
words,” he admitted later, “I said them without the knowledge that na-
tionalities existed, which are coming to us day after day.”

Even at the time it was recognized that the concept of self-
determination was, as MacMillan puts it, “controversial and opaque.”
“When the President talks of ‘self-determination,’” Secretary of State
Robert Lansing asked, “what unit has he in mind? Does he mean a race, a
territorial area, or a community? . . . It will raise hopes which can never
be realized. It will, I fear, cost thousands of lives. In the end it is bound to
be discredited, to be called the dream of an idealist who failed to realize
the danger until it was too late.”
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Lansing was one of the first to recognize a dilemma that lies at the core
of many of today’s bitterest disputes. Still, it was not Wilson’s dreams but
his decision to compromise them (by letting Japan take the Shantung
peninsula in China, for example) that cost the world so dearly. Ironically,
when Wilson returned home, he made the opposite mistake: by refusing
to make relatively minor compromises with Senate moderates, he lost his
chance to get the treaty (and American membership in the League of Na-
tions) ratified.

Some of the most intractable problems of the modern world have roots
in decisions made right after the end of the Great War. Among them one
could list the four Balkan wars between 1991 and 1999; the crisis over Irag
(whose present borders resulted from Franco-British rivalries and casual
mapmaking); the continuing quest of the Kurds for self-determination;
disputes between Greece and Turkey; and the endless struggle between
Arabs and Jews over land that each thought had been promised them.

As the peacemakers met in Paris, new nations emerged and great em-
pires died. Excessively ambitious, the Big Four set out to do nothing less
than fix the world, from Europe to the far Pacific. But facing domestic
pressures, events they could not control, and conflicting claims they could
not reconcile, the negotiators were, in the end, simply overwhelmed—
and made deals and compromises that would echo down through history.

Even then, they sensed that they were laying the seeds for future prob-
lems. “I cannot say for how many years, perhaps I should say for how
many centuries, the crisis which has begun will continue,” predicted
Georges Clemenceau, whose own behavior contributed to the failure.
“Yes, this treaty will bring us burdens, troubles, miseries, difficulties, and
that will continue for long years.”

MacMillan brings back to life some great dramas: the Italian walkout
after the failure of their effort to gain control of much of the Yugoslav
coast; the Japanese grab of the Shantung peninsula, which launched the
May Fourth Movement in China and started the path to war and revolu-
tion in Asia; the dismemberment of Hungary, which left millions of Hun-
garians permanently outside their own country’s borders; the inability of
the Big Four to deal with the new Soviet government, other than by send-
ing a feckless expeditionary force into the Russian civil war; the dissolution
of the Ottoman empire and the rise of one of the twentieth century’s most
remarkable leaders, Kemal Atatiirk; and last but not least, the creation of
Yugoslavia (originally, the Kingdom of the Serbs, Croats, and Slovenes) out
of the disparate peoples of the south Balkans. This state would survive
under Marshal Tito’s communist dictatorship for decades, but when the
patchwork put together in 1919 fell apart in the early 1990s, four wars
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followed—first Slovenia, then Croatia, then Bosnia-Herzegovina, and
finally Kosovo. (A fifth, in Macedonia, was barely averted.)

As our American negotiating team shuttled around the Balkans in the
fall of 1995 trying to end the war in Bosnia, the Versailles treaty was not far
from my mind. Reading excerpts from Harold Nicolson’s Peacemaking
1919, we joked that our goal was to undo Woodrow Wilson’s legacy. When
we forced the leaders of Bosnia, Croatia, and the Federal Republic of
Yugoslavia to come together in Dayton, Ohio, in November 1995 and
negotiate the end of the war, we were, in effect, burying another part
of Versailles. In the spring of 2002, the last two parts of the Versailles cre-
ation still linked as “Yugoslavia” took another step, moving to the brink of
a full and final divorce by agreeing to rename their country “Serbia and
Montenegro”—probably a way station on the path to full separation.

At Dayton we were working on only one small part of the puzzle; in
Paris they worked on the world. Margaret MacMillan’s brilliant portrait of
the men of Paris, what they tried to do, where they succeeded, and why
they failed, is especially timely now. This story illuminates, as only great
history can, not only the past but also the present. It could help guide us in
the future. I only regret that it was not available a decade ago. But here it
is: an irresistible voyage through history.
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NOTE ON PLACE-NAMES

Many of the places mentioned in this book have several
names. For example, Lviv (in present-day Ukraine) is
variously Léopol, Lemberg, Lwéw or Lvov. I have gener-
ally given the names currently used, but where there is
a familiar name in English, for example Munich, I have
used that. In the case of particular controversies at the
Peace Conference, I have followed the usage of 1919:
Danzig (Gdarisk), Fiume (Rijeka), Memel (Klaipéda),
Shantung (Shandong), Teschen (Cieszyn or Tésin),
Tsingtao (Qingdao).
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Introduction

OR SIX MONTHS IN 1919, Paris was the capital of the world. The

Peace Conference was the world’s most important business, the
peacemakers its most powerful people. They met day after day. They ar-
gued, debated, quarreled and made it up again. They created new coun-
tries and new organizations. They dined together and went to the theater
together, and between January and June, Paris was at once the world’s
government, its court of appeal and its parliament, the focus of its fears
and hopes. Officially, the Peace Conference lasted into 1920, but those first
six months are the ones that count, when the key decisions were taken and
the crucial chains of events set in motion. The world has never seen any-
thing quite like it and never will again.

The peacemakers were there because proud, confident, rich Europe
had torn itself to pieces. A war that had started in 1914 over a squabble for
power and influence in the Balkans had drawn in all the great powers,
from tsarist Russia in the east to Britain in the west, and most of the
smaller ones. Only Spain, Switzerland, the Netherlands and the Scandi-
navian countries had managed to stay out. There had been fighting in
Asia, in Africa, in the Pacific islands and in the Middle East, but most had
been on European soil, along the crazed network of trenches that
stretched from Belgium in the north down to the Alps in the south, along
Russia’s borders with Germany and its ally Austria-Hungary, and in the
Balkans themselves. Soldiers had come from around the world: Aus-
tralians, Canadians, New Zealanders, Indians, Newfoundlanders to fight
for the British empire; Vietnamese, Moroccans, Algerians, Senegalese for
France; and finally the Americans, maddened beyond endurance by Ger-
man attacks on their shipping.

Away from the battlefields, Europe still looked much the same. The
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great cities remained, the railway lines were more or less intact, ports still
functioned. It was not like the Second World War, when the very bricks
and mortar were pulverized. The loss was human. Millions of combat-
ants—for the time of massive killing of civilians had not yet come—died
in those four years: 1,800,000 Germans, 1,700,000 Russians, 1,384,000
French, 1,290,000 from Austria-Hungary, 743,000 British (and another
192,000 from the empire) and so on down the list to tiny Montenegro,
with 3,000 men. Children lost fathers, wives husbands, young women the
chance of marriage. And Europe lost those who might have been its scien-
tists, its poets and its leaders, and the children who might have been born
to them. But the tally of deaths does not include those who were left with
one leg, one arm or one eye, or those whose lungs had been scarred by
poison gas or whose nerves never recovered.

For four years the most advanced nations in the world had poured out
their men, their wealth, the fruits of their industry, science and technol-
ogy, on a war that may have started by accident but was impossible to stop
because the two sides were too evenly balanced. It was only in the summer
of 1918, as Germany’s allies faltered and as the fresh American troops
poured in, that the Allies finally gained the upper hand. When the war
ended on 11 November, everywhere people hoped wearily that whatever
happened next would not be as bad as what had just come to an end.

Four years of war shook forever the supreme self-confidence that had
carried Europe to world dominance. After the Western Front, Europeans
could no longer talk of a civilizing mission to the world. The war toppled
governments, humbled the mighty and upturned whole societies. In Rus-
sia the revolutions of 1917 replaced tsarism, with what no one yet knew. At
the end of the war Austria-Hungary vanished, leaving a great hole at the
center of Europe. The Ottoman émpire, with its vast holdings in the
Middle East and its bit of Europe, was almost done. Imperial Germany
was now a republic. Old nations—Poland, Lithuania, Estonia, Latvia—
came out of history to live again, and new nations—Yugoslavia and
Czechoslovakia—struggled to be born.

The Paris Peace Conference is usually remembered for producing the
German treaty, signed at Versailles in June 1919, but it was always about
much more than that. The other enemies—Bulgaria, Austria and Hun-
gary, now separate countries, and the Ottoman empire—had to have their
treaties. New borders had to be drawn in the center of Europe and across
the Middle East. Most important of all, the international order had to be
re-created on a new and different basis. Was the time now ripe for an In-
ternational Labour Organization, a League of Nations, for agreements on
international telegraph cables or international aviation? After such a great
catastrophe, the expectations were enormous.



INTRODUCTION XxVvii

Even before the guns fell silent in 1918 the voices, plaintive, demand-
ing, angry, had started. “China belongs to the Chinese.” “Kurdistan must
be free.” “Poland must live again.” They spoke in many languages. They
made many demands. The United States must be the world’s policeman,;
or, The Americans must go home. The Russians need help; no, They must
be left to their own devices. They complained: Slovaks about Czechs;
Croats about Serbs; Arabs about Jews; Chinese about Japanese. The voices
were worried, uncertain whether the new world order would be an im-
provement on the old. In the West, they murmured about dangerous ideas
coming from the East; in the East, they pondered the threat of Western
materialism. Europeans wondered if they would ever recover and how
they would manage their brash new American ally. Africans feared that the
world had forgotten them. Asians saw that the future was theirs; it was
only the present that was the problem.

We know something of what it is to live at the end of a great war. The
voices of 1919 were very like the voices of the present. When the Cold War
ended in 1989 and Soviet Marxism vanished into the dustbin of history,
older forces, religion and nationalism, came out of their deep freeze.
Bosnia and Rwanda have reminded us of how strong those forces can be.
In 1919, there was the same sense of a new order emerging as borders sud-
denly shifted and new economic and political ideas were in the air. It was
exciting but also frightening, in a world that seemed perilously fragile.
Today, some argue, resurgent Islam is the menace. In 1919, it was Russian
Bolshevism. The difference is that we have not held a universal peace con-
terence. There is not the time. The statesmen and their advisers meet in
brief meetings, for two, perhaps three days, and then take flight again.
Who knows which is the better way of settling the world’s problems?

To struggle with the great issues of the day and try to resolve them,
statesmen, diplomats, bankers, soldiers, professors, economists and
lawyers came to Paris from all corners of the world: the American presi-
dent, Woodrow Wilson, and his secretary of state, Robert Lansing;
Georges Clemenceau and Vittorio Orlando, the prime ministers of France
and Italy; Lawrence of Arabia, wrapped in mystery and Arab robes;
Eleutherios Venizelos, the great Greek patriot who brought disaster on his
country; Ignace Paderewski, the pianist turned Polish politician; and many
who had yet to make their mark, among them two future American secre-
taries of state, a future prime minister of Japan and the first president of
Israel. Some had been born to power, such as Queen Marie of Rumania;
others, such as David Lloyd George, the prime minister of Britain, had
won it through their own eftorts.

The concentration of power drew in the world’s reporters, its busi-
nessmen, and spokesmen and spokeswomen for a myriad of causes. “One
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only meets people off to Paris,” wrote the French ambassador in London.
“Paris is going to become a place of amusement for hundreds of English,
Americans, Italians and shady foreign gentlemen who are descending on
us under the pretext of taking part in the peace discussions.”! Votes for
women, rights for blacks, a charter for labor, freedom for Ireland, disar-
mament: the petitions and the petitioners rolled in daily from all quarters
of the world. That winter and spring, Paris hummed with schemes, for a
Jewish homeland, a restored Poland, an independent Ukraine, a Kurdi-
stan, an Armenia. The petitions poured in, from the Conference of Suf-
frage Societies, the Carpatho-Russian Committee in Paris, the Serbs of
the Banat, the anti-Bolshevik Russian Political Conference. The petition-
ers came from countries that existed and ones that were just dreams.
Some, such as the Zionists, spoke for millions; others, such as the repre-
sentatives of the Aland islands in the Baltic, for a few thousand. A few ar-
rived too late; the Koreans from Siberia set out on foot in February 1919
and by the time the main part of the Peace Conference ended in June had
reached only the Arctic port of Archangel.?

From the outset the Peace Conference suftered from confusion over
its organization, its purpose and its procedures. The Big Four—Britain,
France, Italy and the United States—had planned a preliminary confer-
ence to hammer out the terms to be offered, after which they intended to
hold a full-scale peace conference to negotiate with the enemy. Immedi-
ately there were questions. When would the other allied powers be able to
express their views? Japan, for example, was already an important power
in the Far East. And what about the smaller powers such as Serbia and Bel-
gium? Both had lost far more men than Japan.

The Big Four gave way, but the plenary sessions of the conference be-
came ritual occasions. The real work was done by the Four and Japan in
informal meetings, and when those in turn became too cumbersome, by
the leaders of the Four alone. As the months went by, what had been a
preliminary conference imperceptibly became the real thing. In a break
with diplomatic precedent that infuriated the Germans, their representa-
tives were eventually summoned to France to receive their treaty in its
final form.

The peacemakers had hoped to be brisker and better organized. They
had carefully studied the only available example—the Congress of Vi-
enna, which wound up the Napoleonic Wars. The Foreign Office com-
missioned a distinguished historian to write a book on the Congress for
guidance in Paris. (He later conceded that his work had almost no im-
pact.’) The problems faced by the peacemakers in Vienna, large though
they were, were straightforward by comparison with those in Paris. The
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British foreign secretary at the time, Lord Castlereagh, took just fourteen
staft with him to Vienna; in 1919 the British delegation numbered nearly
four hundred. In 1815 matters were settled quietly and at leisure: Castle-
reagh and his colleagues would have been appalled at the intense public
scrutiny of 1919. There were also many more participants: more than
thirty countries sent delegates to Paris, including Italy, Belgium, Rumania
and Serbia, none of which had existed in 1815. The Latin American na-
tions had still been part of the Spanish and Portuguese empires. Thailand,
China and Japan had been remote, mysterious lands. Now their diplomats
appeared in Paris in pinstriped trousers and frock coats. Apart from a dec-
laration condemning the slave trade, the Congress of Vienna paid no at-
tention to the non-European world. In Paris, the subjects covered by the
Peace Conference ranged from the Arctic to the Antipodes, from small is-
lands in the Pacific to whole continents.

The Congress of Vienna also took place when the great upheavals set
off by the French Revolution in 1789 had subsided. By 1815 its effects had
been absorbed, but in 1919 the Russian Revolution was only two years old,
its impact on the rest of the world unclear. Western leaders saw Bolshe-
vism seeping out of Russia, threatening religion, tradition, every tie that
held their societies together. In Germany and Austria, soviets of workers
and soldiers were already seizing power in the cities and towns. Their own
soldiers and sailors mutinied. Paris, Lyon, Brussels, Glasgow, San Fran-
cisco, even sleepy Winnipeg on the Canadian prairies had general strikes.
Were these isolated outbreaks or flames from a vast underground fire?

The peacemakers of 1919 believed they were working against time.
They had to draw new lines on the maps of Europe, just as their predeces-
sors had done in Vienna, but they also had to think of Asia, Africa and the
Middle East. “Self-determination” was the watchword, but this was not a
help in choosing among competing nationalisms. The peacemakers had to
act as policemen and they had to feed the hungry. If they could, they had
to create an international order that would make another Great War im-
possible. And, of course, they had to draw up the treaties. Clearly Ger-
many had to be dealt with, penalized for starting the war (or was it just for
losing, as many suspected?), its future set on more pacific lines, its bound-
aries adjusted to compensate France in the West and the new nations
in the East. Bulgaria had to have its treaty. So did the Ottoman empire.
Austria-Hungary presented a particular problem, for it no longer existed.
All that was left was a tiny Austria and a shaky Hungary, with most of their
territory gone to new nations. The expectations of the Peace Conference
were enormous; the risk of disappointment correspondingly great.

The peacemakers also represented their own countries, and since most
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of these were democracies, they had to heed their public opinion. They
were bound to think ahead to the next election and to weigh the costs of
appeasing or alienating important sections of opinion. They were thus not
completely free agents. It was also a time to bring out the old demands and
the new ones. Clemenceau complained to a colleague: “It is much easier
to make war than peace.”

In their months in Paris the peacemakers were to achieve much: a peace
treaty with Germany and the bases for peace with Austria, Hungary and
Bulgaria. They drew new borders through the middle of Europe and the
Middle East. Much of their work, it is true, did not last. People said at the
time, as they have ever since, that the peacemakers took too long and that
they got it wrong. It has become a commonplace to say that the peace set-
tlements of 1919 were a failure, that they led directly to the Second World
War. That is to overestimate their power.

There were two realities in the world of 1919, and they did not always
mesh. One was in Paris and the other was on the ground, where people
were making their own decisions and fighting their own battles. True, the
peacemakers had armies and navies, but where there were few railways,
roads or ports, as in the interior of Asia Minor or the Caucasus, moving
their forces was slow and laborious. The new aircraft were not yet big
enough or strong enough to fill that gap. In the center of Europe, where
the tracks were already laid, the collapse of order meant that even if tracks,
engines and cars were available, the fuel was not. “It really is no use abus-
ing this or that small state,” Henry Wilson, one of the cleverest of the
British generals, told Lloyd George. “The root of evil is that the Paris writ
does not run.” .

Power involves will, as the United States and the world are discovering
today: the will to spend, whether money or lives. In 1919 that will had
been spent in Europe. The leaders of France, Britain and Italy no longer
had the capacity to order their peoples to pay a high price for power. Their
armed forces were shrinking day by day and they could not rely on the sol-
diers and sailors who were left. Their taxpayers wanted an end to expen-
sive foreign adventures. The United States alone had the capacity to act,
but it did not see itself as having that role, and its power was not yet great
enough. It is tempting to say that the United States lost an opportunity to
bend Europe to its will before the competing ideologies of fascism and
communism could take hold. That is to read back into the past what we
know about American power after another great war. In 1945, the United
States was a superpower and the European nations were much weakened.
In 1919, however, the United States was not yet significantly stronger than
the other powers. The Europeans could ignore its wishes, and they did.
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Armies, navies, railways, economies, ideologies, history: all these are
important in understanding the Paris Peace Conference. But so, too, are
individuals because, in the end, people draw up reports, make decisions
and order armies to move. The peacemakers brought their own national
interests with them, but they also brought their likes and dislikes.
Nowhere were these more important than among the powerful men—
especially Clemenceau, Lloyd George and Wilson—who sat down to-
gether in Paris.
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Woodrow Wilson Comes to Europe

N DECEMBER 4, 1918, the George Washington sailed out of New

York with the American delegation to the Peace Conference on
board. Guns fired salutes, crowds along the waterfront cheered, tugboats
hooted and Army planes and dirigibles circled overhead. Robert Lansing,
the American secretary of state, released carrier pigeons with messages to
his relatives about his deep hope for a lasting peace. The ship, a former
German passenger liner, slid out past the Statue of Liberty to the Atlantic,
where an escort of destroyers and battleships stood by to accompany it
and its cargo of heavy expectations to Europe.!

On board were the best available experts, combed out of the universi-
ties and the government; crates of reference materials and special studies;
the French and Ttalian ambassadors to the United States; and Woodrow
Wilson. No other American president had ever gone to Europe while in
oftice. His opponents accused him of breaking the Constitution; even his
supporters felt he might be unwise. Would he lose his great moral author-
ity by getting down to the hurly-burly of negotiations? Wilson’s own view
was clear: the making of the peace was as important as the winning of the
war. He owed it to the peoples of Europe, who were crying out for a bet-
ter world. He owed it to the American servicemen. “It is now my duty,” he
told a pensive Congress just before he left, “to play my full part in making
good what they gave their life’s blood to obtain.” A British diplomat was
more cynical; Wilson, he said, was drawn to Paris “as a debutante is en-
tranced by the prospect of her first ball.”

Wilson expected, he wrote to his great friend Edward House, who was
already in Europe, that he would stay only to arrange the main outlines of
the peace settlements. It was not likely that he would remain for the for-
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mal Peace Conference with the enemy.®> He was wrong. The preliminary
conference turned, without anyone’s intending it, into the final one, and
Wilson stayed for most of the crucial six months between January and
June 1919. The question of whether or not he should have gone to Paris,
which exercised so many of his contemporaries, now seems unimportant.
From Franklin Roosevelt at Yalta to Jimmy Carter or Bill Clinton at Camp
David, American presidents have sat down to draw borders and hammer
out peace agreements. Wilson had set the conditions for the armistices
which ended the Great War. Why should he not make the peace as well?

Although he had not started out in 1912 as a foreign policy president,
circumstances and his own progressive political principles had drawn him
outward. Like many of his compatriots, he had come to see the Great War
as a struggle between the forces of democracy, however imperfectly repre-
sented by Britain and France, and those of reaction and militarism, repre-
sented all too well by Germany and Austria-Hungary. Germany’s sack of
Belgium, its unrestricted submarine warfare and its audacity in attempting
to entice Mexico into waging war on the United States had pushed Wilson
and American public opinion toward the Allies. When Russia had a dem-
ocratic revolution in February 1917, one of the last reservations—that the
Allies included an autocracy—vanished. Although he had campaigned in
1916 on a platform of keeping the country neutral, Wilson brought the
United States into the war in April 1917. He was convinced that he was
doing the right thing. This was important to the son of a Presbyterian min-
ister, who shared his father’s deep religious conviction, if not his calling.

Wilson was born in Virginia in 1856, just before the Civil War. Al-
though he remained a Southerner in some ways all his life—in his in-
sistence on honor and his paternalistic attitudes toward women and
blacks—he also accepted the war’s outcome. Abraham Lincoln was one of
his great heroes, along with Edmund Burke and William Gladstone.* The
young Wilson was at once highly idealistic and intensely ambitious. After
four very happy years at Princeton and an unhappy stint as a lawyer, he
found his first career in teaching and writing. By 1890 he was back at
Princeton, a star member of the faculty. In 1902 he became its president,
supported virtually unanimously by the trustees, faculty and students.

In the next eight years Wilson transformed Princeton from a sleepy
college for gentlemen into a great university. He reworked the curricu-
lum, raised significant amounts of money and brought into the faculty the
brightest and the best young men from across the country. By 1910, he was
a national figure and the Democratic party in New Jersey, under the con-
trol of conservative bosses, invited him to run for governor. Wilson
agreed, but insisted on running on a progressive platform of controlling
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big business and extending democracy. He swept the state and by 1911
“Wilson for President” clubs were springing up. He spoke for the dispos-
sessed, the disenfranchised and all those who had been left behind by the
rapid economic growth of the late nineteenth century. In 1912, at a long
and hard-fought convention, Wilson got the Democratic nomination for
president. That November, with the Republicans split by Teddy Roose-
velt’s decision to run as a progressive against William Howard Taft, Wilson
was elected. In 1916, he was reelected, with an even greater share of the
popular vote.

Wilson’s career was a series of triumphs, but there were darker mo-
ments, both personal and political, fits of depression and sudden and bat-
fling illnesses. Moreover, he had left behind him a trail of enemies, many
of them former friends. “An ingrate and a liar,” said a Democratic boss in
New Jersey in a toast. Wilson never forgave those who disagreed with
him. “He is a good hater,” said his press officer and devoted admirer Ray
Stannard Baker.> He was also stubborn. As House said, with admiration:
“Whenever a question is presented he keeps an absolutely open mind and
welcomes all suggestion or advice which will lead to a correct decision.
But he is receptive only during the period that he is weighing the question
and preparing to make his decision. Once the decision is made it is final
and there is an absolute end to all advice and suggestion. There is no mov-
ing him after that.” What was admirable to some was a dangerous egotism
to others. The French ambassador in Washington saw “a man who, had he
lived a couple of centuries ago, would have been the greatest tyrant in the
world, because he does not seem to have the slightest conception that he
can ever be wrong.”®

This side of Wilson’s character was in evidence when he chose his
tellow commissioners—or plenipotentiaries, as the chief delegates were
known—to the Peace Conference. He was himself one. House, “my alter
ego,” as he was fond of saying, was another. Reluctantly he selected Lan-
sing, his secretary of state, as a third, mainly because it would have been
awkward to leave him behind. Where Wilson had once rather admired
Lansing’s vast store of knowledge, his meticulous legal mind and his ap-
parent readiness to take a back seat, by 1919 that early liking had turned to
irritation and contempt. Lansing, it turned out, did have views, often
strong ones which contradicted the president’s. “He has,” Wilson com-
plained to House, who noted it down with delight, “no imagination, no
constructive ability, and but little real ability of any kind.” The fourth
plenipotentiary, General Tasker Bliss, was already in France as the Ameri-
can military representative on the Supreme War Council. A thoughtful
and intelligent man who loved to lie in bed with a hip flask reading Thu-
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cydides in the original Greek, he was also, many of the junior members of
the American delegation believed, well past his prime. Since Wilson was
to speak to him on only five occasions during the Peace Conference, per-
haps that did not matter.

The president’s final selection, Henry White, was a charming, affable
retired diplomat, the high point of whose career had been well before the
war. Mrs. Wilson was to find him useful in Paris on questions of eti-
quette.’

Wilson’s selection caused an uproar in the United States at the time
and has caused controversy ever since. “A lot of cheapskates,” said William
Taft. “I would swear if it would do any good.” Wilson had deliberately
slighted the Republicans, most of whom had supported the war enthusi-
astically and many of whom now shared his vision of a League of Na-
tions. “I tell you what,” the humorist Will Rogers had him saying to the
Republicans, “we will split s0—50—1I will go and you fellows can stay.”
Even his most partisan supporters had urged him to appoint men such as
Taft or the senior Republican senator on the important Committee on
Foreign Relations, Henry Cabot Lodge. Wilson refused, with a variety of
unconvincing excuses. The real reason was that he did not like or trust
Republicans. His decision was costly, because it undercut his position in
Paris and damaged his dream of a new world order with the United States
atits heart.®

Wilson remains puzzling in a way that Lloyd George and Clemenceau,
his close colleagues in Paris, do not. What is one to make of a leader who
drew on the most noble language of the Bible yet was so ruthless with
those who crossed him? Who loved democracy but despised most of his
fellow politicians? Who wanted to serve humanity but had so few personal
relationships? Was he, as Teddy Roosevelt thought, “as insincere and cold-
blooded an opportunist as we have ever had in the Presidency”? Or was
he, as Baker believed, one of those rare idealists like Calvin or Cromwell,
“who from time to time have appeared upon the earth & for a moment, in
burst of strange power, have temporarily lifted erring mankind to a higher
pitch of contentment than it was quite equal to”?°

Wilson wanted power and he wanted to do great works. What brought
the two sides of his character together was his ability, self-deception per-
haps, to frame his decisions so that they became not merely necessary, but
morally right. Just as American neutrality in the first years of the war had
been right for Americans, and indeed for humanity, so the United States’
eventual entry into the war became a crusade, against human greed and
folly, against Germany and for justice, peace and civilization. This convic-
tion, however, without which he could never have attempted what he did
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in Paris, made Wilson intolerant of differences and blind to the legitimate
concerns of others. Those who opposed him were not just wrong but
wicked.

Like the Germans. The decision to go to war had been agony for Wil-
son. He had worked for a peace of compromise between the Allies and the
Central Powers. Even when they had rejected his offer to mediate, when
German submarines had sunk American ships, when opponents such as
Roosevelt had attacked his cowardice and when his own cabinet had been
unanimous for war, he had waited. In the end he decided to intervene be-
cause, as he saw it, Germany left him no alternative. “It is a feartul thing,”
he told Congress in April 1917, when he went before it to ask for a decla-
ration of war, “to lead this great peaceful people into war, into the most
terrible and disastrous of all wars, civilization itself seeming to be in the
balance.”" In Wilson’s view Germany, or at the very least its leaders, bore
a heavy burden of guilt. The Germans might be redeemed, but they also
must be chastised.

The photographs taken in 1919 make him look like an undertaker, but
in the flesh Wilson was a handsome man, with fine, straight features and a
spare, upright frame. In his manner he had something of the preacher and
of the university professor. He placed great faith in reason and facts, but
he saw it as auspicious that he landed in Europe on Friday, December 13.
Thirteen was his lucky number. A deeply emotional man, he mistrusted
emotion in others. It was good when it brought people to desire the best,
dangerous when, like nationalism, it intoxicated them. Lloyd George,
who never entirely got his measure, listed his good qualities to a friend—
“kindly, sincere, straightforward”—and then added in the next breath
“tactless, obstinate and vain.”!!

In public, Wilson was stiff and formal, but with his intimates he was
charming and even playful. He was particularly at ease with women. He
was usually in perfect control of himself, but during the Peace Conference
he frequently lost his temper. (It is possible he suffered a stroke while he
was in Paris.) He loved puns and limericks and he liked to illustrate his
points with folksy stories. He enjoyed doing accents: Scottish or Irish, like
his ancestors, or Southern black, like the people who worked for him in
Washington. He was abstemious in his habits; at most he would drink a
small glass of whisky in an evening. He loved gadgets and liked the new
moving pictures. On the voyage to Europe he generally went to the after-
dinner picture shows. To general consternation the feature one evening
was a melodrama called The Second Wife.'?

Wilson’s relations with women had always caused a certain amount of’
gossip. During his first marriage he had close, possibly even romantic,
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triendships with several women. His first wife, whom he had loved deeply
if not passionately, had died in 1914; by the end of 1915, he was married
again, to a wealthy Washington widow some seventeen years his junior.
That this caused gossip bewildered and infuriated him. He never forgave a
British diplomat for a joke that went around Washington: “What did the
new Mrs. Wilson do when the President proposed? She fell out of bed
with surprise.” Wilson’s own family and friends were more charitable.
“Isn’t it wonderful to see Father so happy,” exclaimed a daughter. House,
who was later to become Mrs. Wilson’s bitter enemy, wrote in his diary
that it was a relief that Wilson had someone to share his burdens: “his
loneliness is pathetic.”®

Edith Bolling, the new Mrs. Wilson, accompanied the president to Eu-
rope, a privilege not allowed lesser wives. She was warm and lively and
laughed a great deal. She loved golf, shopping, orchids and parties. She
had, everyone agreed, wonderful eyes, but some found her a bit plump
and her mouth too large. She wore, they thought in Paris, her clothes a
little too tight, the necks too low, the skirts too short. Wilson thought she
was beautiful. Like him, she came from the South. She did not want to
spoil her maid by taking her to London, she told a fellow American, be-
cause the British treated blacks too well. Although she had the easy flirta-
tious ways of a Southern woman, she was a shrewd businesswoman. After
her first husband’s death she had run the family jewelry store. When she
married Wilson, he made it clear that he expected her to share his work.
She took up the offer with enthusiasm. No intellectual, she was quick and
determined. She was also ferociously loyal to her new husband. Wilson
adored her."

On board the George Washington, the Wilsons kept to themselves, eating
most of their meals in their stateroom and strolling on the deck arm in
arm. The American experts worked away on their maps and their papers,
asking each other, with some disquiet, what their country’s policies were
to be. Wilson had said much about general principles but had mentioned
few specifics. A young man called William Bullitt boldly went up to the
president and told him that they were all confused by his silence. Wilson
was surprised but agreed pleasantly to meet with a dozen of the leading
experts. “It is absolutely the first time,” said one afterward, “the president
has let anyone know what his ideas are and what his policy is.” There were
to be few other such occasions. The experts left the meeting heartened
and impressed. Wilson was informal and friendly. He spoke about the
heavy task ahead and how he was going to rely on them to provide him
with the best information. They must feel free to come to him at any time.
“You tell me what’s right and I'll fight for it.” He apologized for talking
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about his own ideas: “they weren’t very good but he thought them better
than anything else he had heard.”’?

When it came to making peace, Wilson said, their country would
rightly hold the position of arbiter. They must live up to the great Ameri-
can traditions of justice and generosity. They would be, after all, “the only
disinterested people at the Peace Conference.” What was more, he
warned, “the men whom we were about to deal with did not represent
their own people.” This was one of Wilson’s deep convictions, curious in
a man whose own Congress was now dominated by his political oppo-
nents. Throughout the Peace Conference he clung to the belief that he
spoke for the masses and that, if only he could reach them—whether
French, Italian or even Russian—they would rally to his views. ¢

He touched on another favorite theme: the United States, he assured
his audience, had not entered the war for selfish reasons. In this, as in so
much else, it was unlike other nations, for it did not want territory, tribute
or even revenge. (As a sign that American participation in the war was dif-
ferent from that of the Europeans, Wilson had always insisted on the
United States being an Associate and not an Ally.) The United States gen-
erally acted unselfishly, in its occupation of Cuba, for example. “We had
gone to war with Spain,” he insisted, “not for annexation but to provide
the helpless colony with the opportunity of freedom.”"”

Wilson tended to draw on Latin American examples, since most of his
formative experiences in foreign relations had been there. He had recast,
at least to his own satisfaction, the Monroe Doctrine, that famous defiance
hurled at the Europeans in 1823 to warn them off attempting to colonize
the New World again. The doctrine had become a fundamental precept in
American foreign policy, a cloak, many said, for U.S. dominance of its
neighbors. Wilson saw it rather as the framework within which all the na-
tions of the Americas worked peacefully together, and a model for the
warring European nations. Lansing was dubious, as he often was of Wil-
son’s ideas: “the doctrine is exclusively a national policy of the United
States and relates to its national safety and vital interests.”'®

Wilson paid little attention to what he regarded as niggling objections
from Lansing. He was clear in his own mind that he meant well. When the
American troops went to Haiti or Nicaragua or the Dominican Republic,
it was to further order and democracy. “I am going to teach,” he had said in
his first term as president, “the South American Republics to elect good
men!” He rarely mentioned that he was also protecting the Panama Canal
and American investments. During Wilson’s presidency, the United States
intervened repeatedly in Mexico to try to get the sort of government it
wanted. “The purpose of the United States,” Wilson said, “is solely and
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singly to secure peace and order in Central America by seeing to it that the
processes of self-government there are not interrupted or set aside.” He
was taken aback when the Mexicans failed to see the landing of American
troops, and American threats, in the same light."

The Mexican adventure also showed Wilson’s propensity, perhaps un-
conscious, to ignore the truth. When he sent troops to Mexico for the first
time, he told Congress that it was in response to repeated provocations
and insults to the United States and its citizens from General Victoriano
Huerta, the man who started the Mexican Revolution. Huerta in fact had
taken great care to avoid provocations. At the Paris Peace Conference Wil-
son was to claim that he had never seen the secret wartime agreements
among the Allies, promising Italy, for example, enemy territory. The Brit-
ish foreign secretary, Arthur Balfour, had shown them to him in 1917.
Lansing said sourly of his president: “Even established facts were ignored
if they did not fit in with this intuitive sense, this semi-divine power to se-
lect the right.”®

As the Mexican imbroglio demonstrated, Wilson was not afraid to use
his country’s considerable power, whether financial or military. And by
the end of the Great War the United States was much more powerful than
it had been in 1914. Then it had possessed a minuscule army and a middle-
sized navy; now it had over a million troops in Europe alone, and a navy
that rivaled Britain’s. Indeed, Americans tended to assume that they had
won the war for their European allies. The American economy had surged
ahead as American farmers and American factories poured out wheat,
pork, iron and steel for the Allied war effort. As the American share of
world production and trade rose inexorably, that of the European powers
stagnated or declined. Most significant of all for their future relations, the
United States had become the banker to the Europeans. Together the Eu-
ropean allies owed over $7 billion to the American government, and about
half as much again to American banks. Wilson assumed, overconfidently
as it turned out, that the United States would get its way simply by apply-
ing financial pressure. As his legal adviser David Hunter Miller said, “Eu-
rope is bankrupt financially and its governments are bankrupt morally.
The mere hint of withdrawal by America by reason of opposition to her
wishes for justice, for fairness, and for peace would see the fall of every
government in Europe without exception, and a revolution in every coun-
try in Europe with one possible exception.”!

In that meeting on the George Washington, Wilson also talked briefly
about the difficulties that lay ahead with the nations emerging from the
wreckage of central Europe: Poland, Czechoslovakia, Yugoslavia and
many more. They could have whatever form of government they wanted,
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but they must include in their new states only those who wanted to be
there. “Criterion not who are intellectual or social or economic leaders
but who form mass of people,” a member of his audience wrote down.
“Must have liberty—that is the kind of government they want.”*

Of all the ideas Wilson brought to Europe, this concept of self-
determination was, and has remained, one of the most controversial and
opaque. During the Peace Conference, the head of the American mission
in Vienna sent repeated requests to Paris and Washington for an explana-
tion of the term. No answer ever came. It has never been easy to deter-
mine what Wilson meant. “Autonomous development,” “the right of
those who submit to authority to have a voice in their own governments,”
“the rights and liberties of small nations,” a world made safe “for every
peace-loving nation which, like our own, wishes to live its own life, deter-
mine its own institutions”: the phrases had poured out from the White
House, an inspiration to peoples around the world. But what did they add
up to? Did Wilson merely mean, as sometimes appeared, an extension of
democratic self-government? Did he really intend that any people who
called themselves a nation should have their own state? In a statement
he drafted, but never used, to persuade the American people to support
the peace settlements, he stated, “We say now that all these people have the
right to live their own lives under governments which they themselves
choose to set up. That is the American principle.” Yet he had no sympathy
for Irish nationalists and their struggle to free themselves from British
rule. During the Peace Conference he insisted that the Irish question was
a domestic matter for the British. When a delegation of nationalist Irish
asked him for support, he felt, he told his legal adviser, like telling them to
go to hell. His view was that the Irish lived in a democratic country and
they could sort it out through democratic means.?

The more Wilson’s concept of self-determination is examined, the
more difficulties appear. Lansing asked himself: “When the President talks
of ‘self-determination’ what unit has he in mind? Does he mean a race, a
territorial area, or a community?” It was a calamity, Lansing thought, that
Wilson had ever hit on the phrase. “It will raise hopes which can never be
realized. It will, I fear, cost thousands of lives. In the end it is bound to be
discredited, to be called the dream of an idealist who failed to realize the
danger until it was too late to check those who attempt to put the principle
into force.” What, as Lansing asked, made a nation? Was it a shared citi-
zenship, as in the United States, or a shared ethnicity, as in Ireland? If a
nation was not self-governing, ought it to be? And in that case, how much
self-government was enough? Could a nation, however defined, exist
happily within a larger multinational state? Sometimes Wilson seemed to
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think so. He came, after all, from a country that sheltered many different
nationalities and which had fought a bitter war, which he remembered
well, to stay in one piece.

Initially, he did not want to break up the big multinational empires
such as Austria-Hungary and Russia. In February 1918, he had told Con-
gress that “well-defined” national aspirations should be satisfied without,
however, “introducing new or perpetuating old elements of discord and
antagonism that would be likely in time to break the peace of Europe, and
consequently of the world.”**

That led to another series of questions. What was a “well-defined” na-
tionalism? Polish? That was an obvious one. But what about Ukrainian?
Or Slovak? And what about subdivisions? Ukrainian Catholics, for exam-
ple, or Protestant Poles? The possibilities for dividing up peoples were un-
ending, especially in central Europe, where history had left a rich mix of
religions, languages and cultures. About half the people living there could
be counted as members of one national minority or another. How were
peoples to be allocated to one country or another when the dividing lines
between one nation and another were so unclear?

One solution was to leave it to the experts. Let them study the history,
collect the statistics and consult the locals. Another, more apparently dem-
ocratic solution, which had been floating around in international relations
since the French Revolution, was to give the locals a choice through a
plebiscite, with a secret vote, administered by some international body.
Wilson himself does not seem to have assumed that self-determination
implied plebiscites, but by 1918 many people did. Who was to vote? Only
men, or women as well? Only residents, or anyone who had been born in
the disputed locality? (The French firmly rejected the idea of a plebiscite
on their lost provinces of Alsace and Lorraine on the grounds that the vote
would be unfair because Germany had forced French speakers out and
brought in Germans.) And what if the locals did not know which nation
they belonged to? In 1920, when an outside investigator asked a peasant in
Belarus, on the frontier where Russians, Poles, Lithuanians, Byelorussians
and Ukrainians all mingled, who he was, the only answer that came back
was “I am a Catholic of these parts.” What do you do, asked American ex-
perts in Carinthia in the Austrian Alps, when you have people “who do
not want to join the nation of their blood-brothers, or else are absolutely
indifferent to all national questions”?%

At the end of 1919, a chastened Wilson told Congress, “When I gave
utterance to those words [that ‘all nations had a right to self-
determination’], I said them without the knowledge that nationalities ex-
isted, which are coming to us day after day.” He was not responsible for
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the spread of national movements looking for their own states—that had
been going on since the end of the eighteenth century—but, as Sidney
Sonnino, the Italian foreign minister, put it, “the War undoubtedly had
had the effect of over-exciting the feeling of nationality. . . . Perhaps
America fostered it by putting the principles so clearly.”?

Wilson spent most of his time in the meeting with his experts on the
matter closest to his heart: the need to find a new way of managing inter-
national relations. This did not come as a surprise to his audience. In his
famous Fourteen Points of January 1918, and in subsequent speeches, he
had sketched out his ideas. The balance of power, he told the U.S. Con-
gress in his “Four Principles” speech of February 1918, was forever dis-
credited as a way to keep peace. There would be no more secret diplomacy
of the sort that had led Europe into calculating deals, rash promises and
entangling alliances, and so on down the slope to war. The peace settle-
ments must not leave the way open to future wars. There must be no ret-
ribution, no unjust claims and no huge fines—indemnities—paid by the
losers to the winners. That was what had been wrong after Prussia defeated
France in 1870. The French had never forgiven Germany for the monies
paid over and for the loss of their provinces of Alsace and Lorraine. War it-
self must become more difficult. There must be controls on armaments—
general disarmament, even. Ships must sail freely across the world’s seas.
(That meant, as the British well knew, the end of their traditional weapon
of strangling enemy economies by blockading their ports and seizing their
shipping; it had brought Napoleon down, and, so they thought, hastened
the Allied victory over Germany.) Trade barriers must be lowered so the
nations of the world would become more interdependent.

At the heart of Wilson’s vision was a League of Nations to provide the
collective security that, in a well-run civil society, was provided by the
government, its laws, its courts and its police. “Old system of powers, bal-
ance of powers, had failed too often,” one expert jotted down, as the pres-
ident spoke. The League was to have a council that could “butt in” in case
of disputes. “If unsuccessful the offending nation to be outlawed—And
outlaws are not popular now.” ”?’

Wilson’s was a liberal and a Christian vision. It challenged the view
that the best way to preserve the peace was to balance nations against each
other, through alliances if necessary, and that strength, not collective secu-
rity, was the way to deter attack. Wilson was also offering a riposte to the
alternative being put out by the Russian Bolsheviks, that revolution would
bring one world, where conflict would no longer exist. He believed in
separate nations and in democracy, both as the best form of government
and as a force for good in the world. When governments were chosen by
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their people, they would not, indeed they could not, fight each other.
“These are American principles,” he told the Senate in 1917. “We could
stand for no others. And they are also the principles and policies of for-
ward looking men and women everywhere, of every modern nation, of
every enlightened community. They are the principles of mankind and
they must prevail.” He was speaking, he thought, for humanity. Ameri-
cans tended to see their values as universal ones, and their government
and society as a model for all others. The United States, after all, had been
founded by those who wanted to leave an old world behind, and its revo-
lution was, in part, about creating a new one. American democracy, the
American constitution, even American ways of doing business, were ex-
amples that others should follow for their own good. As one of the
younger Americans said in Paris: “Before we get through with these fel-
lows over here we will teach them how to do things and how to do them
quickly.”*®

The Americans had a complicated attitude toward the Europeans: a
mixture of admiration for their past accomplishments, a conviction that
the Allies would have been lost without the United States and a suspicion
that, if the Americans were not careful, the wily Europeans would pull
them into their toils again. As they prepared for the Peace Conference, the
American delegates suspected that the French and the British were already
preparing their traps. Perhaps the offer of an African colony, or a protec-
torate over Armenia or Palestine, would tempt the United States—and
then suddenly it would be too late. The Americans would find themselves
touching pitch while the Europeans looked on with delight.*

American exceptionalism has always had two sides: the one eager to set
the world to rights, the other ready to turn its back with contempt if its
message should be ignored. The peace settlement, Wilson told his fellow
passengers, must be based on the new principles: “If it doesn’t work right,
the world will raise hell.” He himself, he added half-jokingly, would go
somewhere to “hide my head, perhaps to Guam.” Faith in their own ex-
ceptionalism has sometimes led to a certain obtuseness on the part of
Americans, a tendency to preach at other nations rather than listen to
them, a tendency as well to assume that American motives are pure where
those of others are not. And Wilson was very American. He came to the
Peace Conference, said Lloyd George, like a missionary to rescue the hea-
then Europeans, with his “little sermonettes” full of rather obvious re-
marks.”

It was easy to mock Wilson, and many did. It is also easy to forget how
important his principles were in 1919 and how many people, and not just
in the United States, wanted to believe in his great dream of a better
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world. They had, after all, a terrible reference point in the ruin left by the
Great War. Wilson kept alive the hope that human society, despite the evi-
dence, was getting better, that nations would one day live in harmony. In
1919, before disillusionment had set in, the world was more than ready to
listen to him.

What Wilson had to say struck a chord, not just with liberals or pacifists
but also among Europe’s political and diplomatic élites. Sir Maurice Han-
key, secretary to the British War Cabinet and then the Peace Conference
itself, always carried a copy of the Fourteen Points in the box he kept for
crucial reference material. They were, he said, the “moral background.”
Across Europe there were squares, streets, railway stations and parks bear-
ing Wilson’s name. Wall posters cried, “We Want a Wilson Peace.” In Italy,
soldiers knelt in front of his picture; in France, the left-wing paper LHu-
manité brought out a special issue in which the leading lights of the French
left vied with each other to praise Wilson’s name. The leaders of the Arab
revolt in the desert, Polish nationalists in Warsaw, rebels in the Greek is-
lands, students in Peking, Koreans trying to shake off Japan’s control, all
took the Fourteen Points as their inspiration. Wilson himself found it ex-
hilarating but also terrifying. “I am wondering,” he said to George Creel,
his brilliant propaganda chief, who was on board the George Washington,
“whether you have not unconsciously spun a net for me from which there
is no escape.” The whole world was turning to the United States but, he
went on, they both knew that such great problems could not be fixed at
once. “What I seem to see—with all my heart I hope that I am wrong—is
a tragedy of disappointment.”™'

The George Washington reached the French port of Brest on December 13,
1918. The war had been over for just a month. While the president stood
on the bridge, his ship steamed slowly in through a great avenue of battle-
ships from the British, French and American navies. For the first time
in days, the sun was shining. The streets were lined with laurel wreaths
and flags. On the walls, posters paid tribute to Wilson, those from right-
wingers for saving them from Germany and those from the left for the
new world he promised. Huge numbers of people, many resplendent in
their traditional Breton costumes, covered every inch of pavement, every
roof, every tree. Even the lampposts were taken. The air filled with the
skirl of Breton bagpipes and repeated shouts of “Vive ’Amérique! Vive
Wilson!” The French foreign minister, Stéphen Pichon, welcomed him,
saying, “We are so thankful that you have come over to give us the right
kind of peace.” Wilson made a noncommittal reply and the American
party boarded the night train for Paris. At three in the morning, Wilson’s
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doctor happened to look out the window of his compartment. “I saw not
only men and women but little children standing with uncovered head to
cheer the passage of the special train.”*

Wilson’s reception in Paris was an even greater triumph, with even
greater crowds: “the most remarkable demonstration,” said an American
who lived in Paris, “of enthusiasm and affection on the part of the
Parisians that I have ever heard of, let alone seen.” His train pulled into the
Luxembourg station, which had been festooned with bunting and flags
and filled with great masses of flowers. Clemenceau, the French prime
minister, was there with his government and his longtime antagonist, the
president Raymond Poincaré. As guns boomed across Paris to announce
Wilson’s arrival, the crowds started to press against the soldiers who lined
the route. The president and his wife drove in an open carriage through
the Place de la Concorde and on up the Champs-Elysées to their resi-
dence, to the sound of wild cheers. That night, at a quiet family dinner,
Wilson said he was very pleased with his reception. “He had carefully
watched the attitude of the crowd,” he reportedly told the table, “and he
was satisfied that they were most friendly.”*



2

First Impressions

HE AFTERNOON of his arrival in Paris, Wilson had a reunion with

his most trusted adviser. Colonel Edward House did not look like
the rich Texan he was. Small, pale, self-effacing and frail, he often sat with
a blanket over his knees because he could not bear the cold. Just as the
Peace Conference was starting, he came down with flu and nearly died.
House spoke in a soft, gentle voice, working his small delicate hands, said
an observer, as though he were holding some object in them. He invari-
ably sounded calm, reasonable and cheerful.! People often thought of one
of the great French cardinals of the past, of Mazarin perhaps.

He was not really a colonel; that was only an honorary title. He had
never fought in a war but he knew much about conflict: the Texas of his
childhood was a world where men brought out their guns at the first hint
of an insult. House was riding and shooting by the time he was three. One
brother had half his face shot off in a childish gunfight; another died
falling off a trapeze. Then House too had an accident when he fell from a
rope and hit his head. He never fully recovered. Since he could no longer
dominate others physically, he learned to do so psychologically. “I used to
like to set boys at each other,” he told a biographer, “to see what they
would do, and then try to bring them around again.”

He became a master at understanding men. Almost everyone who met
him found him immediately sympathetic and friendly. “An intimate man,”
said the son of one of his enemies, “even when he was cutting your
throat.” House loved power and politics, especially when he could operate
behind the scenes. In Paris, Baker called him, only half in admiration, “the
small knot hole through which must pass many great events.” He rarely
gave interviews and almost never took official appointments. This, of
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course, made him the object of intense speculation. He merely wanted, he
often said, to be useful. In his diary, though, House himself carefully
noted the powerful and importunate who lined up to see him. He also
faithfully recorded every compliment, no matter how fulsome.?

He was a Democrat, like most Southerners of his race, but on the lib-
eral, progressive side of the party. When Wilson moved into politics,
House, already a figure in Texas politics, recognized someone he could
work with. The two men met for the first time in 1911, as Wilson was
preparing to run for president. “Almost from the first our association was
intimate,” House remembered years later, when the friendship had bro-
ken down irrevocably, “almost from the first, our minds vibrated in uni-
son.” He gave Wilson the unstinting affection and loyalty he required, and
Wilson gave him power. When his first wife died, Wilson became even
more dependent on House. “You are the only person in the world with
whom I can discuss everything,” he wrote in 1915. “There are some I can
tell one thing and others another, but you are the only one to whom I can
make an entire clearance of mind.” When the second Mrs. Wilson ap-
peared on the scene, she watched House carefully, her eyes sharpened
with jealousy.*

When the war broke out, Wilson sent House off to the capitals of Eu-
rope in fruitless attempts to stop the fighting; as the war came to an end,
he hastily dispatched him to Paris to negotiate the armistice terms. “I have
not given you any instructions,” Wilson told him, “because I feel that you
will know what to do.” House agreed with all his heart that Wilson’s new
diplomacy was the best hope for the world. He thought the League of Na-
tions a wonderful idea. He also thought he could do better than Wilson in
achieving their common goals. Where the president was too idealistic, too
dogmatic, he, House, was a fixer, with a nod here, a shrug there, a slight
change of emphasis, a promise first to this one and then that, smoothing
over differences and making things work. He had not really wanted Wil-
son to come to the Peace Conference. In his diary, during the next
months, the loyal lieutenant was to list Wilson’s mistakes methodically:
his outbursts of temper, his inconsistencies, his clumsiness in negotia-
tions and his “one-track” mind.?

Clemenceau liked House enormously, partly because he was amused
by him, but also because he seemed to understand France’s concerns so
well. “I can get on with you,” Clemenceau told him, “you are practical. I
understand you but talking to Wilson is something like talking to Jesus
Christ!” Lloyd George was cooler: House “saw more clearly than most
men—or even women—to the bottom of the shallow waters which are to
be found here and there in the greatest of oceans and of men.” A charm-
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ing man, in Lloyd George’s opinion, but rather limited—“essentially a
salesman and not a producer.” House would have been a good ambassa-
dor, but never a foreign minister. “It is perhaps to his credit,” Lloyd
George concluded kindly, “that he was not nearly as cunning as he
thought he was.” House could not bear Lloyd George, “a mischief maker
who changes his mind like a weather-cock. He has no profound knowl-
edge of any of the questions with which he is dealing.” But Lloyd George
knew how to keep his eye on the ends. House, who thought every dis-
agreement could be worked out, did not. “He is a marvellous conciliator,”
was Baker’s opinion, “but with the faults of his virtue for he conciliates
over . .. minor disagreements into the solid flesh of principle.” House had
already done this during the armistice discussions.®

The Great War had begun with a series of mistakes and it ended in
confusion. The Allies (and let us include their Associate the United States
in the term) were not expecting victory when it came. Austria-Hungary
was visibly collapsing in the summer of 1918, but Germany still looked
strong. Allied leaders planned for at least another year of war. By the end
of October, however, Germany’s allies were falling away and suing for
armistices, the German army was streaming back toward its own borders
and Germany itself was shaking with revolutionary outbursts. The armi-
stice with Germany, the most important and ultimately the most contro-
versial of all, was made in a three-cornered negotiation between the new
German government in Berlin, the Allied Supreme War Council in Paris
and Wilson in Washington. House, as Wilson’s personal representative,
was the key link among them. The Germans, calculating that their best
chance for moderate peace terms was to throw themselves on Wilson’s
mercy, asked for an armistice based on the Fourteen Points. Wilson, who
was eager to push his somewhat reluctant European allies to accept his
principles, agreed in a series of public notes.

The Europeans found this irritating. Furthermore, they had never been
prepared to accept the Fourteen Points without modification. The French
wanted to make sure that they received compensation for the enormous
damage done to their country by the German invasion. The British could
not agree to the point about freedom of the seas, for that would prevent
them from using the naval blockade as a weapon against their enemies. In
a final series of discussions in Paris, House agreed to the Allied reserva-
tions, and so the Fourteen Points were modified to allow for what later
came to be called reparations from Germany and for discussions on free-
dom of the seas at the Peace Conference itself. In addition, the military
terms of the armistice, which called for not just the evacuation of French
and Belgian territory but also the withdrawal of German troops from the
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western edge of Germany itself, went a long way toward disarming Ger-
many, something the French devoutly wished.”

The way the armistice was made left much room for later recrimina-
tion. The Germans were able to say that they had only accepted it on the
basis of the original Fourteen Points and that the subsequent peace terms
were therefore largely illegitimate. And Wilson and his supporters were
able to blame the wily Europeans for diluting the pure intentions of the
new diplomacy.

When House and Wilson had their first conversation in Paris on the after-
noon of December 14, 1918, they were already suspicious of European in-
tentions. Although the Peace Conference was not to start officially for
another few weeks, the maneuvering had begun. Clemenceau had already
suggested to the British that they come up with a general agreement on
the peace terms, and the Europeans, including the Italians, had met in
London at the beginning of the month. Wisely, Clemenceau took out in-
surance. He visited House on his sickbed to assure him that the London
meetings had no importance whatsoever. He himself was only going over
because it might help Lloyd George in his forthcoming general election.
As it turned out, between disagreements over Italy’s territorial demands in
the Adriatic and squabbling between Britain and France over the disposi-
tion of the Ottoman empire, the meetings failed to produce a common
European approach. All three European powers also hesitated, not wish-
ing to give Wilson the impression that they were trying to settle things be-
fore he arrived.?

House, who shared Wilson’s view that the United States was going to
be the arbiter of the peace, believed, without much evidence, that Cle-
menceau was likely to be more reasonable than Lloyd George. Conve-
niently, Wilson met Clemenceau first. The wily old statesman listened
quietly as Wilson did most of the talking, intervening only to express ap-
proval of the League of Nations. Wilson was favorably impressed, and
House, who hoped that France and the United States would make a com-
mon front against Britain, was delighted. The Wilsons spent Christmas
Day with General John Pershing at American headquarters outside Paris
and then left for London.’

In Britain, Wilson was again greeted by large and adoring crowds, but
his private talks with British leaders did not initially go well. The presi-
dent was inclined to be stiff, offended that Lloyd George and senior Brit-
ish ministers had not rushed over to France to welcome him and annoyed
that the British general election meant the start of the Peace Conference
would have to be delayed. Wilson was, like many Americans, torn in his
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attitude to Great Britain, at once conscious of the United States’ debt to
its great liberal traditions but also wary and envious of its power. “If En-
gland insisted on maintaining naval dominance after the war,” Wilson told
André Tardieu, Clemenceau’s close colleague, “the United States could
and would show her how to build a navy!” At a gala reception at Bucking-
ham Palace, Wilson spoke bluntly to a British official (who at once passed
on the remarks to his superiors): “You must not speak of us who come
over here as cousins, still less as brothers; we are neither.” It was mislead-
ing, he went on, to talk of an Anglo-Saxon world, when so many Ameri-
cans were from other cultures; foolish, also, to make too much of the fact
that both nations spoke English. “No, there are only two things which can
establish and maintain closer relations between your country and mine:
they are community of ideals and of interests.” The British were further
taken aback when Wilson failed to reply to a toast from the king to Amer-
ican forces with a similar compliment to the British. “There was no glow
of friendship,” Lloyd George commented, “or of gladness at meeting men
who had been partners in a common enterprise and had so narrowly es-
caped a common danger.”!?

Lloyd George, who recognized the supreme importance of a good re-
lationship with the United States, set out to charm Wilson. Their first pri-
vate conversation began the thaw. Lloyd George reported with relief to his
colleagues that Wilson seemed open to compromise on the issues the Brit-
ish considered important, such as freedom of the seas and the fate of Ger-
many’s colonies. Wilson had given the impression that his main concern
was the League of Nations, which he wanted to discuss as soon as the
Peace Conference opened. Lloyd George had agreed. It would, he said,
make dealing with the other matters much easier. The two leaders had
also talked about how they should proceed at the Peace Conference. Pre-
sumably, they would follow the customary practice and sit down with
Germany and the other defeated nations to draw up treaties.!

Past practice offered little guidance, though, for the new order that
Wilson wanted. The rights of conquest and victory were woven deeply
into European history, and previous wars—the Napoleonic, for example—
had ended with the victors helping themselves to what they wanted,
whether land or art treasures. Moreover, the defeated had been expected
to pay an indemnity for the costs of the war and sometimes reparations for
damages as well. But had they not all turned their backs on that in the re-
cent war? Both sides had talked of a just peace without annexations. Both
had appealed to the rights of peoples to choose their own rulers, the Allies
more loudly and persuasively than the Central Powers. And even before
the United States had come into the war, terms such as “democracy” and
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“justice” had peppered Allied war aims. Wilson had taken hold of the Al-
lied agenda and made it into a firm set of promises for a better world.
True, he had allowed for some recompense for the victors: France to get its
lost provinces of Alsace and Lorraine, or Germany to make good the dam-
age it had caused Belgium. The French wanted more, though: land from
Germany possibly, guarantees of security against attack certainly. The
British wanted certain German colonies. The Italians demanded part of
the Balkans, and the Japanese part of China. Could that be justified in
terms of the new diplomacy? Then there were all the nations, some al-
ready formed but some still embryonic, in the center of Europe, who
demanded to be heard. And the colonial peoples, the campaigners for
women’s rights, the labor representatives, the American blacks, the reli-
gious leaders, the humanitarians. The Congress of Vienna had been sim-
ple by comparison.

In their first discussions with Wilson, both Clemenceau and Lloyd
George pointed out the need for the Allies to sort out their own position
on the peace, in a preliminary conference. Wilson was unhelpful. If they
settled all the peace terms in advance, then the general peace conference
would be a sham. On the other hand, he was prepared to have informal
conversations to work out a common Allied position. “It really came to
the same thing,” Lloyd George reported to his colleagues, “but the Presi-
dent insisted definitely on his point of view.” It was agreed that they
would meet in Paris, have their preliminary discussions—a few weeks at
the most—and then sit down with the enemy. Wilson, or so he thought,
would probably go back to the United States at that point.'? /

After these first encounters with the men who were going to become his
closest colleagues in Paris, Wilson continued on to Italy, to more ecstatic
welcomes. But the cheers, the state receptions, the private audiences,
could not conceal that time was passing. He began to wonder whether this
was not deliberate. The people, he thought, wanted peace; their rulers
seemed to be dragging their feet, for who knew what sinister motives. The
French government tried to arrange a tour of the battlefields for him. He
refused angrily. “They were trying to force him to go to see the devastated
regions,” he told his small circle of intimates, “so that he might see red
and play into the hands of the governments of England, France and Italy.”
He would not be manipulated like this; the peace must be made calmly
and without emotion. “Even if France had been entirely made a shell hole
it would not change the final settlement.””> The French resented his re-
fusal bitterly and were not appeased when he finally paid a fleeting visit in
March.
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Wilson was coming to the conclusion that he and the French were not
as close in their views as House had encouraged him to believe. The
French government had drawn up an elaborate agenda which placed the
League of Nations well down the list of important issues to be decided.
Paul Cambon, the immensely experienced French ambassador in London,
told a British diplomat, “The business of the Peace Conference was to
bring to a close the war with Germany.” The League was something that
could easily be postponed. Many in the French official establishment
thought of a league that would be a continuation of the wartime alliance
and whose main role would be to enforce the peace terms. No matter, said
an internal memorandum, that much of the French public thought in
more idealistic terms: “that can help us.” Clemenceau was publicly skepti-
cal. The day after Wilson had made a speech in London reiterating his
faith that a League of Nations was the best way to provide security for its
members, Clemenceau had spoken in the Chamber of Deputies. To loud
cheers he asserted: “There is an old system of alliances called the Balance
of Power—this system of alliances, which I do not renounce, will be my
guiding thought at the Peace Conference.” Wickedly, he had referred to
Wilson’s noble candeut, a word that can mean either candor or pathetic
naiveté. (The official record transformed it into grandeur.) The American
delegation saw Clemenceau’s speech as a challenge.'

In that speech and the American reaction to it were sown the seeds of
what grew into a lurid and enduring tableau, especially in the United
States. On the one hand, the Galahad, pure in thought and deed, lighting
the way to a golden future; on the other, the misshapen French troll, his
heart black with rage and spite, thinking only of revenge. On the one side,
peace; on the other, war. It makes a good story, and it is not fair to either
man. Both were liberals with a conservative skepticism of rapid change.
What divided them was temperament and their own experience. Wilson
believed that human nature was fundamentally good. Clemenceau had his
doubts. He, and Europe, had been through too much. “Please do not mis-
understand me,” he once said to Wilson, “we too came into the world with
the noble instincts and the lofty aspirations which you express so often and
so eloquently. We have become what we are because we have been shaped
by the rough hand of the world in which we have to live and we have sur-
vived only because we are a tough bunch.” Wilson had lived in a world
where democracy was safe. “I have lived,” Clemenceau explained, “in a
world where it was good form to shoot a democrat.” Where Wilson be-
lieved that the use of force ultimately failed, Clemenceau had seen it suc-
ceed too often. “I have come to the conclusion that force is right,” he said
over lunch one day to Lloyd George’s mistress, Frances Stevenson. “Why
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is this chicken here? Because it was not strong enough to resist those who
wanted to kill it. And a very good thing too!” Clemenceau was not opposed
to the League; he simply did not put much trust in it. He would have liked
to see greater international cooperation, but recent history had shown all
too clearly the importance of keeping the powder dry and the guns primed
justin case. In this he faithfully reflected French public opinion, which re-
mained overwhelmingly suspicious of Germany.

By the second week of January Wilson was back in Paris, waiting for the
preliminary conference to start. He was living in great state at the Hotel
Murat, a private house provided by the French government. (One of Wil-
son’s little jokes was that the Americans were paying indirectly through
their loans to France.) The hotel was owned by descendants of the great
soldier Joachim Murat, who had married one of Napoleon’s sisters, and
lent by them to the French government. Later, when relations soured be-
tween France and the United States, the Princesse Murat asked for it back
again. The presidential party, which included Wilson’s personal physician,
Admiral Cary T. Grayson, and Mrs. Wilson’s social secretary, settled un-
easily into the cold and gleaming rooms, filled with treasures from the past
reflected back endlessly in huge mirrors. A British journalist who came to
interview the president found him in a gray flannel suit sitting at a mag-
nificent Empire desk with a great bronze eagle above his head.!®

The rest of the American delegation was housed some distance away,
also in considerable luxury, at the Hoétel Crillon. “I was assigned an enor-
mous room,” wrote an American professor -to his wife, “high ceiling,
white paneling, fireplace, enormous bathroom, very comfortable bed, all
done in rich old rose.” The Americans were delighted with the food, im-
pressed by the meticulous service and amused by the slow old hydraulic
elevators, which sometimes hung suspended between floors until enough
water had moved from one tank to another. Because the hotel itself’ was
small, their offices were scattered nearby, some in what had once been pri-
vate dining rooms at Maxim’s and which still smelled of stale wine and
food. Over the months, the Americans added their own touches to the
Crillon: a barbershop, a network of private phone lines and a hearty
American breakfast in place of the French one. And, of course, the guards
at the doors, and the sentries who paced back and forth on the flat roof.
“The whole place is like an American battleship,” said Harold Nicolson,
the young British diplomat who left one of the most vivid descriptions of
the Peace Conference, “and smells odd.” British visitors were also struck
by how seriously the Americans took rank: unlike their own delegation,
the important men never sat down to meals with their juniors.!’



FIRST IMPRESSIONS 25

Lansing and his fellow plenipotentiaries White and Bliss had rooms on
the second floor, but the true hub of power was on the floor above them,
where House had his large suite of heavily guarded rooms—more, he
smugly noticed, than anyone else. There he sat, as he loved to do, spinning
his plans and drawing in the powerful. Prime ministers, generals, ambas-
sadors, journalists: they almost all came by to see him. His most important
relationship was always that with his president. The two men talked daily,
either in person or on the direct private line the Army engineers had in-
stalled. Sometimes Wilson strolled down to the Crillon; he never stopped
on the second floor, but always went directly upstairs.!8



Paris

ARIS wWAS saD and beautiful as the peacemakers began to assemble

from all parts of the world in January 1919. Its people were subdued
and mournful but its women were still extraordinarily elegant. “Again and
again,” wrote a Canadian delegate to his wife, “one meets a figure which
might have stepped out of La Vie Parisienne, or Vogue in its happier mo-
ments.” Those with money could still find wonderful clothes and jewels.
The restaurants, when they could get supplies, were still marvelous. In
the nightclubs, couples tripped the new fox-trots and tangos. The weather
was surprisingly mild. The grass was still green and a few flowers still
bloomed. There had been a lot of rain and the Seine was in flood. Along
the quais the crowds gathered to watch the rising waters, while buskers
sang of France’s great victory over Germany and of the new world that
was coming.!

Signs of the war that had just ended were everywhere: the refugees
from the devastated regions in the north; the captured German cannon in
the Place de la Concorde and the Champs-Elysées; the piles of rubble and
boarded-up windows where German bombs had fallen. A gaping crater
marked the Tuileries rose garden. Along the Grands Boulevards the ranks
of chestnuts had gaps where trees had been cut for firewood. The great
windows in the cathedral of Notre-Dame were missing their stained
glass, which had been stored for safety; in their place, pale yellow panes
washed the interior with a tepid light. There were severe shortages of coal,
milk and bread.

French society bore scars, too. While the flags of victory fluttered from
the lampposts and windows, limbless men and demobilized soldiers in
worn army uniforms begged for change on street corners; almost every
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other woman wore mourning. The left-wing press called for revolution,
the right-wing for repression. Strikes and protests came one after the
other. The streets that winter and spring were filled with demonstrations
by men and women in the customary blue of French workers, and with
counterdemonstrations by the middle classes.

Neither the British nor the Americans had wanted the Peace Confer-
ence to be in Paris. As House confided to his diary, “It will be difficult
enough at best to make a just peace, and it will be almost impossible to do
so while sitting in the atmosphere of a belligerent capital. It might turn
out well and yet again it might be a tragedy.” The French were too ex-
citable, had suffered too much and were too bitter against the Germans to
provide the calm atmosphere needed. Wilson had preferred Geneva until
alarmist reports coming from Switzerland persuaded him that the country
was on the verge of revolution and riddled with German spies. Clemen-
ceau did not waver in his insistence on Paris. “I never,” said Lloyd George
later on, when he was particularly annoyed, “wanted to hold the Confer-
ence in his bloody capital. Both House and I thought it would be better to
hold it in a neutral place, but the old man wept and protested so much that
we gave way.”?

It may be only a legend that Clemenceau asked to be buried upright,
facing Germany. It was certainly true that he had been on guard against
France’s great neighbor for most of his life. He was only twenty-eight
when the Franco-Prussian War started, and he was part of the group of
young left-wing republicans who fought on in Paris after the French
armies were defeated. He saw the city starve, the French government ca-
pitulate and the new German empire proclaimed in the Hall of Mirrors at
Versailles. As a newly elected deputy, he voted against the peace terms with
Germany. As a journalist, writer, politician and finally prime minister, he
sounded the same warning: Germany was a menace to France. “My life
hatred,” he told an American journalist shortly before he died, “has been
for Germany because of what she has done to France.” He did not actively
seek war after 1871; he simply accepted it as inevitable. The problem, he
said, was not with France: “Germany believes that the logic of her victory
means domination, while we do not believe that the logic of our defeat is
serfdom.”

To have a chance, Clemenceau had always recognized, France needed
allies. Before 1914, the new Germany had been a formidable opponent, its
industry, exports and wealth all growing while France’s were static and its
birthrate was declining. Today, when sheer numbers of soldiers matter
less in battle, it is difficult to remember how important it was to be able
to put huge armies into the field. As Clemenceau told the French senate
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during the ratification debate, the treaty with Germany “does not specify
that the French are committed to have many children, but that would have
been the first thing to include.” Those disadvantages were why France had
reached out to its hereditary enemies, tsarist Russia in the east and Britain
across the Channel, for Russian manpower and British industry and mar-
itime power to balance against Germany. Much had changed by 1918, but
not the underlying imbalance. There were still more Germans than
French. How long would it take the German economy, with its largely
intact infrastructure, to recover? And now France could not count on
Russia.*

During the Peace Conference, France’s allies became exasperated with
what they saw as French intransigence, French greed and French vindic-
tiveness. They had not suffered what France had suffered. The war me-
morials, in every city, town and village, with their lists of names from the
First World War, the handful from the Second, tell the story of France’s
losses. A quarter of French men between eighteen and thirty had died in
the war, over 1.3 million altogether out of a prewar population of 40 mil-
lion. France lost a higher proportion of its population than any other of
the belligerents. Tiwice as many again of its soldiers had been wounded. In
the north, great stretches of land were pitted with shell holes, scarred by
deep trenches, marked with row upon row of crosses. Around the fortress
of Verdun, site of the worst French battle, not a living thing grew, not a
bird sang. The coal mines on which the French economy depended for its
power were flooded; the factories they would have supplied had been
razed or carted away into Germany. Six thousand square miles of France,
which before the war had produced 20 percent of its crops, 9o percent of
its iron ore and 65 percent of its steel, were utterly ruined. Perhaps Wilson
might have understood Clemenceau’s demands better if he had gone
early on to see the damage for himself:®

At the Peace Conference, Clemenceau was to keep all the important
threads in his own hands. The French delegation drew on the best that
France had to offer, but it did not meet at all for the first four months of
the conference. Clemenceau rarely consulted the Foreign Ministry pro-
fessionals at the Quai d’Orsay, much to their annoyance. Nor did he pay
much attention to the experts from the universities he had asked to draw
up reports on France’s economic and territorial claims and to sit on the
commissions and committees that proliferated over the course of the con-
ference. “No organization of his ideas, no method of work,” complained
clever old Paul Cambon from London, “the accumulation in himself of all
duties and all responsibilities, thus nothing works. And this man of 78
years, sick, for he is a diabetic . . . receives fifty people a day and exerts him-
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self with a thousand details which he ought to leave to his ministers. . . . At
no moment in the war was I as uneasy as [ am for the peace.”®

Stéphen Pichon, Clemenceau’s foreign minister, was an amiable, lazy
and indecisive man who received his instructions every morning and
would not have dreamed of disobeying. Clemenceau was rather fond of
him in an ofthand way. “Who is Pichon?” he asked one day. “Your minister
of Foreign Affairs,” came the reply. “So he is,” said the old Tiger, “I had
forgotten it.” On another occasion, Pichon and a party of experts were
waiting patiently in the background for a meeting to start when Clemen-
ceau teased Balfour about the number of advisers he had. When Balfour
replied, “They are doing the same thing as the greater number of people
with you,” Clemenceau, infuriated to be caught out, turned around. “Go
away all of you,” he told Pichon. “There is no need for any of you!”’

If Clemenceau discussed issues at all, it was in the evening at his
house, with a small group that included his faithful aide General Henri
Mordacq, the brilliant gadfly André Tardieu and the industrialist Louis
Loucheur. He kept them on their toes by having the police watch them.
Each morning he would give them a dossier with details of their previous
day’s activities. As much as possible he ignored Raymond Poincaré, his
president, whom he loathed.?

Throughout his long life Clemenceau had gone his own formidable
way. His enemies claimed that his slanting eyes and his cruelty were a
legacy from Huns who had somehow made it to the Vendée. He was born
in 1841, to minor gentry in a lovely part of France with a violent history.
Generally, the people of the Vendée chose the wrong side: in the wars of
religion, which the Catholics won, they were Protestants; during the
French Revolution they were Catholic and royalist. The Clemenceau
family was a minority within a minority; republican, radical and resolutely
anticlerical. Clemenceau himself thought snobs were fools, but he always
went back to the gloomy family manor house, with its stone floors, its
moat and its austere furnishings.’

Like his father, Clemenceau trained as a doctor; but, again like his
father, he did not practice. His studies in any case always took second place
to writing, politics and his love affairs. Like other bright young men, he
was drawn to Paris and the world of radical intellectuals, journalists and
artists. In the late 1860s he spent much time in the United States, widely
admired by republicans as a land of freedom. His travels left him with flu-
ent English, peppered with out-of-date New York slang, in an accent that
mingled a Yankee drawl with rolling French “r”s. He also gained a wife,
Mary Plummer, a lovely, stupid and very conventional New England girl
whom he had met while he was teaching French in a girls’ school. He
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brought her back to France and deposited her for long periods of time
with his parents and unmarried aunts in the Vendée. The marriage did not
last but Mary Plummer lived on in Paris, supplementing her modest an-
nuity by taking American tourists to museums. She rarely saw Clemen-
ceau after their separation but she faithtully collected his press cuttings.
Unfortunately, she could not read them because she had never learned
French. After her death in 1917 Clemenceau expressed mild regret: “What
a tragedy that she ever married me.”"

The Clemenceau family kept the three children from the marriage,
and Clemenceau never married again. He preferred to travel through life
alone. There were women, of course, as friends and as lovers. “Never in
my life,” he said, “has it been necessary for me to make appeals to
women.” And on the whole it was true. In 1919 he complained sardon-
ically that, just when he was too old to take advantage of it, women were
throwing themselves at him."

Politics and, above all, France were his great passion. With the collapse
of Napoleon III's empire in 1870 and the rise of the Third Republic, the
way was open to him and other radical politicians to participate in public
life. Clemenceau was elected to the French parliament in 1876. He was a
republican like most of those who dominated the Third Republic but he
did not belong to a political party in the modern sense (indeed such things
did not exist then). In the loose and shifting groupings before the Great
War, he was invariably found on the left, just this side of the socialists and
those who rejected constitutional, democratic politics. Clemenceau made
a name for himself as an incisive and witty orator and a tenacious oppo-
nent, happiest when he was attacking governments he saw as too conser-
vative. With his old friend Emile Zola, for example, he helped to reopen
the guilty verdict against Alfred Dreyfus, the Jewish army officer falsely
accused of selling French secrets to the Germans.!? But he was not trusted
even on the left; there were too many dubious financiers in his life,
women with shady reputations, creditors asking for their money. His
duels left an impression of someone who belonged in the pages of Du-
mas. In his relentless attacks on authority he was prepared to do almost
anything to win. “He comes from a family of wolves,” said a man who
knew him well. Clemenceau did not help himself by his contempt for
convention and his profound cynicism. Lloyd George once said of him,
“He loved France but hated all Frenchmen.” In 1906, when he was already
in his sixties, he became a government minister. He was brought in as
minister of the interior perhaps because France’s president at the time
owed him a political debt, more likely because, as one of his new col-
leagues argued, it would be too dangerous to leave him out. Later that year



PARIS 31

when what was a weak government fell, Clemenceau to the surprise of
many emerged as the new prime minister and an effective one at that.

His intimates saw another side. Clemenceau was loyal to his friends
and they to him. He was kind and generous with both time and money.
He loved his garden, although, according to one visitor, “it was a helter-
skelter survival of mixed-up seeds hurled about recklessly in all direc-
tions.” For years Clemenceau had a country place close to Giverny and
Claude Monet, a great friend. In Paris he frequently dropped in to see the
great panels of the water lilies. “They take my breath away whenever I
enter that room.” (He could not bear Renoir’s painting: “It’s enough to
disgust you with love forever after. Those buttocks he gives those wenches
ought not to be allowed.”’?)

Clemenceau was also extraordinarily brave and stubborn. When the
Germans advanced on Paris in 1914, the French parliament debated leav-
ing. Clemenceau, who had resigned office in 1909 and was back to his fa-
miliar role in opposition, agreed: “Yes, we are too far from the front.” In
the dark days of 1917, when the French armies had been shattered on the
Western Front and there was talk of collapse at home, Clemenceau the
Father of Victory, as the French called him, finally came into his own. As
prime minister, he held France together until the final victory. When the
Germans made their last great push toward Paris in the spring of 1918,
Clemenceau made it clear that there would be no surrender. If the Ger-
mans took the city, he intended to stay until the last moment and then
escape by plane. When he heard that the Germans had agreed to an armi-
stice, for once in his life he was speechless. He put his head in his hands
and wept. On the evening of November 11, he walked through Paris with
his favorite sister, Sophie. “The war is won,” he said when he saw the
crowds starting to pull captured German guns to pieces. “Give them to
the children to play with.” Later, with Mordacq, he talked of the work to
come: “Yes, we have won the war and not without difficulty; but now
we are going to have to win the peace, and that will perhaps be even more
difficult.”!*

France, of all the Great Powers, had the most at stake in the German
peace terms. Britain already had most of what it wanted, with the German
fleet and the major German colonies safely in its hands, and the United
States, protected from Germany by the Atlantic Ocean, was eager to pack
up and go home. France not only had suffered the most; it also had the
most to fear. Whatever happened, Germany would still lie along its eastern
border. There would still be more Germans than French in the world. It
was an ominous sign that even the souvenir penknives engraved with
“Foch” and “La Victoire” being sold in France in 1919 had been made in
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German factories. France wanted revenge and compensation, but above
all, it wanted security. No one was more aware of this than its prime
minister.

Clemenceau was convinced that the only safety for France was in
keeping the wartime alliance alive. As he told the Chamber of Deputies in
December 1918, “To preserve this entente, I will make any sacrifice.” Dur-
ing the Peace Conference he held firm to that, even through the worst
disagreements. The French public must remember, he told his closest
advisers, that “without America and England, France would perhaps no
longer actually exist.” As he remarked to Lloyd George, when the two
were engaged in one of their many quarrels, “my policy at the conference,
as I hope you will acknowledge, is one of close agreement with Great Brit-
ain and America.”"

Clemenceau’s policy was one thing; persuading the rank and file of
French officials to follow it was another. “I find them full of intrigue and
chicanery of all kinds,” complained Hankey, the British secretary to the
conference, “without any idea of playing the game.” Memories of past
greatness, a conviction of the superiority of French civilization, resent-
ment of Anglo-Saxon prosperity and fears of Germany did not make the
French easy to deal with. “One could not help feeling,” wrote a British ex-
pert when he visited the French occupation forces in the Rhineland, “that
in 2 moment all that has happened in the last fifty years was wiped away;
the French soldiers were back again in the place where they used to be
under the Monarchy and the Revolution; confident, debonair, quick, feel-
ing themselves completely at home in their historical task of bringing a
higher civilization to the Germans.” The Americans, like the British,
found the French intensely irritating at times. “Fundamental trouble with
France,” wrote an American expert in his diary, “is that as far as she was
concerned the victory was wholly fictitious and she is trying to act as if it
were a real one and to make herself believe that it was.” American officers
clashed repeatedly with their French counterparts and the ordinary sol-
diers brawled in the streets and cafés.'

It was unfortunate, perhaps, that Clemenceau himself did not estab-
lish good personal relations with the leader of either country. Where Wil-
son and Lloyd George frequently dropped in on each other and met over
small lunches or dinners during the Peace Conference, Clemenceau pre-
ferred to eat alone or with his small circle of advisers. “That has its disad-
vantages,” said Lloyd George. “If you meet for social purposes, you can
raise a point. If you find that you are progressing satisfactorily, you can
proceed, otherwise you can drop it.”"” Clemenceau had never cared for
ordinary social life at the best of times. In Paris in 1919, he saved his flag-
ging energies for the negotiations.
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Clemenceau was the oldest of the three and, although he was robust
for his age, the strain told. The eczema on his hands was so bad that he
wore gloves to hide it. He also had trouble sleeping. He woke up very
early, often at three, and read until seven, when he made himself a simple
breakfast of gruel. He then worked again until his masseur and trainer ar-
rived for his physical exercises (which usually included his favorite, fenc-
ing). He spent the morning in meetings but almost always went home for
his standard lunch of boiled eggs and a glass of water, worked again all
afternoon, and after an equally simple supper of milk and bread, went to
bed by nine. Very occasionally, he took tea at Lloyd George’s flat in the
Rue Nitot, where the cook baked his favorite, langues de chat.'®

Clemenceau did not much like either Wilson or Lloyd George. “I find
myself,” he said in a phrase that went round Paris, “between Jesus Christ
on the one hand, and Napoleon Bonaparte on the other.” Wilson puzzled
him: “I do not think he is a bad man, but I have not yet made up my mind
as to how much of him is good!” He also found him priggish and arro-
gant. “What ignorance of Europe and how difficult all understandings
were with him! He believed you could do everything by formulas and his
fourteen points. God himself was content with ten commandments. Wil-
son modestly inflicted fourteen points on us . . . the fourteen command-
ments of the most empty theory!”!®

Lloyd George, as far as Clemenceau was concerned, was more amus-
ing but also more devious and untrustworthy. In the long and acrimo-
nious negotiations over control of the Middle East, Clemenceau was
driven into rages at Lloyd George’s attempts to wriggle out of their agree-
ments. The two men shared certain traits—both had started out as radicals
in politics, both were ruthlessly efficient—but there were equally signifi-
cant differences. Clemenceau was an intellectual, Lloyd George was not.
Clemenceau was rational, Lloyd George intuitive. Clemenceau had the
tastes and values of an eighteenth-century gentleman; Lloyd George was
resolutely middle-class.

Clemenceau also had problems closer to home. “There are only two
perfectly useless things in the world,” he quipped. “One is an appendix
and the other is Poincaré!” A small, dapper man, France’s president was
fussy, legalistic, pedantic, very cautious and very Catholic. He was a re-
publican, but a conservative one. Clemenceau came to despise him during
the Dreyfus affair, when Poincaré carefully avoided taking a stand. ‘A
lively little beast, dry, disagreeable, and not courageous,” Clemenceau told
an American friend. “This prudence has preserved it up to the present
day—a somewhat unpleasant animal, as you see, of which, luckily, only
one specimen is known.” Clemenceau had been attacking Poincaré for
years and even spread rumors about Poincaré’s wife. “You wish to sleep
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with Madame Poincaré?” he would shout out. “OK, my friend, it’s fixed.”
During the war, Clemenceau, who like many leading French politicians
had his own newspaper, criticized the president, often unfairly, for the
failings of the French military. ’Homme Libre (renamed L'Homme Enchdiné
after the censors got busy on its pages) carried editorial after editorial,
written by Clemenceau himself, castigating the inadequate medical care
for wounded soldiers and the shortages of crucial munitions. The con-
duct of the war was a disaster, those in charge utterly incompetent. Poin-
caré was outraged. “He knows very well that he is not telling the truth,” he
complained, “that the constitution leaves me no rights.”®

Poincaré returned the hatred. “Madman,” he wrote in his diary. “Old,
moronic, vain man.” But on crucial issues, curiously, the two men tended
to agree. Both detested and feared Germany. Poincaré had also fought
against the defeatists during the darkest period of the war and had brought
Clemenceau in as prime minister because he recognized his will to defeat
Germany. For a brief period there had been something of a truce. “Now;,
Raymond old chum,” Clemenceau had said before his first cabinet meet-
ing in November 1917, “are we going to fall in love?” Six months later,
Poincaré was complaining bitterly that Clemenceau was not consulting
him. After the victory the two men embraced publicly in Metz, capital of
the recovered province of Lorraine, but their relations remained difficult.
Poincaré was full of complaints about Clemenceau’s conduct of affairs.
The armistice had come too soon: French troops should have pushed
farther into Germany. France was being heavy-handed in Alsace and Lor-
raine. As a native of Lorraine, Poincaré still had contacts there, who
warned him that many of the inhabitants were pro-German and that the
French authorities were handling them tactlessly. Clemenceau was ne-
glecting France’s financial problems. He was also making a mess of for-
eign policy, giving away far too much to the British and the Americans and
expressing little interest in German colonies or the Middle East. Poincaré
was infuriated when Clemenceau conceded that English would be an offi-
cial language at the Peace Conference alongside French. And he couldn’t
bear his rival’s popular adulation. “All Frenchmen believe in him like a
new god,” he wrote. “And me, I am insulted in the popular press. ... Iam
hardly talked about other than to be insulted.”

To the dismay of Poincaré and the powerful colonial lobby Clemen-
ceau cared little about acquiring Germany’s colonies, and was not much
interested in the Middle East. His few brief remarks about war aims be-
fore the conference opened were deliberately vague, enough to reassure
the French public but not to tie him down to any rigid set of demands.
Official statements during the war had referred merely to the liberation of
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Belgium and the occupied French territories, freedom for oppressed peo-
ples and, inevitably, Alsace-Lorraine. His job, as he told the Chamber of
Deputies, was to make war. As for peace, he told a journalist, “Is it neces-
sary to announce ahead of time all that one wants to do? No!” On De-
cember 29, 1918, Clemenceau was pressed by his critics in the Chamber to
be more precise. He refused. “The question of the peace is an enormous
one,” he said. The negotiations were going to be tricky. “I am going to
have to make claims, but I will not say here what they are.” He might well
have to give way on some in the greater interest of France. He asked for a
vote of confidence. It went 398 to 93 in his favor. His main challenge now
was his allies.??



4

Lloyd George and the
British Empire Delegation

O N JaNUARY 11, David Lloyd George bounded with his usual
energy onto a British destroyer for the Channel crossing. With his
arrival in Paris the three key peacemakers, on whom so much depended,
were finally in one place. Although he was still feeling his way with
Wilson, Lloyd George had known Clemenceau on and oft since 1908.
Their first meeting had not been a success. Clemenceau found Lloyd
George shockingly ignorant, both of Europe and the United States. Lloyd
George’s impression was of a “disagreeable and rather bad-tempered old
savage.” He noticed, he said, that in Clemenceau’s large head “there was
no dome of benevolence, reverence, or kindliness.” When the two men
crossed paths again during the war, Lloyd George made it clear that there
was to be no more bullying. In time, he claimed, he came to appreciate
Clemenceau immensely for his wit, his strength of character and his pas-
sionate devotion to France. Clemenceau, for his part, developed a grudg-
ing liking for Lloyd George, although he always complained that he was
badly educated. He was not, said the old Frenchman severely, “an English
gentleman.”’

Each of the Big Three at the Peace Conference brought something of
his own country to the negotiations: Wilson the United States’ benevo-
lence, a confident assurance that the American way was the best, and an
uneasy suspicion that the Europeans might fail to see this; Clemenceau
France’s profound patriotism, its relief at the victory and its perpetual ap-
prehension of a revived Germany; and Lloyd George Britain’s vast web of
colonies and its mighty navy. Each man represented great interests, but
each was also an individual. Their failings and their strengths, their fatigue
and their illnesses, their likes and dislikes were also to shape the peace set-
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tlements. From January to the end of June, except for the gap between
mid-February and mid-March when Wilson was back in the United
States and Lloyd George in Britain, the three met daily, often morning and
afternoon. At first they were accompanied by their foreign ministers and
advisers, but after March they met privately, with only a secretary or two
or an occasional expert. The intensity of these face-to-face meetings
forced them to get to know each other, to like each other and to be irri-
tated by each other.

Lloyd George was the youngest of the three, a cheerful rosy-faced man
with startling blue eyes and a shock of white hair. (“Hullo!” a little girl
once asked him. “Are you Charlie Chaplin?”) He was only two when the
American Civil War—something Wilson remembered clearly—ended.
When a twenty-year-old Clemenceau was witnessing the birth of the new
Germany in the aftermath of France’s defeat by Prussia, Lloyd George was
still in primary school. He was not only younger; he was also fitter and
more resilient. Wilson worried himself sick trying to live up to his own
principles, and Clemenceau lay awake at nights going over and over
France’s needs. Lloyd George thrived on challenges and crises. As Lord
Robert Cecil, an austere Conservative who never entirely approved of
him, said with reluctant admiration, “Whatever was going on at the Con-
ference, however hard at work and harried by the gravest responsibilities
of his position, Mr. Lloyd George was certain to be at the top of his
form—full of chaff intermingled with shrewd though never ill-natured
comments on those with whom he was working.”

Lloyd George had known tragedy with the death of a much-loved
daughter, as well as moments of considerable strain when personal scan-
dals and political controversies had threatened to ruin his career. He had
worked under enormous pressure during the previous four years, first as
minister of munitions and then as war minister. At the end of 1916, he had
taken on the burden of the prime ministership, at the head of a coalition
government, when it looked as though the Allies were finished. Like Cle-
menceau in France, he had held the country together and led it to victory.
Now, in 1919, he was fresh from a triumphant election but led an uneasy
coalition. He was a Liberal; his supporters and key cabinet members were
predominantly Conservative. Although he had a solid partnership with
the Conservative leader, Andrew Bonar Law, he had to watch his back. His
displaced rival, the former Liberal prime minister Herbert Asquith, sat
brooding in his tent, ready to pounce on any slip. Many of the Conserva-
tives remembered his radical past as the scourge of privilege and rank, and
as they had with their own leader Disraeli, they wondered if he were not
too clever, too quick, too foreign. He also faced formidable enemies in the
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press. The press baron Lord Northcliffe, who had chosen his title because
it had the same initial letter as Napoleon, was moving rapidly from mega-
lomania to paranoia, perhaps an early sign of the tertiary syphilis that was
to kill him. Northcliffe had been convinced that he had made Lloyd
George prime minister by putting his papers, which included The Times
and the Daily Mail, behind him. Now he was angry when his creation re-
fused to appoint him either to the War Cabinet or to the British delegation
in Paris. He wanted revenge.

Lloyd George had on his hands a country ill prepared for the peace,
where the end of the war had brought huge, and irrational, expectations:
that making peace would be easy; that wages and benefits would go up and
taxes down; that there would be social harmony, or, depending on your
point of view, social upheaval. The public mood was unpredictable: at
moments vengeful, at others escapist. The most popular book of 1919 was
The Young Visiters, a comic novel written by a child. While he was in Paris,
Lloyd George had to take time out for labor unrest, parliamentary revolts
and the festering sore of Ireland. Yet he entered into the negotiations in
Paris as though he had little else on his mind.

If anyone was like Napoleon it was not the poor deluded Northcliffe
but the man he hated. Napoleon once said of himself, “Different subjects
and different affairs are arranged in my head as in a cupboard. When I
wish to interrupt one train of thought, I shut that drawer and open
another. Do I wish to sleep? I simply close all the drawers and there I
am—asleep.” Lloyd George had those powers of concentration and recu-
peration, that energy and that fondness for the attack. “The Englishman,”
he told a Welsh friend, “never respects any fellow unless that fellow beats
him; then he becomes particularly affable towards him.™

Like Napoleon, Lloyd George had an uncanny ability to sense what
other people were thinking. He told Frances Stevenson that he loved stay-
ing in hotels: “I am always interested in people—wondering who they
are—what they are thinking about—what their lives are like—whether
they are enjoying life or finding it a bore.” Although he was a wonderful
conversationalist, he was also a very good listener. From the powerful to
the humble, adults to children, everyone who met him was made to feel
that he or she had something important to say. “One of the most ad-
mirable traits in Mr. Lloyd George’s character,” in Churchill’s view, “was
his complete freedom at the height of his power, responsibility and good
fortune from any thing in the nature of pomposity or superior airs. He
was always natural and simple. He was always exactly the same to those
who knew him well: ready to argue any point, to listen to disagreeable
facts even when controversially presented.” His famous charm was rooted
in this combination of curiosity and attention.*
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Lloyd George was also a great orator. Where Clemenceau drove home
his points with devastating clarity and sarcasm, and Wilson preached,
Lloyd George’s speeches, which he prepared so carefully and which
sounded so spontaneous, were at once moving and witty, inspiring and in-
timate. Like a great actor, he was a skillful manipulator of his audience.
“I pause,” he once told someone who asked him about his technique, “I
reach out my hand to the people and draw them to me. Like children they
seem then. Like little children.”

John Maynard Keynes, who went to Paris as the Treasury’s representa-
tive and did so much to create myths about the Peace Conference, wove a
special one for Lloyd George. “How can I convey to the reader,” the great
economist asked, “any just impression of this extraordinary figure of our
time, this syren, this goat-footed bard, this half-human visitor to our age
from the hag-ridden magic and enchanted woods of Celtic antiquity?”
There spoke the voice both of intellectually superior Cambridge and of
stolid John Bull, but it spoke romantic nonsense. The real Wales in which
Lloyd George grew up was a modest sober little land, with slate mines and
shipbuilding, fishermen and farmers.°

Lloyd George liked to talk of his origins in a humble cottage, but in
fact he came from the educated artisan class. His father, who died when he
was very young, was a schoolmaster; the uncle who brought him up was a
master cobbler and lay preacher, a figure of stature in his small village.
Wiales was always important to Lloyd George as a reference point, if only
to measure how far he had come, and also for sentimental reasons (al-
though he grew quickly bored if he had to spend too much time there).
He had early on seen himself on a larger stage. And what larger stage than
the capital of the world’s biggest empire? As he wrote to the local girl who
became his wife, “My supreme idea is to get on.””

He was fortunate in his uncle, who gave him unstinting devotion and
support. When, as a boy, he discovered that he had lost his belief in God,
the lay preacher forgave him. When he decided to go into the law, his
uncle worked through a French grammar book one step ahead of him so
that he could get the language qualification that he required. And when he
decided to go into politics, a huge gamble for someone without money or
connections, his uncle again supported him. The old man lived just long
enough to see his nephew become prime minister.?

Lloyd George was made for politics. From the hard work in the com-
mittee rooms to the great campaigns, he loved it all. While he enjoyed the
cut and thrust of debate, he was essentially good-natured. Unlike Wilson
and Clemenceau, he did not hate his opponents. Nor was he an intellec-
tual in politics. Although he read widely, he preferred to pick the brains of
experts. On his feet there was no one quicker: he invariably conveyed a
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mastery of his subject. Once during the Peace Conference Keynes and a
colleague realized that they had given him the wrong briefing on the Adri-
atic. They hastily put a revised position on a sheet of paper and rushed to
the meeting, where they found Lloyd George already launched on his
subject. As Keynes passed over the paper, Lloyd George glanced at it and,
without a pause, gradually modified his arguments until he ended up with
the opposite position to the one he had started out with.’

He made his mark early on as a leading radical politician. Where Wil-
son attacked the big banks and Clemenceau attacked the church, Lloyd
George’s favorite targets were the landowners and aristocracy. He rather
liked businessmen, especially self-made ones. (He also frequently liked
their wives.) As chancellor of the exchequer, he pushed through radical
budgets, introducing an income tax for the rich along with benetits for the
poor, but he was not a socialist. Like Wilson and Clemenceau, he disliked
collectivism, but he was always prepared to work with moderate socialists
just as he was prepared to work with Conservatives.'

Opver the course of his career he became a superb, if unconventional,
administrator. He shook established procedures by bringing in talented
and skilled men from outside the civil service to run government depart-
ments, and he ensured the success of his bills by inviting all the interested
parties to comment on them. He settled labor disputes by inviting both
sides to sit down with him, normal enough procedure today but highly
unusual then. “He plays upon men round a table like the chords of a mu-
sical instrument,” said a witness to his settlement of a railway dispute,
“now pleading, now persuasive, stern, playful and minatory in quick suc-
cession.”!!

Naturally optimistic, he was always sure that solutions could be found
to even the most difficult problems. “To Lloyd George,” said a friend
of his children, “every morning was not a new day, but a new life and a
new chance.”’? Sometimes the chances he took were risky, and he engaged
in some dubious transactions—a mine in Argentina or the purchase of
shares where he had inside knowledge—but he seems to have been moti-
vated more by the desire for financial independence than by greed. He was
equally careless in his private life. Where Clemenceau’s affairs with
women enhanced his reputation, Lloyd George came close to disaster on
more than one occasion when angry husbands threatened to name him in
divorce actions. His wife, a strong-willed woman, stuck by him, but the
couple grew apart. She preferred to stay in north Wales with her beloved
garden; he got used to a part-time marriage. By 1919 he had settled down,
as much as was in his nature, with a single mistress, a younger woman
who had originally come into his household to tutor his youngest daugh-



LLOYD GEORGE AND THE BRITISH EMPIRE DELEGATION 41

ter. Frances Stevenson was an educated, efficient and intelligent woman
who gave him love, intellectual companionship and a well-run office.

People often wrote Lloyd George off as a mere opportunist. Clemen-
ceau once dismissed him as an English solicitor: “All arguments are good
to him when he wishes to win a case and, if it is necessary, he uses the next
day arguments which he had rejected or refuted the previous day.” Wilson,
sharp-eyed where the failings of others were concerned, thought Lloyd
George lacked principle: he wished that he had “a less slippery customer
to deal with than L.G. for he is always temporizing and making conces-
sions.” In fact, Lloyd George was a man of principle; but he was also
intensely pragmatic. He did not waste his energies on quixotic crusades.
He opposed the Boer War, when Britain waged war on the small South
African republics, because he thought it was wrong and wasteful. His te-
nacious public opposition took courage and nearly cost him his life when
an angry mob in Birmingham stormed the platform where he was speak-
ing. But it paid off politically. As the British government blundered its
way through to a hard-won peace, Lloyd George emerged as a national
leader.™

When the Great War broke out, it was inevitable that he would play an
important part in the British war effort. As Churchill, an increasingly
close friend, wrote: “L.G. has more true insight and courage than anyone
else. He really sticks at nothing—no measure too far-reaching, no expedi-
ent too novel.” He hated war, Lloyd George told a Labour delegation in
1916, but “once you are in it you have to go grimly through it, otherwise
the causes which hang upon a successful issue will perish.” The wise old
Conservative Arthur Balfour had seen leaders come and go. “He is impul-
sive,” he said of Lloyd George, “he had never given a thought before the
Wiar to military matters; he does not perhaps adequately gauge the depths
of his own ignorance; and he has certain peculiarities which no doubt
make him, now and then, difficult to work with.” But there was no one
else, in Balfour’s opinion, who could successfully lead Britain.!*

Although Lloyd George had come a long way from his village in north
Wiales, he never became part of the English upper classes. Neither he nor
his wife liked visiting the great country houses, and he positively disliked
staying with the king and queen. When George V, as a mark of honor, in-
vited him to carry the sword of state at the opening of Parliament, Lloyd
George privately said, “I won’t be a flunkey,” and begged off. Most of
his friends were, like him, self-made men. Balfour, who was a Cecil, from
an old and famous family, was a rare exception. And Balfour, with his af-
fable willingness to take second place, suited him very well as a foreign
minister."
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In Paris, Lloyd George ignored the Foreign Office wherever he could
and used his own staff of bright young men. The bureaucrats particularly
resented his private secretary, the high-minded, religious and arrogant
Philip Kerr. Because Lloyd George hated reading memoranda, Kerr, who
dealt with much of his correspondence, was the gatekeeper to the great
man. Even Balfour was moved to mild reproof when he asked Kerr
whether the prime minister had read a particular document and was told
no, but that Kerr had. “Not quite the same thing, is it, Philip—yet?” The
professional diplomats muttered among themselves, and Lord Curzon,
who had been left behind in London to mind the shop while Balfour and
Lloyd George were in Paris, was pained. The prime minister paid no at-
tention. '

Wias this a bad thing for Britain? He clearly did not have a grasp on for-
eign affairs equal to that of his predecessor, Lord Salisbury, or his later
successor Churchill. His knowledge had great gaps. “Who are the Slo-
vaks?” he asked in 1916. “I can’t seem to place them.” His geography was
equally sketchy. How interesting, he told a subordinate in 1918, to discover
that New Zealand was on the east side of Australia. In 1919, when Turkish
forces were retreating eastward from the Mediterranean, Lloyd George
talked dramatically of their flight toward Mecca. “Ankara,” said Curzon
severely. Lloyd George replied airily, “Lord Curzon is good enough to ad-
monish me on a triviality.” Yet he often came to sensible conclusions (even
if his disdain for the professionals and his own enthusiasms also led him
into mistakes, such as support for a restored Greater Greece). Germany,
he told a friend in the middle of the war, must be beaten, but not de-
stroyed. That would not do either Europe or the British empire any good,
and would leave the field clear for a strong Russia. He understood where
Britain’s interests lay: its trade and its empire, with naval dominance to
protect them and a balance of power in Europe to prevent any power from
challenging those interests."’

He recognized that Britain could no longer try to achieve these goals
on its own. Its military power, though great, was shrinking rapidly as the
country moved back to a peacetime footing. During 1919, the size of the
army was to drop by two thirds at a time when Britain was taking on more
and more responsibilities, from the Baltic states to Russia to Afghanistan,
and dealing with more and more trouble in its empire—India, Egypt and,
on its own doorstep, Ireland. “There are no troops to spare,” came the de-
spairing answer from the general staff to repeated requests.”® The burden
of power was also weighing heavily in economic terms. Britain was no
longer the world’s financial center; the United States was. And Britain
owed huge amounts to the Americans, as the prime minister was well
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aware. With his usual optimism, he felt that he could build a good rela-
tionship with the United States which would help to compensate for Brit-
ish weaknesses. Perhaps the Americans would take on responsibility for
such strategically important areas as the straits at Constantinople.

Britain went into the Peace Conference with a relatively good hand, cer-
tainly a better one than either France or Italy. The German fleet, which
had challenged British power around the world, was safely in British
hands, the surface ships in Scapa Flow in the Orkneys and most of the
submarines in Harwich on the southeast coast of England. Its coaling sta-
tions, harbors and telegraph stations had been taken by Japan or the Brit-
ish empire. “If you had told the British people twelve months ago,” Lloyd
George said in Paris, “that they would have secured what they have, they
would have laughed you to scorn. The German Navy has been handed
over; the German mercantile shipping has been handed over, and the Ger-
man colonies have been given up. One of our chief trade competitors has
been most seriously crippled and our Allies are about to become her
biggest creditors. That is no small achievement.”

There was more: “We have destroyed the menace to our Indian posses-
sions.” Russia, whose southward push throughout the nineteenth century
had so worried generations of British statesmen, was finished as a power,
at least in the short run, and all along its southern boundaries, in Persia
and the Caucasus, were British forces and British influence.!®

So much of prewar British policy had been devoted to protecting the
routes to India across the Mediterranean, the Suez Canal and down the
Red Sea, either by taking direct control, as in the case of Egypt, or by
propping up the shaky old Ottoman empire. That empire was finished,
but thanks to a secret agreement with France, Britain was poised to take
the choice bits it wanted. There were new routes, at least in the dreams of
the Foreign Office and the military, perhaps across the Black Sea to the
Caucasus and then south, or by air via Greece and Mesopotamia, but
these, too, could be protected if Britain moved quickly enough to seize
the territory it needed.

People have often assumed that, because Lloyd George opposed the
Boer War, he was not an imperialist. This is not quite true. In fact, he had
always taken great pride in the empire, but he had never thought it was
being run properly. It was folly to try to manage everything from London
and, he argued, an expensive folly at that. What would keep the empire
strong was to allow as much local self-government as possible and to have
an imperial policy only on the important issues, such as defense and a
common foreign policy. With home rule—he was thinking of Scotland,
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his own Wales and the perennially troublesome Ireland as well—parts of
the empire would willingly take on the costs of looking after themselves.
(“Home Rule for Hell,” cried a heckler at one of his speeches. “Quite
right,” retorted Lloyd George, “let every man speak up for his own coun-
try.”) The dominions—Australia, Canada, New Zealand, Newfoundland
and South Africa—were already partly self-governing. Even India was
moving slowly to self-government; but with its mix of races, which in-
cluded only the merest handful of Europeans, and its many religions and
languages, Lloyd George doubted it would ever be able to manage on its
own. (He never visited India and knew very little about it but, in the off-
hand way of his times, he considered Indians, along with other brown-
skinned peoples, to be inferior.’)

In 1916, shortly after he became prime minister, Lloyd George told the
House of Commons that the time had come to consult formally with the
dominions and India about the best way to win the war. He intended,
therefore, to create an Imperial War Cabinet. It was a wonderful gesture. It
was also necessary. The dominions and India were keeping the British war
effort going with their raw materials, their munitions, their loans, above
all with their manpower—some 1,250,000 soldiers from India and another
million from the dominions. Australia, as Billy Hughes, its prime minis-
ter, never tired of reminding everyone, had lost more soldiers by 1918 than
the United States.?!

By 1916 the dominions, which had once tiptoed reverentially around
the mother country, were growing up. They and their generals had seen
too much of what Sir Robert Borden, the Canadian prime minister, called
“incompetence and blundering stupidity of the whiskey and soda British
H.Q. Staft.” The dominions knew how important their contribution was,
what they had spent in blood. In return, they now expected to be con-
sulted, both on the war and the peace to follow. They found a receptive
audience in Britain, where what had been in prewar days a patronizing
contempt for the crudeness of colonials had turned into enthusiasm for
their vigor. Billy Hughes became something of a fad when he visited Lon-
don in 1916; women marched with signs saying “We Want Hughes Back,”
and a popular cartoon showed the Billiwog: “No War Is Complete With-
out One.” And then there was Jan Smuts, South Africa’s foreign minister,
soldier, statesman and, to some, seer, who spent much of the later part of
the war in London. Smuts had fought against the British fifteen years pre-
viously; now he was one of their most trusted advisers, sitting on the small
committee of the British cabinet which Lloyd George set up to run the
war. He was widely admired: “Of his practical contribution to our coun-
sels during these trying years,” said Lloyd George, “it is difficult to speak
too highly.”*
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In the last days of the war Hughes and Borden were infuriated to
discover that the British War Cabinet had authorized Lloyd George and
Balfour to go to the Supreme War Council in Paris to settle the German
armistice terms with the Allies without bothering to inform the domin-
ions. Hughes also strongly objected to Wilson’s Fourteen Points being ac-
cepted as the basis for peace negotiations—“a painful and serious breach
of faith.” The dominion leaders were even more indignant when they dis-
covered that the British had assumed they would tag along to the Peace
Conference as part of the British delegation. Lloyd George attempted to
mollify them by suggesting that a dominion prime minister could be one
of the five British plenipotentiaries. But which one? As Hankey said, “The
dominions are as jealous of each other as cats.” The real problem over rep-
resentation, as Borden wrote to his wife, was that the dominions’ position
had never been properly sorted out. Canada was “a nation that is not a na-
tion. It is about time to alter it.” And he noted, with a certain tone of pity,
“The British Ministers are doing their best, but their best is not good
enough.” To Hankey he said that if Canada did not have full representa-
tion at the conference there was nothing for it but for him “to pack his
trunks, return to Canada, summon Parliament, and put the whole thing
before them.”?

Lloyd George gave way: not only would one of the five main British
delegates be chosen from the empire, but he would tell his allies that the
dominions and India required separate representation at the Peace Con-
ference. It was one of the first issues he raised when he arrived in Paris on
January 12, 1919. The Americans and the French were cool, seeing only
British puppets—and extra British votes. When Lloyd George extracted a
grudging offer that the dominions and India might have one delegate
each, the same as Siam and Portugal, that only produced fresh cries of
outrage from his empire colleagues. After all their sacrifices, they said, it
was intolerable that they should be treated as minor powers. A reluctant
Lloyd George persuaded Clemenceau and Wilson to allow Canada, Aus-
tralia, South Africa and India to have two plenipotentiaries each and New
Zealand one.?

The British were taken aback by the new assertiveness in their empire.
“It was very inconvenient,” said one diplomat. “What was the Foreign Of-
fice to do?” Lloyd George, who had been for home rule in principle, dis-
covered that the reality could be awkward, when, for example, Hughes
said openly in the Supreme Council that Australia might not go to war the
next time Britain did. (The remark was subsequently edited out of the
minutes, but South Africa raised the question again.) Britain’s allies
watched this with a certain amount of satisfaction. They might be able to
use the dominions against the British, the French realized with pleasure,
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when it came to drawing up the German peace terms. House took an even
longer-term view: separate representation for the dominions and India in
the Peace Conference, and in new international bodies such as the League
of Nations and the International Labour Organization, could only hurry
along “the eventual disintegration of the British Empire.” Britain would
end up back where it started, with only its own islands.

It was a British empire delegation (and the name was a victory in itself
for the fractious dominions) that Lloyd George led to Paris. With well
over four hundred officials, special advisers, clerks and typists, it occupied
five hotels near the Arc de Triomphe. The largest, and the social center,
was the Hotel Majestic, in prewar days a favorite with rich Brazilian
women on clothes-buying trips. To protect against spies (French rather
than German), the British authorities replaced all the Majestic’s staff, even
the chefs, with imports from British hotels in the Midlands. The food be-
came that of a respectable railway hotel: porridge and eggs and bacon in
the mornings, lots of meat and vegetables at lunch and dinner and bad
coffee all day. The sacrifice was pointless, Nicolson and his colleagues
grumbled, because all their offices, full of confidential papers, were in the
Hoétel Astoria, where the staff was still French.?

Security was something of an obsession with the British. Their letters
to and from London went by a special service that bypassed the French
post office. Detectives from Scotland Yard guarded the front door at the
Majestic, and members of the delegation had to wear passes with their
photographs. They were urged to tear up the contents of their wastepaper
baskets into tiny pieces; it was well known that at the Congress of Vienna,
Prince Talleyrand, the French foreign minister, had negotiated so success-
fully because his agents assiduously collected discarded notes from the
other delegations. Wives were allowed to take meals in the Majestic but
not to stay—yet another legacy of the Congress of Vienna, where, accord-
ing to official memory, they had been responsible for secrets leaking out.”

Lloyd George chose to stay in a luxurious flat in the Rue Nitot, an
alleyway that had once been the haunt of ragpickers. Decorated with won-
derful eighteenth-century English paintings—Gainsboroughs, Hoppners
and Lawrences—the flat had been lent him by a rich Englishwoman. With
him he had Philip Kerr and Frances Stevenson, as well as his youngest
daughter and favorite child, the sixteen-year-old Megan. Frances was her
chaperone, or perhaps it was the other way around. Balfour lived one floor
above and in the evenings he could hear the sounds of Lloyd George’s
favorite Welsh hymns and black spirituals drifting up.*

At the Majestic each inhabitant was given a book of house rules. Meals
were at set hours. Drinks had to be paid for unless, and this was a matter
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for bitter comment, you came from one of the dominions or India, in
which case the British government footed the bill. Coupons were avail-
able, but cash was also accepted. There was to be no running up of ac-
counts. Members of the delegation were not to cook in their rooms or
damage the furniture. They must not keep dogs. A doctor (a distinguished
obstetrician, according to Nicolson) and three nurses were on duty in the
sick bay. A billiard room and a jardin d’hiver were available in the basement
for recreation. So were a couple of cars, which could be booked ahead.
There was a warning here: windows had already been broken “through
violent slamming of doors.” There was another warning too: “All mem-
bers of the Delegation should bear in mind that telephone conversations
will be overheard by unauthorised persons.”?

“Very like coming to school for the first time” was the opinion of one
new arrival. “Hanging about in the hall, being looked at by those already
arrived as ‘new kids,” picking out our baggage, noting times for meals, etc.,
to-morrow—very amusing.”® If the British were the masters and the ma-
trons, the Canadians were the senior prefects, a little bit serious perhaps,
but reliable; the South Africans were the new boys, good at games and
much admired for their sporting instincts; the Australians the cheeky
ones, always ready to break bounds; the New Zealanders and Newfound-
landers the lower forms; and then, of course, the Indians, nice chaps in
spite of the color of their skin, but whose parents were threatening to pull
them out and send them to a progressive school.

The Canadians, well aware that they were from the senior dominion,
were led by Borden, upright and handsome. They took a high moral tone
(not for the first time in international relations), saying repeatedly that
they wanted nothing for themselves. But with food to sell and a hungry
Europe at hand, the Canadian minister of trade managed to get agree-
ments with France, Belgium, Greece and Rumania. The Canadians were
also caught up in the general feeling that borders had suddenly become
quite fluid. They chatted away happily with the Americans about ex-
changing the Alaska panhandle for some of the West Indies or possibly
British Honduras. Borden also spoke to Lloyd George about the possibil-
ity of Canada’s taking over the administration of the West Indies.*!

The main Canadian concern, however, was to keep on good terms
with the United States and to bring it together with Britain. Part of this
was self-interest: a recurring nightmare in Ottawa was that Canada might
find itself fighting on the side of Britain and its ally Japan against the
United States. Part was genuine conviction that the great Anglo-Saxon
powers were a natural alliance for good. If the League of Nations did not
work out, Borden suggested to Lloyd George, they should work for a
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union between “the two great English speaking commonwealths who
share common ancestry, language and literature, who are inspired by like
democratic ideals, who enjoy similar political institutions and whose
united force is sufficient to ensure the peace of the world.”**

South Africa had two outstanding figures: its prime minister, General
Louis Botha, who was overweight and ailing, and Jan Smuts. Enthusiastic
supporters of the League and moderate when it came to German peace
terms, they nevertheless had one issue on which they would not compro-
mise: Germany’s African colonies. Smuts, who helped to draw up Brit-
ain’s territorial demands, argued that Britain must keep East Africa (what
later became Tanganyika and still later part of Tanzania) so that it could
have the continuous chain of colonies from south to north Africa which
the Germans had so inconveniently blocked. He also spoke as a South
African imperialist. His country must keep German Southwest Africa
(today’s Namibia). Perhaps, he suggested, Portugal could be persuaded to
swap the southern part of its colony of Mozambique on the east side of
Africa for a bit of German East Africa. South Africa would then be a nice
compact shape with a tidy border drawn across the tip of the continent.®

Australia was not moderate on anything. Its delegation was led by its
prime minister, Billy Hughes, a scrawny dyspeptic who lived on tea and
toast. A fighter on the Sydney docks, where he became a union organizer,
and a veteran of the rough-and-tumble of Australian politics, Hughes
made Australia’s policies in Paris virtually on his own. He was hot-
tempered, idiosyncratic and deaf, both literally and figuratively, to argu-
ments he did not want to hear. Among his own people, he usually listened
only to Keith Murdoch, a young reporter whom he regarded as something
of a son. Murdoch, who had written a report criticizing the British han-
dling of the landings at Gallipoli, where Australian troops had been
slaughtered, shared Hughes’s skepticism about British leadership. (Mur-
doch’s own son Rupert later carried on the family tradition of looking at
the British with a critical eye.) On certain issues, Hughes probably spoke
for public opinion back home: he wanted leeway to annex the Pacific is-
lands which Australia had captured from Germany, and nothing in the
League covenant that would undermine the White Australia policy, which
let white immigrants in and kept the rest out.**

Lloyd George, always susceptible to the Welsh card, which Hughes
played assiduously, generally found the Australian prime minister amus-
ing. So did Clemenceau. He thought that Hughes, who stood for firmness
with Germany, would be a good friend to France. Most people found
Hughes impossible. Wilson considered him “a pestiferous varmint.”
Hughes in return loathed Wilson: he sneered at the League and jeered at
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Wilson’s principles. New Zealand shared Australia’s reservations about
the League, although less loudly, and it, too, wanted to annex some Pacific
islands. Its prime minister, William Massey, was, according to one Cana-
dian, “as thick headed and John Bullish as his appearance would lead one
to expect and sidetracked the discussion more than once.”?

Then there was India. (It was always “the dominions and India” in the
official documents.) India had been included in the Imperial War Cabinet
along with the self-governing dominions thanks to its participation in the
war. But its delegation did not look like that of an independent nation. It
was headed by the secretary of state for India, Edwin Montagu, and the
two Indian members, Lord Satyendra Sinha and the Maharajah of Bika-
ner, were chosen for their loyalty. In spite of the urgings of various Indian
groups, the Indian government had not appointed any of the new Indian
nationalist leaders. And in India itself, Gandhi’s transformation of the
Indian National Congress into a mass political movement demanding
self-government was rapidly making all the debate about how to lead India
gently toward a share of its own government quite academic.

The British were to find the presence of so many dominion statesmen
in Paris a mixed blessing. While Borden faithfully represented the British
case in the committee dealing with the borders of Greece and Albania,
and Australia did the same with respect to Czechoslovakia, it was not quite
such smooth sailing when the dominions had something at stake. Lloyd
George had already confronted his Allies on behalf of his dominions and
he would have to confront them again. It was not a complication he
needed as the laborious negotiations began.
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We Are the League of the People

N JANUARY 12, the day after his arrival in Paris, Lloyd George met

Clemenceau, Wilson and the Italian prime minister, Vittorio Or-
lando, at the French Foreign Ministry on the Quai d’Orsay for the first of
well over a hundred meetings. Each man brought his foreign secretary and
a bevy of advisers. The following day, in deference to British wishes, two
Japanese representatives joined the group. This became the Council of
Ten, although most people continued to refer to it as the Supreme Coun-
cil. The smaller allies and neutrals were not invited, an indication of what
was to come. At the end of March, as the Peace Conference reached its
crucial struggles, the Supreme Council was to shed the foreign ministers
and the Japanese to become the Council of Four: Lloyd George, Clemen-
ceau, Wilson and Orlando.

The great staterooms at the Quai d’Orsay have survived the passage of
time and a later German occupation surprisingly well. They were given
their present shape in the middle of the nineteenth century, when Napo-
leon III ruled a France that still dreamed of being a great world power.
Important visitors still go in the formal entrance overlooking the Seine,
past the massive branching staircase which leads up to the private apart-
ments, and into the series of reception rooms and offices with their par-
quet floors, Aubusson carpets and massive fireplaces. Huge windows
stretch up toward the high decorated ceilings and elaborate chandeliers.
The heavy tables and chairs stand on fat gilded legs. The predominant col-
ors are gold, red and ebony.

The Supreme Council met in the inner sanctum, the office of France’s
foreign minister, Stéphen Pichon. Today it is white and gilt; in 1919 it was
darker. The same carved-wood paneling still decorates the walls, and the



54 A NEW WORLD ORDER

faded seventeenth-century tapestries still hang above the paneling. The
double doors open out to a rotunda and there is still a rose garden beyond.
Clemenceau, as the host, presided from an armchair in front of the hearth
with its massive log fire. His colleagues, each with a little table for his pa-
pers, faced him from the garden side, the British and Americans side by
side, then the Japanese and the Italians off in a corner. Wilson, as the only
head of state, had a chair a few inches higher than anyone else’s. The
prime ministers and foreign ministers had high-backed, comfortable
chairs, and in clusters behind them were the lesser advisers and secretaries
on little gilt chairs.

The Supreme Council rapidly developed its own routine. It met once,
sometimes twice, occasionally three times a day. There was an agenda of
sorts, but the council also dealt with issues as they came up. It heard peti-
tioners, a procession that did not end until the conference’s conclusion.
As the afternoons closed in, the green silk curtains were drawn and the
electric lights were switched on. The room was usually very hot, but the
French reacted with horror to any suggestion of opening a window. Cle-
menceau slouched in his chair, frequently looking at the ceiling, with a
bored expression; Wilson fidgeted, getting up from time to time to stretch
his legs; Lansing, his foreign minister, who had little enough to do, made
caricatures; Lloyd George chatted in a loud undertone, making jokes and
comments. The official interpreter, Paul Mantoux, interpreted from
French to English and back again, throwing himself into each speech with
such verve that one might have thought he was himself begging for terri-
tory. Since Clemenceau spoke English well and the Italian foreign minis-
ter, Sidney Sonnino, spoke it reasonably, conversations among the Big
Four were often in English. The assistants tiptoed about with maps and
documents. Every afternoon the doors opened and footmen carried in tea
and macaroons. Wilson was surprised and somewhat shocked at first that
they should interrupt discussing the future of the world for such a trivial
event, but, as he told his doctor, he realized that this was a foreign custom
that he might as well accept.!

From their first meeting, the men on the Supreme Council knew that
as their armed forces demobilized, their power was shrinking. “Three
hundred and twelve thousand will be sent this month,” the commander
of the American forces in Europe, General Pershing, told House that
spring. “The record last month was 300,000. At this rate all our troops will
be in the United States by August 15.”? The peacemakers had to impose
peace terms on the enemy while they could. Meanwhile, they had to worry
about issues at home that had been postponed during the war. They were
also racing, or so they believed, against another sort of enemy. Hunger,
disease—typhoid, cholera and the dreadful influenza—revolutionary in-
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surrections in one city after another, and small wars, some dozen of them
in 1919 alone, all threatened to finish off what was left of European society.

It was already two months since the end of the war, and people were
wondering why so little had been accomplished. Part of the reason was
that the Allies were not really ready for the sudden end of the fighting.
Nor could they have been. All their energies had been devoted to winning
the war. “What had we to do with peace,” wrote Winston Churchill,
“while we did not know whether we should not be destroyed? Who could
think of reconstruction while the whole world was being hammered to
pieces, or of demobilisation when the sole aim was to hurl every man and
every shell into battle?” Foreign offices, it is true, colonial ministries and
war offices had dusted off old goals and drawn up new demands while the
fighting went on. There had been attempts to think seriously about the
peace: the British special inquiry, established in 1917, the French Comité
d’Etudes and the most comprehensive of all, the American Inquiry, set up
in September 1917 under House’s supervision. To the dismay of the pro-
fessional diplomats, they had called on outside experts, from historians to
missionaries, and had produced detailed studies and maps. The Ameri-
cans had produced sixty separate reports on the Far East and the Pacific
alone, which contained much useful information as well as such insights
as that, in India, “a great majority of the unmarried consist of very young
children.” The Allied leaders had not paid much attention to any of their
own studies.

In the first week of the Peace Conference, the Supreme Council spent
much time talking about procedures. The British Foreign Office had pro-
duced a beautiful diagram in many colors of a hexagon within which the
conference, its committees and subcommittees fitted together in perfect
symmetry, while outside, the Allies’ own committees floated like minor
planets. Lloyd George burst out laughing when it was shown to him. The
French circulated a detailed agenda with lists of guiding principles and
problems to be addressed, ranked in order of importance. Since the settle-
ment with Germany came first and the League of Nations barely rated a
mention, Wilson, with support from Lloyd George, rejected it. (Tardieu,
its author, saw this as “the instinctive repugnance of the Anglo-Saxons to
the systematized constructions of the Latin mind.”*)

The Supreme Council managed to choose a secretary, Henri Dutasta, a
Jjunior French diplomat who was rumored to be Clemenceau’s illegitimate
son. (The extraordinarily efticient British official, Hankey, who became
the deputy secretary, soon took over most of the work.) After much wran-
gling it was decided that French and English would both be the official lan-
guages for documents. The French argued for their own language alone,
ostensibly on the grounds that it was more precise and at the same time
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capable of greater nuance. French, they said, had been the language of in-
ternational communication and diplomacy for centuries. The British and
the Americans pointed out that English was increasingly supplanting it.
Lloyd George said that he would always regret that he did not know French
better (he scarcely knew it at all), but it seemed absurd that English, spo-
ken by more than 170 million people, should not have equal status with
French. The Italians said, in that case, why not Italian as well? “Other-
wise,” said Sonnino, “it would look as if Italy was being treated as an infe-
rior by being excluded.” In that case, said Lloyd George, why not Japanese
as well? The Japanese delegates, who tended to have trouble following the
debates whether they were in French or English, remained silent. Cle-
menceau backed down, to the consternation of many of his own ofticials.

In December the French Foreign Ministry had sent out invitations to
every country, from Liberia to Siam, that could claim, however improba-
bly, to be on the Allied side. By January there were twenty-nine countries
represented in Paris, all expecting to take part. How would their role be
defined? Would they all sit together, with the British empire having the
same vote as Panama? None of the Great Powers wanted that, but where
Clemenceau was willing to start the delegates from the lesser powers on
relatively harmless questions such as international waterways, Wilson
preferred as little structure as possible. “We ought to have,” he said, “no
tormal Conferences but only conversations.” Clemenceau found this ex-
asperating: if the Allies waited until they had agreed on all the main issues,
it would be months before the Peace Conference proper could begin, and
public opinion would be very disappointed. Anyway, he added, they had
to give all the other powers, who were assembling in Paris, something to
do. Lloyd George proposed a compromise, as he was to do on many oc-
casions: there would be a plenary session at the end of the week; in the
meantime, the Supreme Council would get on with other matters.®

The members of the Supreme Council, even Wilson, had no intention
of relinquishing control of the conference agenda, which promised to
be huge. The rejected French list included the League of Nations, Polish
affairs, Russian affairs, Baltic nationalities, states formed from the late
Austro-Hungarian monarchy, the Balkans; the Far East and the Pacific,
Jewish affairs, international river navigation, international railways, legis-
lation to guarantee people’s self-determination; protection for ethnic and
religious minorities, international legislation on patents and trademarks,
penalties for crimes committed during the war, reparations for war dam-
ages and economic and financial questions. The list was prescient.’

The Supreme Council also faced intense scrutiny from the public. In
the weeks leading up to the start of the proceedings, hundreds of journal-
ists had arrived in Paris. The French government created a lavish press
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club, in a millionaire’s house. The press, men mainly but also including a
handful of women, such as the great American muckraker Ida Tarbell,
were ungrateful. They sneered at the vulgarity of the décor, and the
Americans nicknamed it “The House of a Thousand Teats.” More impor-
tant, the press complained about the secrecy of the proceedings. Wilson
had talked in his Fourteen Points about “open covenants openly arrived
at.” As with many of his catchphrases, its meaning was not clear, perhaps
not even to Wilson himself, but it caught the public imagination.?

Wilson certainly meant there should be no more secret treaties, such as
those that he and many others saw as one of the causes of the Great War,
but did he mean that all the negotiations would be open for public
scrutiny? That is what many of the journalists and their readers expected.
Press representatives demanded the right to attend the meetings of the
Supreme Council, or at least get daily summaries of their discussions. He
had always fought for the freedom of the press, Clemenceau told his aide
General Mordacq, but there were limits. It would be “a veritable suicide”
to let the press report on the day-to-day discussions of the Supreme
Council. If that were to happen, Lloyd George commented, the Peace
Conference would go on forever. He proposed that they release a state-
ment to the press, saying that the process of reaching decisions among the
powers was going to be long and delicate, and that they had no wish to stir
up unnecessary controversy by publicizing their disagreements. Wilson
agreed. American journalists complained bitterly to Baker, Wilson’s press
adviser, who went, according to one, pale with anxiety. Wilson, they told
him, was a hypocrite and a naive one at that. Lloyd George and Clemen-
ceau, safe from the spotlight of public scrutiny, would tie him in knots.
The journalists threatened to leave Paris, but few did.’

The lesser powers were also full of complaints and demands. Portugal,
which had contributed 60,000 soldiers to the Western Front, thought it
was outrageous that it should have only one official delegate while Brazil,
which had sent a medical unit and some aviators, had three. Britain sup-
ported Portugal, an old ally, the United States Brazil. Recognition in Paris,
the center of world power, was important for established states, and cru-
cial for what the peacemakers christened “states in process of formation.”
With the collapse of Russia, and the disintegration of Austria-Hungary
and the Ottoman empire, there were many of these. Just standing in front
of the Supreme Council to present a case was validation of a sort—and
good for reputations back home.!

For the next five months, until the signing of the German treaty in June at
Versailles, Paris housed a virtual world government. “We are the league of
the people,” said Clemenceau the day before that momentous ceremony.
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Wilson replied, “We are the State.” And even in those very first meetings,
the members of the Supreme Council were starting to act as a cabinet,
within a representative system of government. Indeed, it was an analogy
that they themselves used."

Paris may have housed a world government, but that government’s
power was never as great as most people, both then and since, have as-
sumed. By the time the Supreme Council first met on January 12, Poland
had been re-created, Finland and the Baltic states were well on their way
to independence and Czechoslovakia had been pieced together. In the
Balkans, Serbia had joined with Austria-Hungary’s South Slav territories
of Croatia and Slovenia. The new entity did not yet have a name but some
people were talking of a Yugoslav state. “The task of the Parisian Treaty-
makers,” Lloyd George commented, “was not to decide what in fairness
should be given to the liberated nationalities, but what in common hon-
esty should be freed from their clutches when they had overstepped the
bounds of self-determination.”"?

But what were those bounds? There was no clear answer—or rather,
every competing nationality had a different answer. “You see those little
holes?” a local asked an American visitor to Lvov, on the disputed borders
between Russia and Poland. “We call them here ‘Wilson’s Points.” They
have been made with machine guns; the big gaps have been made with
hand grenades. We are now engaged in self-determination, and God
knows what and when the end will be.” At its first meetings the Supreme
Council had to deal with fighting between Poland and its neighbors.
When the Peace Conference officially ended a year later, the fighting was
still going on, there and elsewhere. Tasker Bliss, the American military ad-
viser, wrote gloomily to his wife from Paris predicting another thirty years
of war in Europe. “The ‘submerged nations’ are coming to the surface and
as soon as they appear, they fly at somebody’s throat. They are like mos-
quitoes—vicious from the moment of their birth.”"

It is tempting but misleading to compare the situation in 1919 to that in
1945. In 1919 there were no superpowers, no Soviet Union with its mil-
lions of soldiers occupying the center of Europe and no United States
with its huge economy and its monopoly of the atomic bomb. In 1919, the
enemy states were not utterly defeated. The peacemakers talked expan-
sively about making and unmaking nations, but the clay was not as mal-
leable and the strength to mold it not as great as they liked to think. Of
course, the peacemakers had considerable power. They still had armies
and navies. They had the weapon of food if they chose to use it against a
starving Europe. They could exert influence by threats and promises, to
grant or withhold recognition, for example. They could get out the maps
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and move borders this way or that, and most of the time their decisions
would be accepted—but not always, as the case of Turkey was to show in
spectacular fashion. The ability of the international government in Paris
to control events was limited by such factors as distance, usable trans-
portation and available forces—and by the unwillingness of the Great
Powers to expend their resources.

In 1919 the limits were not yet clear—to the peacemakers themselves,
or to the world. Consequently, many people believed that, if only they
could catch the attention of the Supreme Council, past wrongs would be
righted and their futures assured. A young kitchen assistant at the Ritz
sent in a petition asking for independence from France for his little coun-
try. Ho Chi Minh—and Vietnam—were too obscure even to receive an
answer. A Korean graduate of Princeton University tried to get to Paris
but was refused a passport. After the Second World War, Syngman Rhee
became the president of a newly independent South Korea.'*

Women’s suffrage societies met in Paris, chaired by the formidable
Englishwoman Millicent Fawcett, and passed resolutions asking for repre-
sentation at the Peace Conference and votes for women. Wilson, who had
a certain sympathy for their cause, met their delegation and talked vaguely
but encouragingly about a special commission of the conference, with
women members, to look into women’s issues. In February, just before he
left on a short trip back to the United States, he hesitantly asked his fellow
peacemakers whether they would support this. Balfour said he was a
strong supporter of votes for women but he did not think they should be
dealing with such a matter. Clemenceau agreed. The Italians said it was a
purely domestic issue. As Clemenceau whispered loudly, “What’s the little
chap saying?,” the Japanese delegate expressed appreciation for the great
part women had played in civilization but commented that the suffrage
movement in Japan was scarcely worth notice. The matter was dropped,
never to be taken up again.’”

The peacemakers soon discovered that they had taken on the adminis-
tration of much of Europe and large parts of the Middle East. Old ruling
structures had collapsed and Allied occupation forces and Allied represen-
tatives were being drawn in to take their place. There was little choice; if
they did not do it, no one would—or, worse, revolutionaries might. The
men on the spot did what they could. In Belgrade, a British admiral
scraped together a small fleet of barges and sent them up and down the
Danube carrying food and raw materials. He brought about a modest re-
vival in trade and industry, often in the face of obstruction from the dif-
ferent governments along the river, but it was a stopgap measure. As he
told Paris, the long-term solution was international control of the Danube
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and the other great European waterways. There were other schemes and
other enthusiasts, but was there the political will? Or the money?'®

The economic responsibilities alone were daunting. The war had dis-
rupted the world’s economy and it would not be easy to get it going again.
The European nations had borrowed huge amounts of money—in the
case of the Allies, increasingly from the United States. Now they found
it almost impossible to get the credit to finance their reconstruction and
the revival of trade. The war had left factories unusable, fields untilled,
bridges and railway lines destroyed. There were shortages of fertilizer,
seeds, raw materials, shipping, locomotives. Europe still depended largely
on coal for its fuel, but the mines in France, Belgium, Poland and Ger-
many were flooded. The emergence of new nations in central Europe
further damaged what was left of the old trading and transportation net-
works. In Vienna, the electric lights flickered and the trams stopped run-
ning because the coal which had once come from the north was now
blocked by a new border.

From all quarters of Europe, from officials and private relief agencies,
alarming reports came in: millions of unemployed men, desperate house-
wives feeding their families on potatoes and cabbage soup, emaciated chil-
dren. In that first cold winter of the peace, Herbert Hoover, the American
relief administrator, warned the Allies that some 200 million people in the
enemy countries and almost as many again among the victors and the neu-
tral nations faced famine. Germany alone needed 200,000 tons of wheat
per month and 70,000 tons of meat. Throughout the territories of the old
Austria-Hungary, hospitals had run out of bandages and medicines. In the
new Czechoslovak state, a million children were going without milk. In
Vienna, more babies were dying than were surviving. People were eating
coal dust, wood shavings, sand. Relief workers invented names for things
they had never seen before, such as the mangel-wurzel disease, which af-
flicted those who lived solely on beets."

The humanitarian case for doing something was unanswerable. So was
the political one. “So long as hunger continued to gnaw,” Wilson warned
his colleagues, “the foundations of government would continue to crum-
ble.”® They had the resources. The Canadians, Australians, New Zealand-
ers and the Americans all had surplus food and raw materials which they
were eager to sell. The ships could be found to carry them. But where was
the money to come from? Germany had gold reserves, but the French,
who were determined those should go toward reparations, did not want to
see them used up financing imports. The European Allies could not fi-
nance relief on the scale that was needed, and the defeated nations, except
Germany, were bankrupt. That left the United States, but Congress and
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the American public were torn between an impulse to help and a sense that
the United States had done enough in winning the war. After the Second
World War, their mood was very much the same, but with a crucial differ-
ence: in place of the diffuse threat of revolution there was a single clear
enemy, in the Soviet Union. The equivalent of the Marshall Plan, which
contributed so much to the revival of Europe in those circumstances, was
not possible in 1919.

The United States, moreover, did not have the preponderance of
power that it had after the Second World War. Its European allies were not
exhausted and desperate, prepared to take American aid, even at the price
of accepting American suggestions. In 1919, they still saw themselves as,
and indeed were, independent actors in world affairs. Before the war
ended, Britain, France and Italy drew up a plan for pooling Allied credit,
food, raw materials and ships to undertake relief and reconstruction
under an inter-Allied board. The Americans resisted. They suspected that
their allies wanted to control the distribution of resources, even though
the bulk would come from the United States, as a lever to pressure the
enemy states into accepting peace terms. When Wilson insisted that Hoo-
ver be placed in charge of Allied relief administration, the Europeans
objected. Hoover, Lloyd George complained, would become the “food
dictator of Europe” and American businessmen would take the opportu-
nity to move in. The Europeans only gave way reluctantly, and did their
best to make Hoover’s job difficult.!”

To Wilson, as to many Americans, Hoover was a hero, a poor orphan
who had worked his way through Stanford University to become one of
the world’s leading engineers. During the war he had organized a massive
relief program for German-occupied Belgium, and when the United
States became a belligerent in 1917 he took charge of saving food for the
war effort. “I can Hooverize on dinner,” said Valentine cards. “But I’ll
never learn to Hooverize, When it comes to loving you.” He was efficient,
hardworking and humorless. Lloyd George found him tactless and
brusque. The Europeans resented his reminders that the United States
was supplying the bulk of Europe’s relief and the way in which he pro-
moted American economic interests, unloading, for example, stockpiled
American pork products and severely undercutting European producers.?’

Although the Allies had a number of economic agencies, supervised
loosely by the Supreme Economic Council, Hoover’s food and relief sec-
tion was by far the most effective. With $100 million from the United
States and about $62 million from Britain, he established offices in thirty-
two countries, opened soup kitchens that fed millions of children, and
moved tons of food, clothes and medical supplies into the hardest-hit
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areas. By the spring of 1919, Hoover’s organization was running railways
and supervising mines. It had its own telegraph network. It waged war on
lice, with thousands of hair clippers, tons of soap, special baths and sta-
tions manned by American soldiers. Travelers who did not have a “de-
loused” certificate were seized and disinfected. In the summer of 1919
Hoover infuriated the Europeans yet again. He argued that the United
States had done enough; it was now up to the Europeans. With hard work,
austerity and savings they should be all right. His views met with approval
in an increasingly isolationist Washington, and American aid and loans fell
off sharply.?!

In fact, it took Europe until 1925 to get back to prewar levels of pro-
duction; in some areas, recovery was much slower. Many governments re-
sorted to such measures as borrowing, budget deficits and trade controls
to keep their countries afloat. Europe’s economy as a whole remained
tragile, adding to political strains at home in the 1920s and tensions abroad
as governments turned to protectionist measures. Perhaps with American
money and European cooperation a stronger Europe could have been
built, more able to resist the challenges of the 1930s.
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Russia

N JANUARY 18, 1919, the Peace Conference officially opened.

Clemenceau made sure that the opening took place on the anniver-
sary of the coronation in 1871 of Wilhelm I as kaiser of the new Germany.
To the delegates assembled in the sumptuous Salle d’Horloge at the Quai
d’Orsay, President Poincaré spoke of the wickedness of their enemies, the
great sacrifices of the Allies and the hopes for a lasting peace. “You hold in
your hands,” he told them, “the future of the world.” As they walked out,
Balfour turned to Clemenceau and apologized for his top hat. “I was told,”
he said, “that it was obligatory to wear one.” “So,” replied Clemenceau, in
his bowler, “was 1.”!

Observers noticed some absences: the Greek prime minister, Venize-
los, annoyed that Serbia had more delegates than his own country; Bor-
den, the Canadian prime minister, offended that the prime minister
of little Newfoundland had been given precedence; and the Japanese,
who had not yet arrived. But the most striking absence of all was that of
Russia.

An Ally in 1914, Russia had probably saved France from defeat when it
attacked Germany on the Eastern Front. For three years, Russia had bat-
tled the Central Powers, inflicting huge losses but absorbing even more.
In 1917 it had finally cracked under the strain and, in eight months, had
gone from autocracy to liberal democracy to a revolutionary dictatorship
under a tiny extreme faction of Russian socialists, the Bolsheviks, whom
most people, including the Russians themselves, had never heard of. As
Russia collapsed, it spun oft parts of a great empire: the Baltic states,
Ukraine, Armenia, Georgia, Azerbaijan and Daghestan. The Allies had
sent in troops in a vain attempt to bolster their disintegrating ally against
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the Germans, but at the start of 1918 the Bolsheviks made peace with Ger-
many. The Allied soldiers remained on Russian soil, but to do what? Top-
ple the Bolsheviks and their Soviet regime? Support their heterogeneous
opponents, the royalists, liberals, anarchists, disillusioned socialists, na-
tionalists of various sorts?

In Paris it was not easy to tell what was happening in the east or who
was on which side. Stories drifted westward of a social order turned up-
side down, civil wars, nationalist uprisings, a cycle of atrocities, retribu-
tion and more atrocities: the last tsar and his family murdered and their
bodies thrown down a well; the mutilated body of a British naval attaché
lying unburied on a St. Petersburg street. Russian soldiers had shot their
officers, and sailors had commandeered their ships. Across the huge Rus-
sian countryside, peasants, driven by an ancient hunger for land, were kill-
ing their landlords. In the cities, teenagers swaggered with guns and the
poor crept out of their slums to occupy the great mansions. It was hard to
tell how much was true (most of it was) because Russia had become
an unknown land. The new regime was under a virtual blockade. The
powers had cut off trade with the Bolsheviks and had withdrawn their
diplomats by the summer of 1918. Almost all foreign newspaper corre-
spondents had gone by the start of 1919. The land routes were cut by
fighting. Telegrams took days or weeks, if they got through at all. By the
time the Peace Conference assembled, the only sure conduit for messages
was through Stockholm, where the Bolsheviks had a representative. Dur-
ing the conference, the peacemakers knew as much about Russia as they
did about the far side of the moon.? As Lloyd George put it: “We were, in
fact, never dealing with ascertained, or perhaps, even ascertainable facts.
Russia was a jungle in which no one could say what was within a few yards
of him.” His shaky grasp of geography did not help him; he thought
Kharkov (a city in the Ukraine) was the name of a Russian general.

Legally, perhaps, there was no need to invite Russian representatives.
That was Clemenceau’s view: Russia had betrayed the Allied cause, leav-
ing France to the mercy of the Germans.* The Bolshevik leader, Lenin, at
once a realist and a fanatic, had given away land and resources to Germany
at Brest-Litovsk (today Brest in Poland) in return for peace so that he
could conserve the vital spark from which the Marxist millennium would
come. Germany gained access to the materials it so desperately needed
and the chance to switch hundreds of thousands of its troops to the West-
ern Front. Lenin’s action, certainly for Clemenceau, released the Allies
from all their promises to Russia, including the promise of access to the
vital straits leading from the Black Sea to the Mediterranean.

On the other hand, Russia was technically still an Ally and still at war
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with Germany. After all, the Germans had been obliged to renounce the
Treaty of Brest-Litovsk, the peace treaty they had signed with Russia,
when they made their own armistice in November 1918. In any case, Rus-
sia’s absence was inconvenient. “In the discussions,” wrote a young Brit-
ish adviser in his diary, “everything inevitably leads up to Russia. Then
there is a discursive discussion; it is agreed that the point at issue cannot be
determined until the general policy towards Russia has been settled; hav-
ing agreed to this, instead of settling it, they pass on to some other sub-
ject.” Finland, the emerging Baltic states of Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania,
Poland, Rumania, Turkey and Persia all came up at the Peace Conference,
but their borders could not finally be set until the future shape and status
of Russia were clear.

The issue of Russia came up repeatedly during the Peace Conference.
Baker, later an apologist for Wilson, claimed that Russia and the fear
of Bolshevism shaped the peace. “Russia,” he cried, “played a more vital
part at Paris than Prussia!” This, like much of what he has to say, is non-
sense. The peacemakers were far more concerned with making peace with
astill intact Germany and with getting Europe back onto a peacetime foot-
ing. They worried about Russia just as they worried about social unrest
closer to home, but they did not necessarily see the two as sides of the
same coin. Destroying the Bolsheviks in Russia would not magically re-
move the causes of unrest elsewhere. German workers and soldiers seized
power because the kaiser’s regime was discredited and bankrupt. Austria-
Hungary collapsed because it could no longer keep itself afloat and its
nationalities down. The Russian Revolution sometimes provided encour-
agement—and a vocabulary. “Bolshevism is having its day,” wrote Borden
in his diary, but he was talking about labor unrest, not revolution. “Bol-
shevism” (or its fellow, “communism”) was a convenient shorthand in
1919. As Bliss, Wilson’s military adviser, said, “If we replaced it by the
word ‘revolutionary,” perhaps that would be clearer.”®

Of course, the peacemakers were concerned about the spread of revo-
lutionary ideas, but not necessarily Russian ones. The survivors of the
Great War were weary and anxious. Apparently solid structures, empires,
their civil services and their armies, had melted away and in many parts of
Europe it was not clear what was to take their place. Europe had been a
place of unsatisfied longings before the war—of socialists hoping for a
better world, of labor for better conditions, of nationalists for their own
homes—and those longings emerged again with greater force because in
the fluid world of 1919 it was possible to dream of great change—or have
nightmares about the collapse of order. The Portuguese president was as-
sassinated. Later in 1919, in Paris, a madman would try to kill Clemenceau.



66 A NEW WORLD ORDER

In Bavaria and Hungary, communist governments took power, for a few
days in Munich, but much longer in Budapest. In Berlin in January, and
Vienna in June, communists tried, unsuccessfully, to do the same. Not
everything could be blamed on the Russian Bolsheviks.

Many, and not just those on the left, refused to panic. Over lunch in
the Hotel Majestic one day, a Canadian delegate, Oliver Mowat Biggar,
chatted cheerfully with a group that included Philip Kerr, Lloyd George’s
personal assistant. “The feeling of all of us was that money had too much
to say in the world—selfish money that is. The logical conclusion is com-
munism, and we shall no doubt all arrive there in a quarter of a century or
s0.” In the meantime, as Biggar wrote to his wife in Canada, he was having
awonderful time: Saturday evening dances at the Majestic, Faust and Mad-
ame Buiterfly at the Opéra, the music halls where he was struck, he told her,
by the beauty of the prostitutes. The French, he noted, certainly had dif-
ferent standards from Canadians. In one comic opera, the lead actress “had
nothing on above the hips except a few chains and in the other nothing on
either above or below except ribbons and shoes. As a dancer she was dis-
mal.” When his wife suggested that she come immediately from Canada to
join him, Biggar had serious reservations. Of course, he wanted to see her
but even now the flats in Paris were terribly expensive, and they had ap-
palling bathrooms. And he had been told, by a senior politician, that revo-
lution was about to sweep across Germany and possibly into France. There
would be serious shortages of food and fuel. The lights would go out, the
taps would run dry. “You must, however, make up your own mind to dis-
comfort with, very remotely, danger.” Mrs. Biggar remained in Canada.’

Bolshevism had its uses. When Rumania claimed the Russian province
of Bessarabia or Poland advanced into the Ukraine, it was to stop Bolshe-
vism. Italy’s delegates warned of revolution at home if they did not get
most of the Dalmatian coast. The peacemakers used it as a threat to cach
other. Germany, said Lloyd George and Wilson, would go Bolshevik if
they imposed too harsh a peace.

Western reactions to the new regime in Russia itself were deeply di-
vided. Lack of information did not, of course, prevent people from having
strong views. If anything, it made it easier. Both left and right projected
their own fears and hopes into the black hole in the east. The radical
American journalist Lincoln Steffens, who unusually actually got to Rus-
sia in 1919, crafted his famous “I have seen the future and it works” on the
journey out. Nothing he witnessed in Russia changed his mind. On the
right, every horror story was credited. The British government published
reports, allegedly from eyewitnesses, claiming that the Bolsheviks had
nationalized women and set them up in “commissariats of free love.”



RUSSIA 67

Churches had been turned into brothels. Special gangs of Chinese execu-
tioners had been imported to work their ancient Oriental skills on the
Bolsheviks’ victims.?

Churchill, Britain’s secretary of state for war during the Peace Confer-
ence, was one of the few to grasp that Lenin’s Bolshevism was something
new on the political scene, that beneath the Marxist rhetoric was a highly
disciplined, highly centralized party grasping at every lever of power it
could secure. Motivated by the distant goal of a perfect world, it did not
care what methods it used. “The essence of Bolshevism as opposed to
many other forms of visionary political thought,” Churchill asserted, “is
that it can only be propagated and maintained by violence.” Lenin and his
colleagues were prepared to destroy whatever stood in the way of that
vision, whether the institutions of Russian society or the Russians them-
selves. “Of all tyrannies in history,” Churchill told an audience in Lon-
don, “the Bolshevik tyranny is the worst, the most destructive, the most
degrading.” Lloyd George was unkind about Churchill’s motives: “His
ducal blood revolted against the wholesale elimination of Grand Dukes in
Russia.” Others, and they included many of his colleagues and the British
public, wrote Churchill off as erratic and unreliable. The shadow of the
disastrous Gallipoli campaign still hung over him, and his florid language
sounded hysterical. “Civilisation,” he said in an election speech in No-
vember 1918, “is being completely extinguished over gigantic areas, while
Bolsheviks hop and caper like troops of ferocious baboons amid the ruins
of cities and the corpses of their victims.” After one outburst in cabinet
Balfour told him coolly, “I admire the exaggerated way you tell the truth.”

While most Western liberals in 1919 were inclined to give the Bolshe-
viks the benefit of the doubt, the revolutionists’ seizure of power from
a democratically elected assembly, their murders—most notoriously of
the tsar and his family—and their repudiation of Russia’s foreign debts
shocked public opinion. (The French were particularly irritated by the
debt issue because a great many among the middle classes had bought
Russian government bonds.) But, as good liberals reminded themselves,
both the United States and France were the products of revolution. Wil-
son initially thought that Bolshevism was about curbing the power of big
business and big government to provide greater freedom for the individ-
ual. His personal doctor, Grayson, noted that Wilson found much to
approve of in the Bolshevik program: “Of course, he declared, their cam-
paign of murder, confiscation and complete disregard for law, merits the
utmost condemnation. However, some of their doctrines have been de-
veloped entirely through the pressures of the capitalists, who have dis-
regarded the rights of the workers everywhere, and he warned all of his
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colleagues that if the Bolsheviks should become sane and agree to a policy
of law and order they would soon spread all over Europe, overturning ex-
isting governments.” Progressive thinkers such as himself and Wilson,
said Lloyd George, thought that the old order—“inept, profligate and
tyrannical”—deserved what it had got: “it had been guilty of exactions and
oppressions which were accountable for the ferocity displayed by the Rev-
olutionaries.” There was still something, too, in Lloyd George of the bold
young solicitor in north Wales who had taken on the powerful local inter-
ests. “The trouble with the PM.,” Curzon complained to Balfour, “is that
he is a bit of a Bolshevist himself. One feels that he sees Trotsky as the
only congenial figure on the international scene.”™

The Russian Bolsheviks would, many believed, eventually settle down
and become bourgeois. If Bolshevik ideas were permeating Western soci-
eties, it was because people were fed up. Remove the causes of Bolshe-
vism, both Wilson and Lloyd George argued, and you would take away its
oxygen. Farmers without land, workers without jobs, ordinary men and
women without hope, all were fodder for visionaries promising the earth.
There was a dangerous gulf, said Wilson, even in his own country, be-
tween capital and labor. “Seeds need soil, and the Bolshevik seeds found
the soil already prepared for them.” They could defeat Bolshevism, he as-
sured the American experts on the voyage to Paris, by building a new
order. Lloyd George, too, was inclined to be optimistic. “Don’t you think
Bolshevism will die out of itself?” he asked a British journalist. “Europe is
very strong. It can resist it.” !

Lloyd George would have preferred to include Russia in the Peace
Conference. As he told Clemenceau at their meeting in London in De-
cember 1918, they could not proceed as if the country did not exist. He
had, he said, great sympathy for the Russian people. “Their troops had
fought without arms or munitions; they had been outrageously betrayed
by their Government, and it was little to be wondered at if; in their bitter-
ness, the Russian people had rebelled against the Alliance.” Russia was a
huge country, stretching from Europe to Asia, with almost 200 million
people. If the nations with claims on Russian territory were to be allowed
to come to Paris, then surely the Russians themselves deserved the right to
be heard. That might mean inviting the Bolsheviks. He did not like them,
Lloyd George told the Supreme Council, but could they refuse to recog-
nize them? “To say that we ourselves should pick the representatives of a
great people was contrary to every principle for which we had fought.”
The British government had made the same mistake after the French Rev-
olution, when it had backed the émigré aristocrats. “This,” Lloyd George
said dramatically, “led them into a war which lasted about twenty-five

years.”!?
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His arguments did not go down well with Clemenceau, who loathed
the Bolsheviks, partly because he saw them as tools of the Germans and
partly because he abhorred their methods. For Clemenceau revolution
was sublime when it was the one of 1789, despicable when it fell into the
hands of the Jacobins, with their Robespierres and Lenins, who used
the guillotine and the noose to create perfection. He had lived through the
mob violence and the bloody suppression of the radical Commune of
Paris at the end of the Franco-Prussian War. From that moment on he had
broken with the extreme left. In 1919 he, like the other Allied leaders, also
had to heed his own public opinion. If the Bolsheviks sent representatives
to Paris, he told Balfour in a private interview, the extreme radicals would
be encouraged and the middle classes would panic. There would be riot-
ing in the streets, which his government would have to put down with
force. That would not be a good atmosphere for the Peace Conference. If
his allies insisted on going ahead with such an invitation, Clemenceau
warned, he would be obliged to resign."

And did the Bolsheviks speak for all the Russian people? They
controlled only the core Russian lands, along with the great cities of
St. Petersburg (soon to become Leningrad) and Moscow. They faced rival
governments: that of the White Russians, as they were commonly known,
in the south, under General Anton Denikin, one of the better tsarist gen-
erals, and another in Siberia under Admiral Aleksandr Kolchak. In Paris
itself, Russian exiles, from conservatives to radicals, had formed the Rus-
sian Political Conference to speak for all non-Bolshevik Russians. Sergei
Sazonov, who had been a foreign minister under the tsar, found himself
working with Boris Savinkov, a famous terrorist. Sleek, fashionably
dressed, a gardenia in his buttonhole, Savinkov was much admired in
Paris. Lloyd George, who always liked efficiency, said: “His assassinations
had always been skilfully arranged and had been a complete success.”!*
Unfortunately, the Russian Political Conference got only grudging sup-
port from the rival governments of Denikin and Kolchak (which also
spent much time trying to outmaneuver each other) and none at all from
the Bolsheviks.

On January 16, Lloyd George brought the whole question of Russia
before the Supreme Council. It seemed to him that they had three
choices: first, to destroy Russian Bolshevism; second, to insulate the out-
side world from it; or third, to invite the Russians, Bolsheviks included, to
meet the peacemakers. They had already taken steps towards the first two
options: there were Allied soldiers on Russian soil, and the Allies had a
blockade on Russia. Neither of these appeared to be working. He himself
therefore preferred the last option. In fact, they could do the Russians a
good turn by persuading the different factions to talk to each other and try
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to work out a truce. It was, he said privately, what the Romans had done
when they sent for the barbarians and told them to behave.'

The peacemakers did not find it easy to make up their minds. There
were objections to each course of action. Intervention to overthrow the
Bolsheviks was risky and expensive; isolating Russia would hurt the Rus-
sian people; and bringing Bolshevik representatives to Paris or anywhere
else in the West ran the risk of giving them a chance to spread their mes-
sage, to say nothing of infuriating the conservatives. Wilson supported
Lloyd George. The French and Italian foreign ministers, Pichon and Son-
nino, demurred. At the least, suggested Pichon, they should listen to the
French and Danish ambassadors, who had just returned from Russia. The
two duly appeared, with alarming tales of the Red Terror, which Lloyd
George cavalierly dismissed as exaggerations.'® The Supreme Council
found itself unable to come to any decision.

Throughout the Peace Conference, Allied policy toward Russia re-
mained inconsistent and incoherent, not firm enough to overthrow the
Bolsheviks but sufficiently hostile to convince them, with unfortunate
consequences, that the Western powers were their implacable enemies.
Churchill, who begged repeatedly for a clear policy line from his own
government, was bitter in his memoirs about Allied indecision. “Were
they at war with Soviet Russia? Certainly not; but they shot Soviet Rus-
sians at sight. They stood as invaders on Russian soil. They armed the en-
emies of the Soviet Government. They blockaded its ports, and sunk its
battleships. They earnestly desired and schemed its downfall. But war—
shocking! Interference—shame!”!”

Churchill, of course, was for intervention. So was Marshal Ferdinand
Foch, the senior French soldier and Allied commander-in-chief. And so
were Tory members of Parliament in London and embittered French
investors. Against them were ranged an equally vociferous group: the
unions in solidarity with a working-class movement, humanitarians of
various stripes, and the pragmatists who, with the popular London Daily
Express, simply said, “We are sorry for the Russians, but they must fight it
out among themselves.”!®

That tended to be Wilson’s view. “I believe in letting them work out
their own salvation,” he told a British diplomat in Washington just before
the end of the war, “even though they wallow in anarchy for a while. I vis-
ualize it like this: A lot of impossible folk fighting among themselves. You
cannot do business with them, so you shut them all up in a room and lock
the door and tell them that when they have settled matters among them-
selves you will unlock the door and do business.” Wilson assumed that the
shape of the room would remain much the same. He did not contemplate,
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as the British sometimes did, the breakup of the Russian empire. Self-
determination, as he saw it, meant the Russian peoples running their own
huge country. The only exception he made, on the basis of the same prin-
ciple, was for Russia’s Polish territory, which he felt should be part of a re-
stored Poland. Curiously, he did not see Ukrainian nationalism in the same
light (possibly because his great Republican opponent Senator Henry
Cabot Lodge favored an independent Ukraine) and he staunchly resisted
Allied recognition of the Baltic states. Otherwise his policy toward Russia
was largely negative: nonintervention and nonrecognition. The sixth of
his Fourteen Points called for the evacuation of Russian territory by for-
eign armies (he had the Japanese in mind, in particular) so that the Russian
people could work out the institutions that best suited them. When the
Russians had sorted out who was governing them (he hoped that it would
not be the Bolsheviks), the United States would extend recognition. This,
Wilson liked to point out, was what the United States had done in the
Mexican civil war."”

The trouble was that the Allies had already intervened. In the spring of
1918, British troops had landed at the northern ports of Archangel and
Murmansk, and the Japanese had seized Vladivostok on the Pacific and
spread westward into Siberia to keep the Germans from getting their
hands on Russian raw materials such as grain and oil, as well as on ports,
railways and munitions. To keep an eye on the Japanese (and perhaps on
the British) and to protect a legion of Czechs who had got themselves
stuck in Siberia from Russian prisoner-of-war camps, the Americans had
reluctantly landed their own troops. (“I have been sweating blood,” Wil-
son complained to House that summer, “over the question of what is
right and feasible to do in Russia. . . . It goes to pieces like quicksilver
under my touch.”) The British then prevailed on the Canadians to supply
a force to balance the Americans and the Japanese. Down in the south an-
other British force moved into the oil-rich mountains of the Caucasus.
When, at the end of the war, Britain decided not only to keep its troops in
place but to offer support to anti-Bolshevik White Russians, it was quite
clear that an intervention that had started out against the Germans had
slipped into something quite different.?

The defeated Germany, on Allied instructions, started to pull its troops
out of the Ukraine and the Baltic states. The Allies struggled to fill the
vacuum. By the end of 1918, there were over 180,000 foreign troops on
Russian soil and several White Russian armies receiving Allied money and
Allied guns. People were starting to talk about a crusade against Bolshe-
vism. But there was strong opposition to any more military adventures.
The slogan from the left, “Hands Off Russia,” was gaining in popularity.
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If they were not careful, Lloyd George told his cabinet, they would spread
Bolshevism simply by trying to put it down. The prospect of being sent to
Russia was hugely unpopular among British and American soldiers. The
Canadians, who had been supplying troops for the Siberian expedition
and for Murmansk, wanted to pull out by the summer; there was “great
anxiety” over the issue in Canada, Borden told his colleagues in the Brit-
ish empire delegation.?!

The French, who talked a strong line on intervention, could actually
do very little. They did not have the manpower or the resources. Under
an agreement with Britain, France was in theory responsible for the
southern Ukraine and the Crimea, and Britain for the Caucasus and
central Asia. (What that meant, beyond supporting local anti-Bolshevik
forces, was never clearly spelled out.) But only a handful of French sol-
diers had arrived in Russia before the end of the war. The French general
in the Near East, Louis Franchet d’Esperey, complained bitterly, “I do not
have enough forces to settle into this country, all the more so since it
would not appeal to our men to experience Russia in winter when all their
comrades are resting.” His warnings were unwisely ignored.

The French government moved a mixed force, with French, Greek
and Polish troops, to the Black Sea port of Odessa. The expedition
promptly found itself fighting a heterogeneous collection of enemies,
from Bolsheviks to Ukrainian nationalists to anarchists. Morale plum-
meted during the long winter of 1918—19 and the Bolsheviks found easy
pickings when they sent in French speakers to work on the troops. As one
French officer reported, “not one French soldier who saved his head at
Verdun and the fields of the Marne will consent to losing it on the fields of
Russia.” In April 1919, the French authorities abruptly gave up what was
becoming a debacle and hastily pulled out, abandoning Odessa and its
people to the Bolsheviks. Civilians lined the waterfront, vainly begging
the French to take them with them. A smaller French expedition left the
Crimean port of Sebastopol in somewhat better order, taking with it some
40,000 Russians, including the mother of the murdered tsar. Two weeks
later the French Black Sea fleet mutinied.??

Although France remained vociferous in opposing the Bolsheviks and
their ways, it played no further part in the Allied intervention. Foch came
up with a series of increasingly improbable plans to march into Russia
with armies variously made up of Poles, Finns, Czechoslovaks, Rumani-
ans, Greeks and even the Russian prisoners of war still in Germany, all of
which came to nothing, partly because his cast of extras mostly refused
the parts assigned them, but also because of strong opposition from the
British and the Americans.?
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French policy became by default the second of the options Lloyd
George had outlined: to isolate Bolshevism within Russia. At the Peace
Conference and in subsequent years, France did its best to build up states
around Russia such as Poland to form, in the old medieval phrase, a cor-
don sanitaire around the carriers of the plague. This had the advantage,
even more important to the French, of providing counterweights to Ger-
many and a barrier in the unlikely event that Germany and Russia should
try to join forces. Foch and Churchill were among the few in Paris who
took that possibility seriously. Churchill warned about a future combina-
tion of a Bolshevik Russia with a nationalist Germany and Japan. “In the
ultimate result we could contemplate a predatory confederation stretch-
ing from the Rhine to Yokohama menacing the vital interests of the Brit-
ish Empire in India and elsewhere, menacing indeed the future of the
world.”?*

" “We should continue to keep an eye on them,” a weary Clemenceau
said of the Bolsheviks to Lloyd George at the end of 1919, “surrounding
them, as it were, by a barbed wire entanglement, and spending no money.”
Money was always a problem in 1919. Lloyd George tried to dampen
Churchill’s enthusiasm for intervention by reporting a conversation with
the chancellor of the exchequer, Austen Chamberlain: “We cannot afford
the burden. Chamberlain says we can barely make both ends meet on a
peace basis, even at the present crushing rate of taxation.” The British
spent perhaps £100 million on their Russian adventure; the French under
half that amount. “How much will France give?” asked Lloyd George
when the question of expanding military intervention came up in Febru-
ary 1919. “I am sure she cannot afford to pay; I am sure we cannot. Will
America bear the expense? Pin them down to the cost of any scheme be-
fore sanctioning it.”?

Much of the aid to the White Russians was being wasted through inef-
ficiency and corruption. Petty officials behind the lines took the uniforms
intended for the soldiers; their wives and daughters wore British nurses’
skirts. While Denikin’s trucks and tanks seized up in the cold, antifreeze
was sold in the bars. Although the Bolsheviks were later able to paint a
propaganda picture of world capitalism in all its might arrayed against
their revolution, in fact Allied help did very little to stave off White de-
feat.?®

The Allied intervention in Russia was always muddled by differing ob-
Jectives and mutual suspicions. The Americans were officially against in-
tervention, yet they kept their troops in Siberia after the end of the war, to
block Japanese designs. Where the French before 1914 had relied on a
strong Russia to keep Germany in line, the British had worried about the
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Russian threat to India. In 1919 France would have preferred a restored
White Russia, but Britain could have lived with a weak Red one. Curzon,
who loathed everything the Bolsheviks stood for, was delighted that the
Russians had lost control of the Caucasus; the British must, he told
Churchill, be careful that Denikin, the White Russian leader in the south,
did not get his hands on the area again. The British tended to be sus-
picious of French motives. The French government, complained Lloyd
George, was unreasonably swayed by its own middle classes, who had lost
their savings in Russia. “There is nothing they would like better,” he said,
“than to see us pull their chestnuts out of the fire for them.”*’

While the Allies dabbled fitfully with intervention in Russia, they also
explored the option favored by Lloyd George: that of negotiation. On
January 21, 1919, Wilson and Lloyd George suggested a compromise to
the Supreme Council. The Russians would be encouraged to agree on a
common position on the peace settlements for discussion with the Allies.
Since the French did not want the Bolsheviks to come to Paris, why not
meet them, along with other Russian representatives, somewhere nearer
Russia? As long as they refused to speak to the Bolsheviks, Wilson added,
the Russian people would believe Bolshevik propaganda that the Allies
were their enemies. Clemenceau, supported by Sonnino, objected that the
very act of speaking to the Bolsheviks would give them credibility. He was
not prepared to break with his Allies over this and so, reluctantly, he
would go along. Only Sonnino held out. They must, he urged, collect all
the White Russians together and give them enough soldiers or at least the
weapons to destroy the Bolsheviks. Lloyd George had a practical question.
How many soldiers could they each provide? There was an awkward
pause. None, came the answer. It was agreed to proceed with negotiations.
Wilson immediately sent for a typewriter. “We conjured up visions of a
beautiful American stenographer,” a British journalist recalled, but a mes-
senger appeared with Wilson’s battered old machine, and the president sat
in a corner tapping out an invitation. As Clemenceau left the room he
snarled to a waiting French journalist, “Beaten!”?

Wilson’s draft, which talked of the Allies’ sincere and unselfish desire
to help the Russian people, was duly sent to the representatives of the
major Russian factions, inviting them to meet on the Princes Islands—
Prinkipo—in the Sea of Marmara between the Black Sea and the Mediter-
ranean. The islands were a favorite picnic spot for the inhabitants of
Constantinople. They had also been used by the Turkish authorities just
before the war as a place to dump the city’s thousands of stray dogs; for
weeks, desperate barks and yaps had echoed back across the waters.
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An invitation was sent oft to the Bolsheviks by shortwave radio, and
Paris waited for a reply. It was difficult to gauge what the response would
be. Already the Bolsheviks had established what was to become a familiar
pattern of rudeness and civility, utmost hostility and grudging cooperation.
Lenin believed that the Russian Revolution would set fire to Europe, then
the world. Borders, flags, nationalism, the tools of a doomed capitalism for
keeping the workers of the world apart, would be swept away. His first
commissar for foreign affairs, the great revolutionary theorist Leon Trot-
sky, saw his new post as a simple one: “I will issue a few revolutionary
proclamations to the peoples of the world and then shut up shop.” (In an
unconscious parallel to Wilson’s call for open diplomacy, he had much fun
rummaging through the old tsarist files and publishing, to the considerable
embarrassment of the Allies, secret wartime agreements carving up, for ex-
ample, the Middle East.) The only question for Lenin and Trotsky was one
of tactics. If world revolution was going to happen immediately, there was
no need to deal with the enemy. If there was a delay, however, it might be-
come necessary to play off one capitalist nation against another. In 1917, the
Bolsheviks assumed the first was true; by 1919, even though Lenin sum-
moned a founding congress for a world revolutionary headquarters, the
Communist International, they were starting to have doubts.?

The Soviet foreign policy, which reflected this ambivalence, did much
to deepen the Allies’ suspicions. In October 1918 Georgi Chicherin, a di-
sheveled, obsessive scholar who had just replaced Trotsky as commissar
for foreign affairs, sent a sarcastic note to Wilson, mocking his cherished
principles. The Fourteen Points called for leaving Russia alone to work
out its own fate; curious, then, that Wilson had sent troops to Siberia. The
American talked of self-determination; how odd that he had not men-
tioned Ireland or the Philippines. He promised a League of Nations to
end all war; was this some sort of joke? Everyone knew that the capitalist
nations were responsible for creating wars. At that very moment, the
United States and its partners in crime Britain and France were plotting to
spill more Russian blood and extort more money from Russia. The only
true league was one of the masses.”

Yet the Bolsheviks also struck conciliatory notes. Maxim Litvinov,
Chicherin’s deputy, was smooth and agreeable. He had lived in London
for several years, eking out a living as a clerk and marrying a novelist, Ivy
Low, from the fringes of Bloomsbury. On Christmas Eve 1918, he sent
Wilson a telegram from Stockholm. It spoke of peace on earth, of justice
and humanity. The Russian people, Litvinov went on, shared Wilson’s
great principles. They had been the first to cry out for self-determination
and open diplomacy. All they wanted now was peace to build a better soci-
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Russian threat to India. In 1919 France would have preferred a restored
White Russia, but Britain could have lived with a weak Red one. Curzon,
who loathed everything the Bolsheviks stood for, was delighted that the
Russians had lost control of the Caucasus; the British must, he told
Churchill, be careful that Denikin, the White Russian leader in the south,
did not get his hands on the arca again. The British tended to be sus-
picious of French motives. The French government, complained Lloyd
George, was unreasonably swayed by its own middle classes, who had lost
their savings in Russia. “There is nothing they would like better,” he said,
“than to see us pull their chestnuts out of the fire for them.””’

While the Allies dabbled fitfully with intervention in Russia, they also
explored the option favored by Lloyd George: that of negotiation. On
January 21, 1919, Wilson and Lloyd George suggested a compromise to
the Supreme Council. The Russians would be encouraged to agree on a
common position on the peace settlements for discussion with the Allies.
Since the French did not want the Bolsheviks to come to Paris, why not
meet them, along with other Russian representatives, somewhere nearer
Russia? As long as they refused to speak to the Bolsheviks, Wilson added,
the Russian people would believe Bolshevik propaganda that the Allies
were their enemies. Clemenceau, supported by Sonnino, objected that the
very act of speaking to the Bolsheviks would give them credibility. He was
not prepared to break with his Allies over this and so, reluctantly, he
would go along. Only Sonnino held out. They must, he urged, collect all
the White Russians together and give them enough soldiers or at least the
weapons to destroy the Bolsheviks. Lloyd George had a practical question.
How many soldiers could they each provide? There was an awkward
pause. None, came the answer. It was agreed to proceed with negotiations.
Wilson immediately sent for a typewriter. “We conjured up visions of a
beautiful American stenographer,” a British journalist recalled, but a mes-
senger appeared with Wilson’s battered old machine, and the president sat
in a corner tapping out an invitation. As Clemenceau left the room he
snarled to a waiting French journalist, “Beaten!”*

Wilson’s draft, which talked of the Allies’ sincere and unselfish desire
to help the Russian people, was duly sent to the representatives of the
major Russian factions, inviting them to meet on the Princes Islands—
Prinkipo—in the Sea of Marmara between the Black Sea and the Mediter-
ranean. The islands were a favorite picnic spot for the inhabitants of
Constantinople. They had also been used by the Turkish authorities just
before the war as a place to dump the city’s thousands of stray dogs; for
weeks, desperate barks and yaps had echoed back across the waters.
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his coalition government, had already been warned by Bonar Law, the
Conservative leader, and his deputy that the government might well break
up over the issue. By February 8, Clemenceau, in a rare communicative
mood, told Poincaré that the Prinkipo meeting was in trouble. Wilson
showed no signs of wanting to respond to the Bolsheviks’ partial accept-
ance. Just to make sure, Clemenceau begged Balfour to delay discussion
until the president left for his brief visit to the United States. By the time
the White Russians sent their refusal on February 16, Wilson was at sea,
Lloyd George was back in London dealing with a threatened general strike
and Prinkipo was already dead.*

That left the whole question of Russia as undecided as ever. In Lon-
don, Churchill was demanding that Lloyd George make a clear decision,
either to intervene in force or to withdraw from Russia once and for all.
Lloyd George was not prepared to do either: full-scale intervention would
create trouble on his left; withdrawal would make trouble on his right.
And so, as he did on other occasions at the Peace Conference, he pro-
ceeded indirectly, testing out first one approach and then another without
exposing himself.

He told Churchill that any decision on Russia had to be made in Paris,
with Wilson’s participation. Churchill dashed across the Channel on the
morning of February 14, the day the president was due to leave for the
United States. (In his memoirs, Lloyd George expressed pious horror that
Churchill had “adroitly” slipped over to Paris on his own initiative.) After
a hectic drive to Paris—and a crash which left his car’s windshield shat-
tered—Churchill rushed into the Supreme Council just as Wilson was
getting to his feet. The president listened courteously as Churchill
pointed out that the uncertainty over Allied intentions was bad for the
troops in Russia and for the White Russians. His own view was that with-
drawal would be a disaster. “Such a policy would be equivalent to pulling
out the linch-pin from the whole machine. There would be no further
armed resistance to the Bolsheviks in Russia, and an interminable vista of
violence and misery was all that remained for the whole of Russia.” Wil-
son, as Lloyd George must have known, refused to be drawn. Allied
troops were doing no good in Russia, he admitted, but the situation was
confusing.®

Churchill remained in Paris for a couple more days, trying to prod the
Supreme Council into at least a clear policy; but with Wilson and Lloyd
George absent this was difficult. Lloyd George, who was getting daily re-
ports from the faithful Kerr, directed matters from a distance. “Winston is
in Paris,” he told a friend cheerfully. “He wants to conduct a war against
the Bolsheviks. That would cause a revolution! Our people would not per-
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ety. They were anxious to negotiate, but Allied intervention and the Allied
blockade were causing terrible misery. The Bolsheviks found themselves
obliged to use terror to keep the country afloat. Would not Wilson help
them?

Wilson was deeply impressed. So, when he saw the telegram, was Lloyd
George. An American diplomat, William Buckler, was dispatched to talk to
Litvinov. Buckler’s report, which Wilson brought to the Supreme Coun-
cil on January 21, was encouraging. The Soviet government, as it was now
calling itself, was ready to do much for the sake of peace, whether that
meant paying at least part of the repudiated foreign debts or granting new
concessions to foreign enterprises. It would drop its calls for worldwide
revolution; it had only been forced to use such propaganda as a way of de-
fending itself first against Germany and more recently the Allies.*!

Wilson and Lloyd George had some reason, then, to expect that the
Bolsheviks would welcome the invitation to Prinkipo. The two statesmen
chose their delegates: a liberal journalist and a defrocked clergyman for
the United States, and for Britain a delighted Borden—*“a great honour to
Canada.” (He did not know that Lloyd George was having trouble finding
someone to go.) They all waited. The Soviet government’s reply arrived
on February 4. Not for the last time the Bolsheviks misjudged the West.
They craftily, but transparently, avoided agreeing to a cease-fire, one of the
preconditions laid down by the Supreme Council. They did not bother to
comment on the appeal to high principles in the invitation. Clearly think-
ing that capitalists understood only one thing, they offered significant
material concessions, such as raw materials or territory. After all, it had
worked with the Germans at Brest-Litovsk. Wilson was taken aback:
“This answer was not only uncalled for, but might be thought insulting.”
Lloyd George agreed. “We are not after their money or their concessions
or their territory.”*

At the same time the other invitees, with quiet support from the French
and from friends such as Churchill, were digging in their heels. The news
of the Prinkipo proposal had deeply shocked the White Russians. In Paris,
the exile community turned out in a huge demonstration; far away in
Archangel, pictures of Wilson were hurriedly taken down. Sazonov, the
former foreign minister, asked a British diplomat how the Allies could ex-
pect him to meet the people who had murdered his family.*®

If the British and the Americans had put pressure on them, the White
Russians would probably have caved in, but neither Wilson nor Lloyd
George was prepared to do so. Prinkipo was becoming a political problem
for both men. The press and some of their own colleagues were increas-
ingly critical. Lloyd George, who depended on Conservative support for
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George to negotiate conditions of peace with the Bolsheviks. Steffens,
who went on the mission, concurred: “Bullitt’s instructions were to nego-
tiate a preliminary agreement with the Russians so that the United States
and Great Britain could persuade France to join them in an invitation to a
parley, reasonably sure of some results.” Steffens, not for the first time,
was wrong. Neither House nor Lloyd George had given up hope of some
sort of settlement, but they were not about to alienate either the French or
their own domestic opinion if the Bolsheviks proved recalcitrant. A small
mission headed by an insignificant twenty-eight-year-old might bring
back good news. It was expendable if it did not.*

Bullitt and Steffens spent a wonderful week in Moscow: accommoda-
tion in a confiscated palace, piles of caviar, nights at the opera in the tsar’s
old box and during the day discussions with Lenin and Chicherin them-
selves. The Bolsheviks, Steffens believed, were getting rid of the causes of
poverty, corruption, tyranny and war. “They were not trying to establish
political democracy, legal liberty, and negotiated peace—not now. They
were at present only laying the basis for these good things.” Bullitt agreed
that a great work had been started in Russia. Both men were deeply im-
pressed with Lenin. He was “straightforward and direct,” said Bullitt, “but
also genial and with a large humor and serenity.” Steffens asked about the
terror against the Bolsheviks” opponents and was moved when Lenin ex-
pressed regret; he was, thought Steffens, “a liberal by instinct.”!

By the end of the week Bullitt had, he thought, a deal. There would be
a cease-fire and then concessions on both sides. The Allies would with-
draw their troops, but the Bolsheviks would not insist on an end to the
various White governments in Russia. (Since the terms called for an end
to Allied assistance to the Whites, the Bolsheviks could afford to be gener-
ous.) It is doubtful that the Bolsheviks were negotiating in good faith;
Lenin had shown with the Germans at Brest-Litovsk that he was prepared
to make concessions only to buy time. Bullitt and Steffens were “useful
idiots,” their mission helpful at least for propaganda.

Bullitt proudly bore his agreement, and Steffens his rosy picture of the
future, back to Paris. House, as usual, was encouraging, but other mem-
bers of the American delegation had their doubts. Wilson himself, by now
back from the United States, was simply too distracted by the difficult ne-
gotiations over the German treaty to pay much attention. He would not
make time to see Bullitt. Lloyd George, who had him to breakfast on
March 28, was getting very cold feet indeed. Béla Kun’s seizure of power
in Hungary the weekend before had reawakened fears about Bolshevism
spreading westward. News had leaked out about Bullitt’s mission; rumors
were circulating that Britain and the United States were about to recognize
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mit it.”** He sent Churchill mixed signals, hinting that Britain might sup-
ply weapons and volunteers for the White Russians but then, in the next
cable, warning him against planning military action against the Bolshe-
viks. The War Office, Lloyd George claimed, felt that the presence of Al-
lied soldiers in Russia was a mistake. He agreed: “Not merely is it none of
our business to interfere with its internal affairs, it would be positively
mischievous: it would strengthen and consolidate Bolshevik opinion.”
Lloyd George made sure that Kerr gave copies of his message to other
members of the British empire delegation as well as to House. From the
middle of the Atlantic, Wilson sent his warning: “Greatly surprised by
Churchill’s Russian suggestion,” he wired, “it would be fatal to be led fur-
ther into the Russian chaos.” He need not have worried. On February 19,
the day chosen to renew the discussion on Russia at the Supreme Coun-
cil, Clemenceau was shot and wounded in an assassination attempt, and
any decision was postponed indefinitely. Allied troops remained on Rus-
sian soil, but there was no great crusade.”

Perhaps, as Wilson was fond of suggesting, the peacemakers needed
more information. Several of the younger Americans, including the radi-
cal journalist Lincoln Steffens and William Bullitt, a young Russian expert
with the American delegation who was known to oppose intervention,
were already suggesting a mission of inquiry. Lloyd George agreed that
it might be a good idea, not least as a way of postponing an awkward de-
cision.*

On February 17, House told Bullitt that he had been chosen to lead a small
secret mission to talk to the Bolshevik leaders about what sort of con-
ditions they might accept to make peace with the Allies. Bullitt was
delighted. His job in Paris had been routine; now, as he saw it, he was
moving onto center stage. A product of the privileged, insular world of
the Philadelphia upper classes, he had enormous confidence in himself
and his own judgment. Something of a prodigy, or so his doting mother
thought, he had sailed through Yale University His contemporaries
thought him brilliant, although some also noticed that there was some-
thing cold and calculating in the way he used and discarded people. He ad-
mired Wilson and his principles tremendously, but wondered if the
president was up to defending them.*

Together House and Kerr outlined a list of subjects the mission was to
discuss. “Bullitt was going for information only,” House assured other
American delegates. He failed to make this sufficiently clear to Bullitt
himself, who maintained, even when his expedition came to grief, that he
had a mandate from both House, speaking on Wilson’s behalf, and Lloyd
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Russia would receive substantial help. With time and food, the Russian
people would swing away from radical ideas. To avoid any hint of Allied
recognition and to forestall objections from the French, Hoover suggested
using a prominent figure from a neutral country to run the whole opera-
tion.*

As it happened, he had someone in mind, “a fine, rugged character, a
man of great physical and moral courage”—Fridtjof Nansen, the famous
Norwegian Arctic explorer, who happened to be in Paris with the vague
idea of doing something for the League of Nations. In the middle of
April, the Council of Four approved Hoover’s plan. A group of neutral
countries, including Nansen’s own Norway, were to collect food and
medicines for Russia, which they would deliver if the Bolsheviks arranged
a cease-fire with their enemies. Nansen tried to dispatch a telegram to
Lenin to tell him the good news, but neither the French, who saw the
scheme as a ploy by British, American, perhaps even German interests to
gain concessions in Russia, nor the British, who were wary of anything
that looked like recognition of the Bolsheviks, would send it. The tele-
gram finally went from Berlin.*

The Soviet reply, drafted by Chicherin and Litvinov, came back via
radio and cable on May 15. “Be extremely polite to Nansen, extrenely inso-
lent to Wilson, Lloyd George and Clemenceau,” Lenin had instructed
them. As for the scheme itself, “use it for propaganda for clearly it can serve
no other useful purpose.” His colleagues followed his advice, mixing sting-
ing attacks on the Allies with a categorical refusal to consider a cease-fire
unless there was a proper peace conference. In Paris, the peacemakers
shook their heads sadly and abandoned all further discussion of humani-
tarian relief. The episode showed yet again the bankruptcy of Allied policy
toward Russia.*’

There was one last glimmer of hope: that the Russians themselves might
solve their dilemma. Just before the spring thaw turned Russia’s roads to
mud, the White Russians managed to coordinate an attack on the Bolshe-
viks. From his base in eastern Siberia, the White admiral Kolchak struck
along a wide front. One force moved north toward Archangel and man-
aged to link up with a small advance guard from a beleaguered White Rus-
sian and British force. Another pushed west toward the Ural Mountains.
A third went south to join up with Denikin and his armies. By mid-April
Kolchak and his allies had pushed the Bolsheviks back out of 300,000
square kilometers of territory. But this was the high point of their for-
tunes.

The Bolsheviks possessed two crucial advantages: their unity and their



80 A NEW WORLD ORDER

the Soviet government. Lloyd George’s Conservative backbenchers were
watching him like a hawk; so were Northcliffe’s papers. That morning, the
Daily Mail had carried a savage leading article by Henry Wickham Steed,
the new editor of its sister paper The Times, who hated Lloyd George as
much as Northcliffe did. The Prinkipo “intrigue” was being resurrected,
thanks to the machinations of international Jewish financiers and possibly
German interests. Lloyd George held the newspaper out toward Bullitt
over the breakfast table. “As long as the British press is doing this kind of
thing, how can you expect me to be sensible about Russia?”*

In the next weeks, the pressure on Lloyd George grew. On April 10
more than two hundred Conservative members of Parliament signed a
telegram urging him not to recognize the Soviet government. Lloyd
George, who was also under attack over the German peace terms, knew
when to cut his losses. When he faced the House of Commons on April
16, he said firmly that recognition had never been discussed in Paris and
was out of the question. When he was asked specifically about Bullitt’s
mission, he said airily, “There was a suggestion that there was some young
American who had come back.” He could not say whether the young man
had brought back any useful reports.*

Bullitt was shattered. No one in Paris wanted to hear about his mis-
sion, not even the president he admired so much. His disillusionment
with Wilson was complete when the terms of the German treaty came out
in May. He sent an angry and hurt letter of resignation and headed for the
Riviera, “to lie on the sand and watch the world go to hell.” That autumn
he returned to the United States and helped to seal the fate of Wilson and
the Treaty of Versailles by testifying before the Senate that he, and many
others in the American delegation, disapproved of many of its clauses. He
also managed to get his report on his mission to Russia into the record.
In 1934, he returned to Moscow as the first American ambassador to the
Soviet Union. This time the experience turned him into a fervent anti-
communist.*

Lloyd George and Wilson drew back from contact with the Soviet gov-
ernment after this, although they continued to hope for some miraculous
transformation of the Bolsheviks into good democrats. The two even
toyed briefly with the idea of using food shipments to calm the Bolsheviks
down, a scheme that Hoover, as head of the Allied relief administration,
had been pushing. Hoover’s own views on the Bolsheviks were close to
Wilson’s: that they were an understandable response to appalling condi-
tions. They were dangerous, though, their propaganda attractive even in
strong societies such as America. The Allies should let the Bolsheviks
know, indirectly, that if they stopped trying to spread their revolution,
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The League of Nations

O N JANUARY 25, the peace conference formally approved the set-
ting up of a commission on the League of Nations. A couple of the
younger members of the American delegation thought it would make
a wonderful inspirational film. They would show, they thought, the old
diplomacy doing its evil work. Animated maps would illustrate how the
seeds of war had been sown in the past: the secret alliances, the unjust
wars, the conferences at which the old, selfish European powers drew
arbitrary lines on the maps. The Paris Peace Conference and the League
would shine out in “bold contrast.” The film would also, they were sure,
make lots of money:.!

It is hard today to imagine that such a project could have been taken se-
riously. Only a handful of eccentric historians still bother to study the
League of Nations. Its archives, with their wealth of materials, are largely
unvisited. Its very name evokes images of earnest bureaucrats, fuzzy lib-
eral supporters, futile resolutions, unproductive fact-finding missions
and, above all, failure: Manchuria in 1931, Ethiopia in 1935 and, most cata-
strophic of all, the outbreak of the Second World War a mere twenty years
after the first one had ended. The dynamic leaders of the interwar years—
Mussolini, Hitler, the Japanese militarists—sneered at the League and ul-
timately turned their backs on it. Its chief supporters—Britain, France and
the smaller democracies—were lukewarm and flaccid. The Soviet Union
joined only because Stalin could not, at the time, think of a better alterna-
tive. The United States never managed to join at all. So great was the taint
of failure that when the powers contemplated a permanent association of
nations during the Second World War, they decided to set up a completely
new United Nations. The League was officially pronounced dead in 1946.
It had ceased to count at all in 1939.
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location. They controlled the center of Russia, while their heterogeneous
opponents were widely dispersed around the periphery. Often, none of
the White Russian commanders, mutually suspicious and separated from
one another by miles of often hostile country, had any idea of what the
others were doing. The Bolsheviks had three times the manpower and
most of Russia’s arms factories.*®

On May 23, 1919, the Allies decided to extend partial recognition to
Kolchak’s government. “The moment chosen,” wrote Churchill later,
“was almost exactly the moment when that declaration was almost cer-
tainly too late.” A dispatch asking for assurances that democratic insti-
tutions would be introduced made its tortuous way out to Siberia and in
due course a partly garbled answer came back that seemed to provide the
necessary guarantees. What also came back from Russia shortly afterward
were reports of defeats. By late June, Red armies had broken through
Kolchak’s center and the Whites were falling back hundreds of kilome-
ters.*

By this time, however, the Peace Conference was drawing to a close
and the Germans were about to sign the Treaty of Versailles. There was no
time to do anything more about Russia. A brief clause was drawn up for
the treaty which simply said that any treaties made in the future between
the Allies and Russia, or any parts of it, must be recognized. Another
clause left open the possibility of Russia’s claiming reparations. Otherwise
policy toward Russia remained as confused as it had been all along. The
blockade against the Bolsheviks remained in force, but support for the
Whites gradually dwindled. Britain and France abandoned Kolchak as a
lost cause. (The admiral put himself under the protection of the Czech
Legion, still in eastern Siberia; the Czechs handed him over to the Bolshe-
viks, and he was shot in February 1920.) By October 1919, Denikin was in
full retreat in the south. In January 1921, with much prodding from Brit-
ain, the European Allies agreed to end military intervention and abandon
their blockade. In March 1921, Britain signed a trade agreement with the
Soviet government. Even Conservative businessmen, who feared they
were losing an opportunity in Russia, supported it. In 1924 Britain and the
Soviet Union established full diplomatic relations. France followed reluc-
tantly. America would wait another decade, until FDR.

With hindsight, Churchill and Foch were right about the Bolsheviks
and Lloyd George and Wilson were wrong. The governing party in Russia
did not become like Swedish Social Democrats. Lenin had established a
system of terrible and unfettered power which gave Stalin free rein for his
paranoid fantasies. The Russian people, and many more beyond, paid a
dreadful price for the Bolshevik victory in the civil war, while in Paris the
peacemakers were brought up against the limits of their own power.
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Another factor also now entered into the equation: public opinion.
The spread of democracy, the growth of nationalism, the web of railway
lines and telegraphs, the busy journalists and the rotary presses churning
out the mass circulation newspapers, all this had summoned up a creature
that governments did not much like but which they dared not ignore. At
Paris, it was assumed that negotiations would be conducted under public
scrutiny.

For idealists this was a good thing. The people would bring a much
needed common sense to international relations. They did not want war
or expensive arms races. (This faith had not been shaken by the fact that
many Europeans seemed enthusiastic about war in the decades before
1914, and positively passionate in 1914 itself.) The prosperity and progress
of the nineteenth century encouraged the belief that the world was be-
coming more civilized. A growing middle class provided a natural con-
stituency for a peace movement preaching the virtues of compulsory
arbitration of disputes, international courts, disarmament, perhaps even
pledges to abstain from violence as ways to prevent wars. The opponents
of war took as models their own societies, especially those in Western Eu-
rope, where governments had become more responsive to the will of their
citizens, where public police forces had replaced private guards and where
the rule of law was widely accepted. Surely it was possible to imagine a
similar society of nations providing collective security for its members??

In Paris, Wilson insisted on chairing the League commission, because
for him the League of Nations was the centerpiece of the peace settle-
ments. If it could be brought into being, then everything else would
sooner or later fall into place. If the peace terms were imperfect, there
would be plenty of time later for the League to correct them. Many new
borders had to be drawn; if they were not quite right, the League would
sort them out. Germany’s colonies were going to be taken away; the
League would make sure that they were run properly. The Ottoman em-
pire was defunct; the League would act as liquidator and trustee for the
peoples who were not yet ready to rule themselves. And for future gener-
ations the League would oversee general prosperity and peace, encourag-
ing the weak, chiding the wicked and, where necessary, punishing the
recalcitrant. It was a pledge that humanity was making to itself, a covenant.

The picture sometimes painted of Wilson sailing across the Atlantic bear-
ing the gift of the League of Nations from the new world to the old
is compelling but, alas, false. Many Europeans had long wanted a better
way of managing international relations. The war they had just survived
made sense only if it produced a better world and an end to war. That was
what their own governments had promised in the dark days, and that
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At its last assembly, Lord Robert Cecil, who had been there at its cre-
ation, asked, “Is it true that all our efforts for those twenty years have been
thrown away?” He answered his own question bravely: “For the first time
an organisation was constructed, in essence universal, not to protect the
national interest of this or that country . . . but to abolish war.” The
League had been, he concluded, “a great experiment.” It had put into con-
crete form the dreams and hopes of all those who had worked for peace
through the centuries. It had left its legacy in the widespread acceptance of
the idea that the nations of the world could and must work together for
the collective security of them all. “The League is dead: Long live the
United Nations!”?

Cecil was right. The League did represent something very important:
both a recognition of the changes that had already taken place in interna-
tional relations and a bet placed on the future. Just as steam engines had
changed the way people moved about the surface of the earth, just as na-
tionalism and democracy had given them a different relationship to one
another and to their governments, so the way states behaved toward one
another had undergone a transformation in the century before the Peace
Conference met. Of course power still counted, and of course govern-
ments looked out for their countries, but what that meant had changed. If
the eighteenth century had made and unmade alliances, and fought and
ended wars, for dynastic advantage, even matters of honor, if it was per-
tectly all right to take pieces of land without any regard for their inhabi-
tants, the nineteenth century had moved toward a different view. War
increasingly was seen as an aberration, and an expensive one at that. In the
eighteenth century someone’s gain was always someone’s loss; the overall
ledger remained balanced. Now war was a cost to all players, as the Great
War proved. National interests were furthered better by peace, which al-
lowed trade and industry to flourish. And the nation itself was something
different, no longer embodied by the monarch or a small élite but increas-
ingly constituted by the people themselves.

In diplomacy, the forms remained the same: ambassadors presented
credentials, treaties were signed and sealed. The rules, however, had
changed. In the game of nations it was no longer fashionable, or even ac-
ceptable, for one nation to seize territory that was full of people of a dif-
ferent nationality. (Colonies did not count, because those peoples were
assumed to be at a lower stage of political development.) When Bismarck
created Germany, he did so in the name of German unity, not conquest
for his master’s Prussia. When his creation took Alsace-Lorraine from
France in 1871, the German government did its best to persuade itself and
the world that this was not for the sake of old-fashioned spoils of war but
because the peoples of those provinces were really German at heart.
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The man who had put the League at the heart of the Allied peace pro-
gram kept an enigmatic silence on such details during the war. Wilson
spoke only in generalities, albeit inspiring ones. His League would be
powerful because it would represent the organized opinion of humanity.
Its members would guarantee, he said in his Fourteen Points, each other’s
independence and borders. It might use force to protect these, but would
probably not need to. The war had shown that ordinary people longed for
such an organization; it was what they had fought for. “The counsels of
plain men,” he told a huge audience in the Metropolitan Opera House in
New York just before the war ended, “have become on all hands more
simple and straightforward and more unified than the counsels of sophis-
ticated men of affairs, who still retain the impression that they are playing
a game of power and playing for high stakes.””

Wilson thought it was a mistake to get down to specifics while the war
was still on. That would only cause dissension among the Allies and it
might give the enemy countries the impression that the League was some-
how directed against them. To him it was so eminently a rational idea, the
need for it so widely accepted, that it would grow on its own into a healthy
organism. Even in Paris, while the League’s covenant was being drafted,
he resisted what he saw as excessive detail. “Gentlemen,” he told his col-
leagues on the League commission, “I have no doubt that the next gener-
ation will be made up of men as intelligent as you or I, and I think we can
trust the League to manage its own affairs.”®

Wilson’s casual attitude alarmed even his supporters. Fortunately, per-
haps, there were several detailed plans floating about. As the war had
dragged on, it had inevitably provoked much discussion about ways to
forestall conflict. In the United States, the League to Enforce Peace
brought Democrats and Republicans together. In Britain, a League of
Nations Society drew a respectable middle-class, liberal membership.
To their left, the Fabians sponsored a full-scale study of the matter by
Leonard Woolf. At the beginning of 1918, the French and British govern-
ments decided that they had better get in on the act since, thanks to Wil-
son, a League of Nations was now an explicit Allied war aim. In France a
commission under the prominent liberal statesman Léon Bourgeois drew
up an elaborate scheme for an international organization with its own
army. In Britain a special committee under a distinguished lawyer, Sir
Walter Phillimore, produced a detailed set of recommendations that in-
corporated many of the prewar ideas on, for example, compulsory arbitra-
tion of disputes. Its approach was cautious, rejecting both utopian ideas of
a world federation and the pragmatic suggestion that a league should be
merely a continuation of the wartime alliance. When the British govern-
ment sent him a copy of the Phillimore report, Wilson said unhelpfully
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was what had kept them going. In 1919, as Europeans contemplated those
catastrophic years, with the scarcely imaginable outpouring of blood, as
they realized that European society had been horribly damaged, perhaps
fatally, the League struck many, and not only liberals and left-wingers, as
their last chance. Harold Nicolson spoke for many of his generation when
he said: “We were journeying to Paris, not merely to liquidate the war,
but to found a new order in Europe. We were preparing not Peace only,
but Eternal Peace. There was about us the halo of some divine mission.
We must be alert, stern, righteous and ascetic. For we were bent on doing
great, permanent and noble things.”

Lloyd George went along with Wilson’s insistence that the League
should be the first task of the Peace Conference, not merely out of a cyn-
ical desire to keep the Americans happy. He was, after all, a Liberal, the
leader of a party with a strong history of opposition to war. A consummate
politician, he also knew the British public. “They regard with absolute
horror,” he told his colleagues on Christmas Eve 1918, “the continuance of
a state of affairs which might again degenerate into such a tragedy.” It
would be political disaster to come back from the Peace Conference with-
out a League of Nations. But the League never caught his imagination,
perhaps because he doubted whether it could ever truly be effective. He
rarely referred to it in speeches and never visited its headquarters while he
was prime minister.’

In France, where memories of past German aggression and apprehen-
sion about the future were painfully alive, there was deep pessimism
about international cooperation to end war. Yet there was a willingness, es-
pecially among liberals and the left, to give the League a try. Clemenceau
would have preferred to deal with the German peace first, but he was de-
termined that it would not be said that France had blocked the League. He
himself remained ambivalent, not, as is sometimes said, hostile. As he fa-
mously remarked, “I like the League, but I do not believe in it.”®

Public opinion provided general support for the League but no clear
guidance as to its shape. Should it be policeman or clergyman? Should it
use force or moral suasion? The French, for obvious reasons, leaned
toward a League with the power to stop aggressors by force. Lawyers, es-
pecially in the English-speaking world, put their faith in international law
and tribunals. For pacifists, there was still another remedy for interna-
tional violence: general disarmament and a promise from all members of
the League to abstain from war. And what was the League going to be like?
Some sort of superstate? A club for heads of state? A conference sum-
moned whenever there was an emergency? Whatever shape it took, it
would need qualifications for membership, rules, procedures and some
sort of secretariat.
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nations that good-will which is the only sure foundation for any enduring
international system.” The words, and the exhortations, poured out. “Let
us not underrate our opportunity,” he cried to a weary world. “The age of
miracles is never past.” Perhaps they had come to the moment when they
could end war itself forever.!?

What Smuts said less loudly was that the League of Nations could also
be useful to the British empire. In December 1918 he prepared one of his
dazzling analyses of the world for his British colleagues. With Austria-
Hungary gone, Russia in turmoil and Germany defeated, there were only
three major powers left in the world: the British empire, the United States
and France. The French could not be trusted. They were rivals to the Brit-
ish in Africa and in the Middle East. (The French returned Smuts’s
antipathy, especially after he inadvertently left some of his confidential pa-
pers behind at a meeting in Paris.) It made perfect sense, Smuts argued,
for the British to look to the United States for friendship and cooperation.
“Language, interest, and ideals alike” had marked out their common path.
The best way to get the Americans to realize this was to support the
League. Wilson, everyone knew, thought the League his most important
task; if he got British support, he would probably drop awkward issues
such as his insistence on freedom of the seas.”?

Smuts set himself to put what he described as Wilson’s “rather nebu-
lous ideas” into coherent form. Working at great speed, he wrote what he
modestly called “A Practical Suggestion.” A general assembly of all mem-
ber nations, a smaller executive council, a permanent secretariat, steps to
settle international disputes, mandates for peoples not yet ready to rule
themselves: much of what later went into the League covenant was in his
draft. But there was also much more: the horrors of the recent war, a Eu-
rope reduced to its atoms, ordinary people clinging to the hope of a better
world, and the great opportunity lying before the peacemakers. “The very
foundations have been shakened and loosened, and things are again fluid.
The tents have been struck, and the great caravan of humanity is once
more on the march.” Smuts wrote proudly to a friend: “My paper has
made an enormous impression in high circles. I see from the Cabinet
Minutes that the Prime Minister called it ‘one of the ablest state papers he
had ever read.”” It was immediately published as a pamphlet.'*

It was, commented an American legal expert, “very beautifully writ-
ten” but rather vague in places. Smuts had carefully avoided, for example,
discussing mandates for Germany’s former colonies in Africa. (This was
deliberate; he was determined that his own country should hang on to
German Southwest Africa.) Wilson, to whom Lloyd George gave a copy,
liked it, not least because Smuts insisted that the making of the League
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that he found it disappointing and that he was working on his own
scheme, which he would unveil in due course. His main principles, he al-
lowed the British to learn, were two: “There must be a League of Nations
and this must be virile, a reality, not a paper League.” The war ended with
no more definite word than that from Washington.’

It was at this point that one of the luminaries of the British empire de-
cided to try his hand at drafting a scheme. Tall, thin, with hard blue eyes,
General Jan Smuts, the South African foreign minister, was not particu-
larly imposing at first glance. (In London, Borden’s secretary thought he
had come to fix the electric light and curtly told him to wait outside.) He
had, however, precisely the sort of personal qualities to appeal to Wilson,
because they were so much like his own: a fondness for dealing with the
great questions, deep religious and ethical convictions, and a desire to
make the world a better place. Both men had grown up in stable, happy
families in small communities, Wilson in the American South, Smuts in
the settled Boer farming community of the Cape. Both had fond memo-
ries of happy black servants (although both doubted that blacks would
ever be the equals of whites) and unhappy memories of war, civil in Wil-
son’s case and Boers against the British in Smuts’s. Both were sober and
restrained on the surface, passionate and sensitive underneath. Both com-
bined vast self-righteousness with huge ambition. Both were quick to see
the inconsistencies in others while remaining blind to their own.!®

Smuts sailed through school and Stellenbosch University and then,
like many bright young men from the colonies, headed off to England. At
Cambridge he worked assiduously, collecting prizes and a double first in
law. In London, where he prepared for the bar, he never, as far as is known,
visited a play or a concert or an art gallery. In his limited spare time he read
poetry: Shelley, Shakespeare, but above all Walt Whitman, whose deep
love of nature he shared. If Wilson could inspire his audience with his
sober prose, if Lloyd George could lift them up with his golden speeches,
Smuts could, above all the other peacemakers, sing to them.!" Smuts had
advised on the great issues of the war; it was natural that he would also ad-
vise on the peace.

Smuts had greeted Wilson’s appearance on the world stage with en-
thusiasm. “It is this moral idealism and this vision of a better world which
has up-borne us through the dark night of this war,” he told a group of
American newspapermen. The world was shattered but there now lay be-
fore it a gigantic opportunity. “It is for us to labour in the remaking of that
world to better ends, to plan its international reorganization on lines of
universal freedom and justice, and to re-establish among the classes and
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chair, was having none of this. The Five had paid for their seats at the
Peace Conference with their millions of dead and wounded. The smaller
powers were fortunate to have been invited at all. As a concession, they
would be allowed to nominate five representatives for the League com-
mission. The flurry of revolt subsided, but the resentment did not. When
the British and Americans unveiled their plan for a League with an execu-
tive council of the Five, the small powers made such a fuss that they were
eventually given the right to vote four additional members.'®

Cecil thought Wilson was mad when he talked of writing the League
covenant in two weeks, but in fact the work went extraordinarily quickly,
thanks partly to the fact that the British and the Americans had come to
substantial agreement beforehand. The first meeting was held on Feb-
ruary 3, and by February 14 a comprehensive draft was ready. The com-
mission’s nineteen members met almost daily, in House’s rooms at the
Crillon, seated around a large table covered with a red cloth. Behind them
sat their interpreters murmuring quietly in their ears. The British and the
Americans were beside each other, consulting each other continually.
The French were separated from them by the Italians. The Portuguese
and the Belgians were inexhaustible; the Japanese rarely uttered. Wilson,
in the chair, was brisk, discouraging speeches and discussions of details
and pushing the League in the direction he wanted. “I am coming to the
conclusion,” Cecil wrote, “that I do not personally like him. I do not know
quite what it is that repels me: a certain hardness, coupled with vanity and
an eye for effect.” House, the other American representative, was always
there at the president’s elbow, although he rarely spoke. Behind the scenes
he was, as usual, busy: “I try to find out in advance where trouble lies and
to smooth it out before it goes too far.”"”

Neither Lloyd George nor Clemenceau put himself on the commis-
sion. Baker saw this as more proof, if any were needed, that the Europeans
did not take the League seriously. They were happy, he said darkly, to see
Wilson occupied while they shared out the spoils of war in their custom-
ary fashion. But Wilson continued to attend the Supreme Council and
shared in all its major decisions. Lloyd George, as he had done throughout
his political career, chose men he trusted—in this case Smuts and Cecil—
gave them full authority and generally left them to it. Clemenceau ap-
pointed two leading experts, whom he equally typically treated badly,
Professor Ferdinand Larnaude, dean of the faculty of law at the Univer-
sity of Paris, and Léon Bourgeois.?

A man of great learning and cultivation, Bourgeois was an expert in the
law, a student of Sanskrit and a connoisseur of music, as well as a passable
sculptor and caricaturist. After entering politics as a liberal, he had risen
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must be the first business of the Peace Conference. Back in Paris after his
tour of Europe, Wilson set himself to the task he had so long postponed,
of getting his own ideas down on paper. The result, which he showed the
British on January 19, borrowed many of Smuts’s ideas. He did not mind,
Smuts told a friend: “I think there is a special satisfaction in knowing that
your will is quietly finding out the current of the Great Will, so that in the
end God will do what you ineffectively set out to do.” Wilson pronounced
Smuts “a brick.”’

Wilson also came to approve of Robert Cecil, the other British expert
on the League. Thin, stern, reserved, Cecil often reminded people of a
monk. He rarely smiled, and when he did, said Clemenceau, it was like “a
Chinese dragon.” He was a devout Anglican by conviction, a lawyer by
training, a politician by profession and an English aristocrat by birth. His
family, the Cecils, had served the country since the sixteenth century. Bal-
four was a cousin and his father was the great Lord Salisbury, Conservative
prime minister for much of the 1880s and 1890s. The young Robert met
Disraeli and Gladstone, visited Windsor Castle and was taken to call on
the crown prince of Prussia. His upbringing, at once privileged and aus-
tere, created in him a strong sense of right and wrong and an equally
strong sense of public duty. When the war broke out, he was fifty, too old
to fight, so he volunteered to work for the Red Cross in France. By 1916 he
was in charge of the blockade against Germany.'®

By this point he had come to the firm conviction that the world must
establish an organization to prevent war, and he welcomed Wilson’s pro-
nouncements enthusiastically. His first encounter with the president, in
December 1918, was sadly disappointing. The two men were able only to
exchange a few remarks at a large reception. When they finally had a
proper conversation, in Paris on January 19, Cecil found Wilson’s ideas on
the League largely borrowed from the British. Wilson himself, Cecil
wrote in his diary, “is a trifle of a bully, and must be dealt with firmly
though with the utmost courtesy and respect—not a very easy combina-
tion to hit off.” Wilson assigned David Hunter Miller to meet Cecil and
come up with a common draft, a sign of the growing cooperation between
the Americans and the British."”

On January 25, when the Peace Conference created the Commission
on the League of Nations, the room resounded with noble sentiments.
The mood was somewhat spoiled when representatives of the smaller
nations, already restive about their role in Paris, grumbled that the com-
mission was made up only of representatives, two apiece, from the Big
Five—the British empire, France, Italy, Japan and the United States. They
too, said the prime minister of Belgium, had suffered. Clemenceau, in the
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Lloyd George’s government, the army and the navy and much of the For-
eign Office preferred to put their faith in the old, sure ways of defending
Britain. The League, said Churchill, is “no substitute for the British fleet.”
It was all “rubbish” and “futile nonsense,” said Henry Wilson, chief of the
Imperial General Staff. Britain could be dragged into conflicts on the
Continent or farther afield in which it had no interest.**

British reservations were echoed by several of the dominion delegates
in Paris, something Lloyd George and his colleagues could not easily ig-
nore. Alight with malice like a small imp, Billy Hughes was predictably
vehement. He liked the French and hated the Americans, not least be-
cause Wilson had snubbed him during a visit to Washington. The League,
he said, was Wilson’s toy: “he would not be happy till he got it.” Speaking
for Australia and himself, he did not want to see the British empire
dragged behind Wilson’s triumphal chariot. Borden added his more sober
and tactful criticisms. He liked the idea of a League, but he would have
preferred one without too many Europeans. His real dream was always a
partnership between the United States and the British empire. The Cana-
dians, who had just won from Britain a measure of control over their own
foreign policy, did not intend to turn around and hand it back to another
superior body.®

French attempts to sharpen the League’s teeth irritated the other Allies
and threatened to hold up the Peace Conference. As the commission on
the League rushed to get the first draft finished before Wilson went back
to the United States for his brief visit, enough leaked out of its secret
meetings to cause alarm. “Dark clouds are gathering in conference quar-
ters,” wrote the American correspondent of the Associated Press, “and
there is a general atmosphere of distrust and bitterness prevailing, with
the fate of the League Covenant still very much in doubt.” It did not help
that the French press was starting to attack Wilson or that Clemenceau
gave an interview in which he warned that France must not be sacrificed
in the name of noble but vague ideals. Rumors circulated that in retalia-
tion Wilson was going to move the whole Peace Conference from Paris or
perhaps give up the attempt to get a League altogether.

On February 11, three days before Wilson was due to sail, the League
commission met for most of the day. The French brought up amend-
ments to create a League army. “Unconstitutional and also impossible,”
said Wilson. The meeting adjourned without a decision. The next day,
David Hunter Miller recorded in his diary, Cecil coldly pointed out their
predicament to the French: “In his view they were saying to America, and
to a lesser extent to Great Britain, that because more was not offered they
would not take the gift that was at hand, and he warned them very frankly
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rapidly to the top: minister of the interior, of education, of justice, foreign
minister, prime minister. His interest in international order dated back
long before the war; he had represented France at the Hague peace con-
ferences, which tried, without success, to put limits on war. When Wilson
outlined his hopes for the League, Bourgeois wept for joy. In 1919, how-
ever, he was old and tired. His eyesight was failing and he suffered terribly
from the cold.”!

He labored, moreover, under considerable handicaps. Many French
officials persisted in seeing the League as a continuation of the wartime al-
liance, still directed against Germany. Clemenceau made no secret that he
thought Bourgeois a fool. When House asked why Bourgeois had ever
been prime minister, Clemenceau replied, “When I was unmaking Cabi-
nets, the material ran out, and they took Bourgeois.” The British and the
Americans regarded him as something of a joke with his prolix speeches
in mellifluous French which, on occasion, put them to sleep. Wilson took
a positive dislike to him, in part because he had heard that Clemenceau
had given him instructions to delay proceedings as much as possible. This
was probably true. Bourgeois did very little without consulting Clemen-
ceau, who was hoping to squeeze concessions out of Wilson over the
German peace terms. “Let yourselves be beaten,” he told Bourgeois and
Larnaude. “It doesn’t matter. Your setbacks will help me to demand extra
guarantees on the Rhine.” Bourgeois was bitter but resigned. “In other
words,” he told Poincaré, “he asks me simply to get myself killed in the
trenches, while he fights elsewhere.”*

In the League commission meetings, the French representatives
fought against both the British and the Americans to give the League
teeth, something, after all, Wilson had once said he wanted. Bourgeois ar-
gued that the League should operate like the justice system in any modern
democratic state, with the power to intervene where there were breaches
of the peace and forcibly restore order. In other words, if there were dis-
putes among League members, these would automatically be submitted to
compulsory arbitration. If a state refused to accept the League’s decision,
then the next step would be sanctions, economic, even military. He advo-
cated strict disarmament under a League body with sweeping powers of
inspection and an international force drawn from League members.> The
British and the Americans suspected that such proposals were merely an-
other French device to build a permanent armed coalition against Ger-
many. In any case, they were quite out of the question politically. The
U.S. Congress, which had enough trouble sharing the control of foreign
policy with the president, was certainly not going to let other nations de-
cide when and where the United States would fight. The Conservatives in
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The most they had been able to achieve before the war, however, had been
limits on women working at night and a ban on phosphorus in match-
making. The Bolshevik revolution helped to work a miraculous change of
attitude among the Western ruling classes. The workers, even in the victo-
rious democracies, were restless. Who knew how far they would go down
the path toward revolution? European labor representatives were threat-
ening to hold a conference in Paris at the same time as the Peace Confer-
ence, with delegates from the defeated nations as well as the victors. While
the Allies managed to deflect this to Berne in Switzerland, Lloyd George
and Clemenceau both thought that a clause on labor in the covenant of
the League would be very helpful in calming their workers down. In any
case, their own political leanings, like Wilson’s, made them sympathetic to
the labor movement, at least when it steered clear of revolution.?

The day the League of Nations commission was appointed, another
was set up on international labor. Under the chairmanship first of the
fierce little head of the American Federation of Labor, Samuel Gompers,
and then of the British labor leader George Barnes, it worked away qui-
etly. Barnes complained to Lloyd George that the peacemakers took only a
“languid interest” in its work.*® This was probably a good thing: the Inter-
national Labour Organization came into existence with a minimum of
fuss and held its first conference before the end of 1919. Unlike the
League of Nations, to which it was attached, it included German repre-
sentatives from the very beginning. And unlike the League, it has survived
to the present day.

On February 14, Wilson presented the draft of the League covenant to
a plenary session of the Peace Conference. The members of the commis-
sion had produced a document, at once practical and inspirational, of
which they were all proud. “Many terrible things have come out of this
war,” he concluded, “but some very beautiful things have come out of it.”
That night he left Paris for the United States, confident that he had ac-
complished his main purpose in attending the conference.?!

The covenant was not quite finished, though. The French still hoped
to get in something about military force; the Japanese had warned that
they intended to introduce a controversial provision on racial equality;
and the mandates over the former German colonies and the Ottoman em-
pire still had to be awarded. There was also the tricky matter of the Mon-
roe Doctrine, underpinning U.S. policy toward the Americas. Would the
League have the power, as many of Wilson’s conservative opponents
feared, to override the doctrine? If so, they would oppose the League,
which might well lead to its rejection by Congress. Although Wilson
hated to make concessions, especially to men he loathed, he agreed on his
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that the alternative offer which we have made, if the League of Nations
was not successful, was an alliance between Great Britain and the United
States.” Bourgeois backed down, but he did make one last, futile attempt a
month later, when he suggested that the League should have its own gen-
eral staff. This, he said mildly, could give the League council information
and prepare plans so that it would not be caught flat-footed when wars
came. Wilson was enraged. “The French delegates seem absolutely im-
possible,” he told Grayson, his physician. “They talk and talk and talk
and desire constantly to reiterate points that have already been thoroughly
thrashed out and completely disposed of.” Bourgeois returned the an-
tipathy. He told Poincaré that Wilson was both authoritarian and deeply
untrustworthy: “He conducted everything with the goal of personal exal-
tation in mind.”%

By February 13, the first draft was ready. Wilson was delighted, both with
the auspicious date and with the fact that the articles numbered twenty-
six, twice thirteen. The main outlines of the League were in place: a gen-
eral assembly for all members, a secretariat and an executive council
where the Big Five would have a bare majority (the failure of the United
States to become a member of the League vitiated that clause). There
would be no League army and no compulsory arbitration or disarmament.
On the other hand, all League members pledged themselves to respect
one another’s independence and territorial boundaries. Because the Great
Powers worried that the smaller powers might get together and outvote
them, there was also a provision that most League decisions had to be
unanimous. This was later blamed for the League’s ineffectiveness.”

Germany was not allowed to join right away. The French were ada-
mant on this, and their allies were prepared to give way. Indeed, Wilson
was all for treating Germany like a convict in need of rehabilitation: “The
world had a moral right to disarm Germany and to subject her to a gener-
ation of thoughtfulness.” And so Germany was to be in the curious posi-
tion of agreeing in the Treaty of Versailles to a club that it could not join.
Both the British and Americans came to think this rather unfair.?®

The covenant also reflected several other causes dear to international-
ists and humanitarians. It contained an undertaking that the League would
look into setting up a permanent international court of justice, provisions
against arms trafficking and slavery and support for the spread of the in-
ternational Red Cross. It also established the International Labour Orga-
nization to work for international standards on working conditions.

This was something middle-class reformers, left-wing parties and
unions had long wanted. (The eight-hour day was their great rallying cry.)
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Wilson had every reason to be pleased. He had steered the covenant in
the direction he wanted; he had blocked demands for a military force; and
he had inserted a reservation on the Monroe Doctrine that should ensure
its passage in the United States. The League, he felt confident, would
grow and change over the years. In time, it would embrace the enemy na-
tions and help them to stay on the paths of peace and democracy. Where
the peace settlements needed fixing, as he told his wife, “one by one the
mistakes can be brought to the League for readjustment, and the League
will act as a permanent clearinghouse where every nation can come, the
small as well as the great.”® In concentrating on the League, Wilson al-
lowed much else to go by at the Peace Conference. He did not fight deci-
sions that, by his lights, were wrong: the award of the German-speaking
Tyrol to Italy, or the placing of millions of Germans under Czechoslovak
or Polish rule. Such settlements once made were surprisingly durable, at
least until the start of the next war. It would have been difficult in any case
for the League to act, because its rules insisted on unanimity in virtually all
decisions.



96 A NEW WORLD ORDER

return to Paris to negotiate a special reservation saying that nothing in the
League covenant invalidated the Monroe Doctrine.*

He found himself embroiled, this time with the British, in the sort of
diplomatic game that he had always regarded with contempt. Although
Cecil and Smuts sympathized with his predicament and were prepared to
support him, Lloyd George had scented an opportunity. He had been try-
ing without success to get an agreement with the United States to prevent
a naval race; he now hinted that he might oppose any reservation on the
Monroe Doctrine. There was also a difficulty with the Japanese, who, it
was feared, might ask for recognition of an equivalent doctrine for Japan
warning other nations oft the Far East. That in turn would upset the Chi-
nese, already highly nervous about Japanese intentions.*

On April 10, with the naval issue thrashed out and the British back on-
side, Wilson introduced a carefully worded amendment to the eftect that
nothing in the League covenant would affect the validity of international
agreements such as the Monroe Doctrine, designed to preserve the peace.
The French, resentful over their failure to get a League with teeth, at-
tacked with impeccable logic. There was already a provision in the cove-
nant saying that all members would make sure that their international
agreements were in accordance with the League and its principles. Was the
Monroe Doctrine not in conformity? Of course it was, said Wilson; in-
deed, it was the model for the League. Then, said Bourgeois and Lar-
naude, why did the Monroe Doctrine need to be mentioned at all? Cecil
tried to come to Wilson’s rescue: the reference to the Monroe Doctrine
was really a sort of illustration. Wilson sat by silently, his lower lip quiver-
ing. Toward midnight he burst out in a spirited defense of the United
States, the guardian of freedom against absolutism in its own hemisphere
and here, much more recently, in the Great War. “Is there to be withheld
from her the small gift of a few words which only state the fact that her
policy for the past century has been devoted to principles of liberty and in-
dependence which are to be consecrated in this document as a perpetual
charter for all the world?” The Americans who heard him were deeply
moved; the French were not.>*

On April 28, as a freak snowfall covered Paris, a plenary session of the
conference approved the covenant. A delegate from Panama made a very
long and learned speech, which started with Aristotle and ended with
Woodrow Wilson, about peace. The delegate from Honduras spoke in
Spanish about the Monroe Doctrine clause but, since few people under-
stood him, his objections were ignored. Clemenceau, as chairman, moved
matters along with his usual dispatch, limiting discussion of hostile
amendments, even when they came from his own delegates, with a sharp
bang of his gavel and a curt “Adopté.”*
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seem ready to look after themselves. Here Wilson would only say that he
did not approve of mandates for European peoples.!

The idea itself, of the strong protecting the weak, was not a new one.
Imperialists, frequently quite sincerely, had made much of their mission
before the Great War. Germany, said the leading American expert on
Africa, was exceptional in never having properly understood its duty:
“The native was almost universally looked upon as a means to an end,
never as an end in himself, and his welfare and that of the colony were
completely subordinated to the interests of the German on the spot and of
Germany at a distance.”

The British, realizing that there was no point in antagonizing the
Americans by talking of adding Germany’s territory, or anyone else’s, to
their empire, supported the idea of mandates. Smuts applied his usual elo-
quence. Great empires were being liquidated, he wrote in the memoran-
dum on the League of Nations which so impressed Wilson, and the
League must step in. “The peoples left behind by the decomposition of
Russia, Austria and Turkey are mostly untrained politically; many of them
are either incapable or deficient in the power of self-government; they
are mostly destitute, and will require much nursing towards economic
and political independence.” Where Europeans—Finns, for example, or
Poles—could stand on their own feet almost at once, it would take longer
in the Middle East. The former German colonies in the Pacific and Africa
would probably never be able to look after themselves. Their inhabitants
were barbarians “to whom it would be impracticable to apply any ideas of
political self-determination in the European sense.” It would be much the
best thing it the British empire took them over directly. If the Americans
objected, he told his British colleagues, then Britain could graciously con-
cede and ask in return for control under general, and minimal, League su-
pervision. That in turn would oblige other nations, in particular France,
Smuts’s bugbear, to accept similar conditions for their colonies. Cecil saw
a practical advantage: British traders and investors might finally be able to
get into French and Portuguese colonies in Africa.’

The very word “mandate” had a benevolent and pleasing sound. Ini-
tially it also caused considerable confusion when it was produced at the
Peace Conference. Was it merely a bit of window dressing, as cynics
thought, to describe old-fashioned land grabbing, or was it a new depar-
ture in international relations? Would the League leave the mandatory
powers alone to administer their assigned territories or would there be
constant interference? When a bewildered Chinese delegate was told that
the former German territories in his country would receive a new ruler,
he was heard to ask, “Who is Mandatory?™*

The French reacted to the whole idea with hostility and apprehension.
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Mandates

E VEN BEFORE the League commission got down to work, the issue
of mandates had come up at the Supreme Council. None of the vic-
torious powers thought Germany should get back its colonial possessions,
which included several strings of Pacific islands and pieces of Africa, and
Wilson had made it clear that he expected the League to assume responsi-
bility for their governance. Wilson’s attitude came as an unwelcome shock
in certain quarters. The French wanted Togoland and Cameroon and an
end to German rights in Morocco (leaving France the latter’s sole protec-
tor). The Italians had their eyes on, among other things, parts of Somalia.
In the British empire, South Africa wanted German Southwest Africa,
Australia wanted New Guinea and some nearby islands, and New Zealand
wanted German Samoa. The British hoped to annex German East Africa
to fill in the missing link between their colonies to the north and south.
They had also made a secret deal with the French to divide up the Otto-
man empire. The Japanese too had their secret deals, with the Chinese to
take over German rights and concessions, and with the British to keep the
German islands north of the equator.

Wilson’s new world order called for some arrangement other than an-
nexation or colonization for those parts of the world not yet ready to gov-
ern themselves. Mandates, a form of trusteeship either directly under the
League of Nations or under powers to be mandated by the League, were
proposed as a possible solution. The length of the mandate would depend
on the progress made by their wards. Wilson was maddeningly imprecise.
Clearly, Africa would need outside control, but what about the pieces of
territory which were flaking off from the defeated empires: the Arab Mid-
dle East, or Armenia, Georgia and the other Caucasian republics? In the
confusion that was central Europe, there were also peoples who did not
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The British watched the French maneuverings with smug disapproval,
but they had their own difficulties with the Americans. Or rather, they
were forced into a confrontation by South Africa, Australia and New Zea-
land, who because of their own territorial ambitions wanted nothing to do
with mandates. Lloyd George found himself putting a case that he knew
would be opposed by the United States. On January 24, he argued, some-
what halfheartedly, in the Supreme Council that annexation made admin-
istrative sense. He left it to the dominion leaders to supply the other
arguments.

Smuts and Botha presented South Africa’s case for the annexation of
German Southwest Africa. Both men had fought in the brief victorious
campaign of 1915, planned by Botha. They were asking to keep a huge
stretch of territory, the size of England and France combined, widely re-
garded as without much value. (Its rich deposits of minerals had yet to be
discovered.) The Atlantic coast was desert, the bulk of the interior scrub
land, suitable mainiy for grazing. A few thousand Germans, many of them
rumored to be fleeing scandal in Germany, had built themselves imitation
castles, cozy German villages and a neat little capital at Windhoek. The
first German imperial commissioner, Ernst Goering (father of Hermann),
had set the tone for German rule over the much larger African population
with his authoritarian and brutal administration.’

Smuts and Botha made much of German cruelty toward the natives.
White South Africans by contrast, said Smuts, understood the natives; in-
deed, they had done their best to give them a form of self-government.
“They had established a white civilization in a savage continent and had
become a great cultural agency all over South Africa.” Now there was a
chance for the peoples of Southwest Africa to share in these benefits. The
territory was already tied to South Africa by geography; on all grounds, it
made sense simply to make one country out of two. Wilson listened sym-
pathetically. He liked both men, Smuts in particular, and, while he was not
prepared to back down, he made it clear that he felt a South African man-
date would be so successful that the inhabitants of Southwest Africa
would one day freely choose to unite with South Africa.?

Clemenceau, the chair, then invited the “cannibals”—a little running
joke he had with Hughes—to present the case for Australia and New
Zealand. Waving a grossly distorted map which showed the lands
he wanted—New Guinea and nearby islands such as the Bismarck
Archipelago—practically touching Australia, Hughes demanded outright
annexation. He cited defense (the islands were “as necessary to Australia as
water to a city”) and Australia’s contribution in the war, the 90,000 casual-
ties, the 60,000 killed and the war debt of £300 million. “Australia did not
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Clemenceau exclaimed to Poincaré: “The League of Nations guarantee-
ing the peace, so be it, but the League of Nations proprietor of colonies,
no!” Colonies were a mark of power; they also held what France badly
needed: manpower. There were always going to be more Germans than
French, but with colonies in Asia and Africa the French had some hope of
restoring the balance with what they liked to call “our distant brothers.” If
France received mandates under the League, would there be niggling re-
strictions on the recruitment of native soldiers for duty overseas? Unfor-
tunately both the Americans and the British appeared to be thinking along
these lines. Their proposed terms for mandates had the responsible pow-
ers doing humanitarian work, putting down slave trafficking, for example,
but they also prohibited the military training of inhabitants for anything
except police and “defence of territory.”

When the mandates issue came up in the Supreme Council, Clemen-
ceau and Pichon launched an attack. Why should France spend time and
money on looking after its mandates if it could not ask for volunteers to
defend it when the time came? It was all very well for the United States
and Britain to take a detached view, protected as they were from Germany
by geography, but France would not have survived the German attack
without its colonial soldiers. Lloyd George tried to find a compromise.
The clause that so upset the French was really directed against the sort of
thing the Germans used to do, raising big native armies to attack other col-
onies. The French would be perfectly free to defend themselves and what-
ever territories were under their wing. Clemenceau was mollified: “If this
clause meant that he had a right of raising troops in case of general war, he
was satisfied.” Lloyd George cheerfully agreed: “So long as M. Clemen-
ceau did not train big nigger armies for the purposes of aggression, that
was all the clause was intended to guard against.” Wilson said he agreed
with Lloyd George’s interpretation. The trouble was that no one was quite
clear what the clause meant. Could the French use soldiers from their
mandates in a European war, or not? Several months later, in May, the
French tried quietly to introduce their own clarification when they
slipped in a phrase about defense “of the mother country” to the mandates
clause in the final version of the covenant of the League as it was being
prepared for printing. The British secretary to the Peace Conference,
Hankey, who spotted the change late one night, did not believe French as-
surances that the other powers had approved it. He rushed round, catch-
ing Wilson already in bed and Lloyd George as he was getting undressed.
“As I suspected, it was a ‘try-on.”” An agitated Wilson made Clemenceau
remove the phrase.®
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upheavals in a Europe already troubled by revolution. He would not
stand, he said privately, for “dividing the swag.” If necessary, and this was a
tavorite threat, he would take the whole issue to the public. On the other
hand, he was eager to move on from mandates. The fate of Europe—of
Germany, Austria-Hungary, Russia—was the important question."

Behind the scenes, a number of people were working to ease the con-
frontations. The Canadians, who always feared the consequences of ten-
sion between Britain and the United States, urged Hughes and Massey to
be reasonable. House, now recovered from his illness, told the British that
they must back down. Smuts and Cecil worked out a proposal which
House thought the basis of a deal. There would be three types of man-
dates: “A” for nations, such as those in the Middle East, which were nearly
ready to run their own affairs; “B” where the mandatory power would run
them; and “C” for territories that were contiguous or close to the manda-
tory power, which would administer the territory as part of its own, sub-
ject only to certain restrictions, such as on the sale of alcohol and firearms.
“C” mandates, in other words, conveniently covered Southwest Africa
and the islands Australia and New Zealand wanted. A 9g99-year lease, said
Hughes, instead of outright freehold. He was not prepared, however, to
give way gracefully."

On January 29, a meeting of the British empire delegation produced,
in Borden’s words, a “pretty warm scene.” Lloyd George outlined the
three types of mandate, which he thought the Americans would accept.
Hughes, fighting “like a weasel,” quibbled over every point until Lloyd
George lost his temper and told him that he had been arguing his case
with the United States for three days but that he did not intend to quarrel
with the Americans over the Solomon Islands.’

Unfortunately, the next morning the Daily Mail, which published a
Paris edition during the Peace Conference, came out with a story clearly
inspired by Hughes. The article accused Britain of truckling to the United
States, and claimed that the interests of the British empire were being sac-
rificed to satisty Wilson’s impractical ideals. That morning, the Supreme
Council saw “a first-class row.” Lloyd George was angry with Hughes, and
Wilson, always sensitive to criticism, was furious. He delivered a rambling
and muddled criticism of the proposed compromise and suggested that
the whole question of mandates be postponed until the League had been
settled. He was noticeably rude to the Australian prime minister. “Mr
Hughes,” said Lloyd George, who was despairing of ever getting an agree-
ment, “was the last man I should have chosen to handle in that way.” Wil-
son brusquely asked Hughes: “Am [ to understand that if the whole
civilised world asks Australia to agree to a mandate in respect of these is-
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wish to be left to stagger under this load and not to feel safe.” Although he
could not say so openly, the future enemy Hughes had in mind was Japan.
The Australians had also considered using the argument that the locals
welcomed them with open arms, but when the Australian government
carried out some inquiries in New Guinea it found that the inhabitants
much preferred German officials, who had let them go their happy head-
hunting way. There would be unlimited access for missionaries, Hughes
said in reply to an earnest question from the president: “There are many
days when the poor devils do not get half enough missionaries to eat.”

Massey, brandishing his own map, made a long and rambling speech
on behalf of New Zealand’s claim to Samoa. New Zealand troops, at
“great risk,” had occupied the islands at the start of the war. (In fact, the
greatest risk came from boredom as the occupiers sat for the next few
years downing huge quantities of beer.) The Samoans were not savages
but very sensible people, and they wanted New Zealand rule. (Mean-
while, the Samoans were presenting the local New Zealand administrator
with a petition demanding American rule, rule from London, rule by any
power except New Zealand.!?)

Wilson, who could not bear Hughes in particular, listened with an ob-
vious lack of sympathy. The French watched with amusement. They did
not like mandates and they did not mind seeing disarray in the British em-
pire. “Poor little Hughes is swelling up with pseudo importance,” wrote a
member of the Australian delegation. “Of course he is being used as a
Catspaw by the French who want the Cameroons, Togo Land & Syria.”!!

A few days later, the French minister of colonies, Henri Simon, was
moderation itself when he spoke to the Supreme Council. France only
wanted two little pieces of territory in Africa: Togoland, which ran inland
along France’s West African colony of Dahomey (Benin), and the
Cameroons, also in West Africa, which Germany had managed to pry out
of France in 1911. (In addition, France wanted an exclusive protectorate
over Morocco, but there was no need to mention that.) He preferred an-
nexation, said Simon, as being more efficient and better for the natives. All
France wished was to be able to continue its work of spreading civilization
in tropical Africa. Clemenceau, who did not care at all about colonial pos-
sessions, undercut the effect of all this by saying that he was quite ready to
compromise.'?

Wilson dug in his heels. “If the process of annexation went on,” he
told the Supreme Council, “the League of Nations would be discredited
from the beginning.” The world expected more of them. They must not
go back to the old games, parceling out helpless peoples. If they were not
careful, public opinion would turn against them. They would see further
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forms that were taking place in the Congo, and a former minister of for-
eign affairs from Portugal praised his own country’s management of its
colonies. The handful of delegates from French Africa demonstrated the
success of the mission civilisatrice by eulogizing the achievements of the
Third Republic. The Congress passed resolutions calling for the Peace
Conference to give the League direct control of the former German colo-
nies. House received Du Bois with his customary courtesy but said noth-
ing about the resolutions.

As the months passed, the powers made quiet deals behind the scenes.
Some merely confirmed arrangements made during the war. Japan, for
example, got its islands north of the equator. To the south, New Zealand
and Australia also got their islands. Partners when it came to defying Wil-
son, they then squabbled briskly for the next few months over Nauru,
which had not been allocated. The island was only 20 square kilometers,
but since it was composed mainly of bird droppings, it was an extremely
valuable source of phosphates, used to make fertilizer. Without Nauru,
both Hughes and Massey argued, their agriculture would collapse. The
British settled the matter by taking over the mandate for Nauru them-
selves and doling out a meager royalty to the few thousand locals. (When
Nauru became independent in 1968 and took over the phosphate busi-
ness, its inhabitants had one of the highest per capita incomes in the world
and a homeland that was vanishing under their feet. A trust fund which
may be worth around $1 billion has gone into buying property abroad, and
into the pockets of highly respectable Australian advisers. The phosphates
are about to run out, but Nauru has today found a fresh source of income
in money laundering for the Russian mafia.?’)

Britain and France had agreed in secret on a preliminary division of the
German colonies in Africa during the war. At the Peace Conference, Lord
Milner, the British colonial secretary, met with his French counterpart,
Henri Simon, to work out the details of their control of some thirteen
million people. France duly got most of Togoland and the Cameroons,
Britain a small strip of each next to its colonies of the Gold Coast and
Nigeria, and almost the whole of German East Africa. The Portuguese
complained; they hoped to add a piece of German East Africa to their
colony of Mozambique. Portugal, one of its delegates told Clemenceau,
was owed something for “its unforgettable services to Humanity and
Civilization above all in Africa, which it has watered with its blood since
the 14th century.” The Portuguese also suspected, correctly, that their al-
lies were planning to transfer a bit of Angola to Belgium in order to give
the Belgian Congo a proper Atlantic coast. In the end Portugal kept its col-
onies intact and gained a minuscule piece of land for Mozambique.?!
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lands, Australia is prepared still to defy the appeal of the whole civilised
world?” Hughes, who was fiddling with his cumbersome hearing aid,
claimed he had not heard the question. Wilson repeated himself. “That’s
about the size of it, President Wilson.” There was a grunt of agreement
from Massey. In fact, Hughes was not as adamant as he sounded. He was
shaken by the reaction to the article and was to spend the next few days
trying to avoid Lloyd George.'®

At this point Botha, who was widely respected, lumbered to his feet.
He thought the newspaper article was disgusting. As gentlemen, they
must keep their disagreements to themselves. Speaking for himself, he
wholeheartedly supported the great ideals expressed by President Wilson.
Surely they all did. “He hoped that they would try in a spirit of co-
operation, and by giving way on smaller things, to meet the difficulties and
make the bigger ideal more possible.” Wilson, who was ashamed of his
outburst, was deeply moved. Massey made conciliatory noises, while
Hughes said nothing. The proposal, with its three classes of mandate,
went through. The awkward question of who got what was put to one
side."”

It was the most difficult moment of a grueling week. The Supreme
Council was also grappling with other matters: whether to negotiate with
the Bolsheviks; Poland and its needs; Czechoslovakia’s borders; the Ger-
man peace terms. It had heard from the Chinese, who wanted German
concessions in China back, and from the Japanese, who hoped to keep
them; from the Belgians, who also wanted territory in Africa; and from
the Rumanians and the Yugoslavs, who were arguing over territory. That
Friday evening, Clemenceau complained to his aide Mordacq that he was
at the end of his tether. His mind was racing with all the questions that
they had been discussing; what he needed was to relax. The two men went
off together to the Opéra-Comique.™

In all the discussions, there had been much talk of how glad the colonies
were to get away from German rule. Yet although the fifth of Wilson’s
Fourteen Points had talked about taking the interests of the indigenous
populations into account, no one had actually bothered to consult the
Africans or the Pacific islanders. True, no Samoans or Melanesians had
made their way to Paris, but there were Africans at hand. Indeed, a black
French deputy from Senegal, Blaise Diagne, and the great American black
leader W.E.B. Du Bois were busy organizing a Pan-African Congress. This
duly took place in February with the grudging consent of the peacemak-
ers. None of the leading figures from the Peace Conference attended. A
member of the Belgian delegation spoke enthusiastically about the re-
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The Belgians were less easily ignored. On May 2, they complained to
the Council of Four that they were being left out and put in a demand for
part of German East Africa. “A most impudent claim,” said Lloyd George.
“At a time when the British Empire had millions of soldiers fighting for
Belgium, a few black troops had been sent into German East Africa.”
Lloyd George was being unfair. Congolese troops under Belgian com-
mand had played an important part in pushing the Germans back in East
Africa. At the end of the war, Belgian forces occupied about a third of the
country. The Belgian government had no interest in keeping this; it in-
tended to use East Africa to bargain for Portuguese territory along the At-
lantic. The British, who were unable to persuade the Portuguese to play
along, found themselves in an awkward position. Belgium would not give
up its gains without something in return. Unfortunately, that occupied
territory included what looked like the best possible route for the
north—south railway linking the Cape to Cairo that British imperialists
had so long dreamed of building.?

On May 7, just after the Germans had received their terms, Clemen-
ceau, Lloyd George, Wilson and Orlando met in a room at Versailles and
agreed on the final distribution of mandates over the former German col-
onies. (They still were haggling over the wreckage of the Ottoman empire
in the Middle East.) When word leaked out into the press that Belgium
was to get nothing, the Belgians, who were already feeling shortchanged,
were enraged.” In the end, Britain decided it could spare a bit of territory
(and that there were other routes for the railway) and so two provinces
next to the Congo’s borders were detached from East Africa. Belgium
took the mandates for Rwanda and Burundi.

When the League finally came into existence in 1920, it confirmed what
had long since been decided. In the interwar years, the mandates in Africa
and the Pacific did look, as Hughes had predicted, very much like direct
annexation. The mandatory powers sent in annual reports to the League
but otherwise went their own way. At the end of the Second World War,
the United Nations took over the mandates and, as the great colonial em-
pires melted away, gave independence to the territories it had inherited—
with one exception. South Africa refused to give up Southwest Africa.
Only in 1990 did it welcome its new neighbor, the independent state of
Namibia. In 1994, the last mandate ended when Palau, which had been
placed under Japan in 1919 and then under the United States after 1945, be-
came independent. The 999-year leases had run out ahead of their time.
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Yugoslavia

WHILE THE GREAT POWERS had been preoccupied with the League,
the smaller powers had been busy polishing up their demands. On
the evening of February 17, 1919, a telephone call came to the Hétel de
Beau-Site, near the Etoile. Would the delegation of the Serbs, Croats and
Slovenes please be ready to attend the Supreme Council the following
afternoon? This sudden and typically capricious attention from the pow-
ers came as something of a relief. The delegation had been in Paris since
the beginning of January, but its leaders had only appeared once before the
council, on January 31, to counter Rumanian claims to the whole of the
rich Banat, which lay between their two countries.

The Hoétel de Beau-Site had not been a happy place during those long
weeks. The delegation, almost a hundred strong, comprised Serbs, Croats,
Slovenes, Bosnians and Montenegrins, university professors, soldiers,
former deputies from the parliament in Vienna, diplomats from Belgrade,
lawyers from Dalmatia, radicals, monarchists, Orthodox, Catholics and
Muslims. Many of its members did not know each other; indeed, as sub-
jects of Serbia or of Austria-Hungary, they had fought on opposite sides
during the war. The delegation faithfully reflected the great dividing lines
that ran through the Balkans: between Roman Catholicism in the west,
and Eastern Orthodoxy; between Christianity in the north, and Islam to
the south. The delegates from the Adriatic side, mainly Slovene and
Croat, cared passionately about security from Italy and control over ports
and railways that had once belonged to Austria-Hungary, but were indif-
ferent to border changes in the east. The Serbs from Serbia, meanwhile,
were prepared to trade away Dalmatia or Istria to get more territory to the
north and east.
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hurt and embarrassment,” complained Prime Minister Orlando, “Yugo-
slavia will have taken the place of Austria, and everything will be as unsat-
isfactory as before.” Britain and France at first reluctantly went along with
Italy and refused to recognize the new state. The United States, which had
no love for Italy and Italian ambitions in the Balkans, recognized Yugo-
slavia in February; Britain and France did so only in June, partly in reac-
tion to Italy’s intransigence, which at that point was threatening to break
up the Peace Conference.?

Nicola Pasi¢, for many years prime minister of Serbia, headed the del-
egation. In his mid-seventies, with clear blue eyes and a long white beard
that fell to his waist, he looked like a benevolent old monk. His private life
was exemplary: he was deeply religious, and, although he had married a
rich woman, he lived simply. He loved to sit in the evenings singing old
Serbian folk songs with his wife and daughters. When he spoke in public,
which he did rarely, he was slow and deliberate. (His Serbian was said to
be full of mistakes.) He spoke only rudimentary French and German and
no English at all. Perhaps because of this, he had a reputation for great
wisdom. Lloyd George thought him “one of the craftiest and most tena-
cious statesmen in South Eastern Europe.” Like another Serb leader, in
the 1990s, Pasi¢ was a devious, dangerous old man who loved two things:
power and Serbia. Few of his colleagues trusted him; he was, however,
adored in the countryside, where most Serbs lived.*

Many people in Paris found the Balkans confusing. At his first meeting
with Pasi¢, Lloyd George inquired whether Serbs and Croats spoke the
same language.® Only a handful of specialists, or cranks, had made it their
business to study the area. What most people knew was that the Balkans
were dangerous for Europe; they had caused trouble for decades as the
Ottoman empire disintegrated and Austria-Hungary and Russia vied for
control; and they had sparked off the Great War when Serb nationalists as-
sassinated the heir to the Austrian throne in Sarajevo.

Pasi¢ had been born when Serbia was already free, with its own prince,
but he had grown up in a world marked by those long years of Ottoman
rule. From Rumania south to Greece, the Ottomans had left their cook-
ing, their customs, their bureaucracy, their corruption and, to a certain ex-
tent, their Islam. “Balkan” had become shorthand for a geographic area
but also for a state of mind, and for a history marked by frequent war and
intrigue. Their past had taught the peoples of the Balkans, as the proverb
had it, that “the hand that cannot be cut off, must be kissed.” The cult of
the warrior coexisted with admiration for another sort of man, like Pasi¢,
who never trusted anyone, never revealed his true intentions and never
took advice.®

Besides the Serbs, Croats, Slovenes, Albanians, Bulgarians and Mace-
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They were together in Paris because of an idea, one of those so popu-
lar in nineteenth-century Europe, that a common language meant a com-
mon nationality. They all spoke a South Slav (Yugoslav) language. While
Slovenian had become a distinct language over the centuries, Serbian and
Croatian were virtually the same except for one striking difference. Ser-
bian, like Russian and Bulgarian, was and is written in the Cyrillic alpha-
bet, borrowed from the Greek of the Byzantine empire, while Croatian
reflected the Catholic and Western orientation of its people and used the
Latin alphabet. While separate nationalisms had been growing in the
Balkans before the war—Serbian, for example, or Croatian—so too had
the dream that all South Slavs, whether still under Ottoman rule, inside
Austria-Hungary, or already independent in Serbia and Bulgaria, belonged
together in one great nation. What started with a few mainiy Croat in-
tellectuals and priests along the Dalmatian coast grew by the 1860s into
Jugoslovjentsvo—Yugoslavism—with a Yugoslav academy, schools, journals,
all to promote unity among South Slavs. But was that going to be stronger
than all the other forces, from history to religion, that marked them out,
one from the other? The Yugoslav idea was always strongest among the
South Slavs, especially the Croats, inside Austria-Hungary who feared
that they were being made into Germans or Hungarians.! Those outside,
in Serbia, for example, had an alternative and equally compelling vision, of
a large nation-state built around themselves.

The state of the South Slavs—cobbled together from Serbia and the
southern parts of the vanished Austria-Hungary—that emerged in 1919
was the result of both accident and hasty, often desperate choices. It was
not even clear what the delegation or the new country it claimed to repre-
sent should be called. Made up of Serbia and the southern parts of the
vanished Austria-Hungary, it eventually took the name Yugoslavia. The
Peace Conference, contrary to what many people have believed since, did
not create Yugoslavia—it had already created itself by the time the first
diplomats arrived in Paris. Seventy years later, the powers were equally
unable to prevent its disintegration. But the peacemakers in Paris had the
ability to withhold territory from the new state, perhaps even destroy it.
They were wary, with good reason, of ambitious nations in the Balkans.
It would be a mistake to give the South Slav state a navy, Wilson thought:
“It will be a turbulent nation as they are a turbulent people, and they ought
not to have a navy to run amuck with.”?

In February 1919 the peacemakers had not yet decided whether to be
good or bad fairy godmothers. Except for one. The Italian government
would have preferred to strangle the infant state in its cradle. Italian na-
tionalists were quick to cast Yugoslavia as their main enemy, the role hav-
ing been left empty by the disappearance of Austria-Hungary. “To our
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Slovenes were to join Serbia, they would do so on Serbian terms, under
Serbian leadership.

One by one, in little wars, simple and straightforward as they now
seemed from the perspective of 1919, the Balkan nations had freed them-
selves from the lethargic embrace of the Turks. By 1914, all that was left of
the European part of the empire that had once menaced Vienna was a toe-
hold in Thrace and the great capital of Constantinople (today’s Istanbul).
The new countries acquired the trappings of statehood: newspapers, rail-
ways, colleges, academies of arts and science, anthems, postage stamps,
armies and kings, most of whom came from Germany.

In the turbulent world of Serbian politics, Pasi¢ managed to survive, a
triumph in itself. Death sentences, exile, plots, assassination attempts, car
accidents: he outlasted them all. And he returned the favors to his ene-
mies. The English writer Rebecca West airily dismissed rumors, probably
true, that he had known about the plot to assassinate the archduke in Sara-
jevo: “Politicians of peasant origin, bred in the full Balkan tradition, such
as the Serbian Prime Minister, Mr. Pashitch, could not feel the same em-
barrassment at being suspected of complicity in the murder of a national
enemy that would have been felt by his English contemporaries, say Mr.
Balfour or Mr. Asquith.”!

In 1919, when the question of appointing a leader for the delegation going
to Paris came up, Prince Alexander of Serbia, who was acting as regent for
his senile old father, insisted on Pasi¢, perhaps to keep him away from
Belgrade. To his considerable annoyance, Pasi¢ found that he had to share
power with a Croat, Ante Trumbié, the new foreign minister. Serbs and
Croats tended to irritate each other. As a Serbian official once complained
to a British visitor, “for the Serbs everything is simple; for the Croats
everything is complicated.” And Trumbié was very Croatian. Fluent in
Italian, with a deep love of Italian culture, he came from the cosmopolitan
Dalmatian coast. While Pasi¢ had been dreaming of destroying Austria-
Hungary, Trumbi¢ had sat in its parliaments. He had learned there to love
precedents and quibbles and reasons why things could not be done. Al-
though he spent much of his life working to create a Yugoslav state which
would include Serbia, he regarded the Serbs as barbarians, deeply scarred
by their long years under Ottoman rule. “You are not going to compare, I
hope,” he told a French writer, “the Croats, the Slovenes, the Dalmatians
whom centuries of artistic, moral and intellectual communion with Aus-
tria, Italy and Hungary have made pure occidentals, with these half-
civilised Serbs, the Balkan hybrids of Slavs and Turks.”!!

By 1914, Trumbié was becoming convinced that the future for his peo-
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donians, the Balkan peoples also included the Greeks (who preferred to
think of themselves as a Mediterranean race) and, depending on your def-
inition, Rumanians (who preferred to talk about their Roman ancestry), as
well as a host of minorities left behind by the tides of the past. The Jewish
merchants of Sarajevo, the Italian colonies on the Dalmatian coast, the de-
scendants of German settlers in the north, and the Turks in the south—
these were also part of the Balkan reality.

At the heart of the region was Serbia. In Pasi¢’s childhood it was a sim-
ple place. Railways and telegraphs had not yet linked the little principality,
as it then was, with the wider world. Apart from Belgrade, the capital,
which had only 20,000 inhabitants, its towns were large villages. Its people
lived, much as they had always done, from farming and trading. Pa3ié was
one of the handful in his generation who had traveled abroad, in his case
to Zurich, for higher education. His little country had great dreams,
which he came to share: of a greater Serbia, reaching east and west toward
the Black Sea and the Adriatic, sitting astride the great land routes leading
down from central Europe to the Aegean. With the spread of nationalism
in the nineteenth century, Serb historians rummaged the past to bolster
their claims and bring all Serbs into the fold. “We got the children,” a
schoolmaster told a traveler in Macedonia when it was still under Ot-
toman rule. “We made them realize they were Serbs. We taught them their
history.” All over the Balkans, teachers, artists and historians were at work,
reviving memories, polishing national myths, spreading a new sort of
consciousness.’

The trouble was that it was not only Serbs who were awakened. As
Churchill observed, the Balkans produce more history than they can
consume. Where the blind Serb musicians sang of the great fourteenth-
century kingdom of Stephen Dusan, stretching from the Danube to the
Acgean, the Bulgarians looked to the tenth century, when King Simeon’s
empire controlled much of the same land. And the Greeks had the grand-
est memories of all, going all the way back to classical times, when Greek
influence spread east to Asia Minor and the Black Sea, and west to Italy
and the Mediterranean. Even the brief possession of a piece of land cen-
turies ago could be hauled out to justify a present claim. “We might as
justly claim Calais,” the traveler pointed out to the nationalist schoolmas-
ter. “Why don’t you?” he replied. “You have a navy.™

Pasi¢ was a founding member of the Serbian National Radical Party,
founded in 1880, which advocated the liberation and union of all Serbs,
including those in Austria-Hungary. Like so many Serb nationalists, he
cared little about the Croats or Slovenes; they were Roman Catholic and
looked to the West, while the Serbs were Orthodox.® If Croats and
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its South Slavs turned, many with reluctance, toward independence. The
Serbians, temporarily chastened by defeat and by the collapse of their
great protector, Russia, were more receptive to the idea of a Yugoslav state.
In exile in Corfu, Pa3i¢ met with Trumbi¢ and, in July 1918, the two men
agreed that Serbs, Croats and Slovenes, including those in Bosnia,
whether Muslim or not, would be united into Yugoslavia, with the king of
Serbia as ruler. Union with Serbia, whatever its drawbacks, seemed less
frightening than independence as, at best, a country cobbled together
from Slovenia, Croatia and Bosnia and, at worst, two or three weak little
states. Unwisely, the two sides put off discussing a constitution; the issue
of federation (which the Croats and Slovenes wanted) or a unitary state
(which of course Pagi¢ wanted) was never settled. Trumbié can have had
few illusions about how the Serbians saw the process of bringing together
the different peoples. As one Serbian government official told him cheer-
fully, there would be no difficulty in managing the Bosnian Muslims. The
Serbian army would give them twenty-four hours—no, perhaps even
forty-eight—to return to the Orthodox faith. “Those who won’t, will be
killed, as we have done in our time in Serbia.” Trumbié gasped. “You can’t
be serious.” “Quite serious.”*

In the months after the Corfu declaration Pa3ié quietly slid away from
any real union. He worked behind the scenes to make sure that the Allies
did not recognize Trumbié¢ and the Yugoslav Committee as the voice of
the South Slavs from Austria-Hungary. In October, just as the war was
ending, he had a meeting in London with Wickham Steed, who still
thought that he could sort out the remnants of Austria-Hungary into nice,
rational patterns. Pagi¢ would not be managed. He told Wickham Steed
that Serbia had liberated the South Slavs from Austria-Hungary, that the
Corfu Declaration had been intended only for propaganda, and that Ser-
bia was going to be in control of any new state. Croats or Slovenes who
did not like it were perfectly free to go elsewhere. “He alone was entitled
to determine what policy should be followed; and those whom he em-
ployed had to obey orders.” Wickham Steed angrily accused Pasi¢ of act-
ing like a sultan, and the two men never spoke to each other again.'

Apart from self-appointed experts such as Wickham Steed, few on the Al-
lied side had given much thought to the future of central Europe and even
less to the Balkans. The sudden disintegration of the Habsburg empire in
the last weeks of the war raised huge issues. Would there still be some sort
of rump state, with Austria and Hungary presided over perhaps by a dif-
ferent set of Habsburgs? Perhaps Croatia could become a new kingdom
under an English prince. More practically, who was going to own the rail-
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ple lay outside Austria-Hungary. In 1915, in company with a journalist and
a young sculptor, he set up the Yugoslav National Committee in London
to work for a federation of South Slavs, this time including Serbia. It
seemed like yet another of the strange self-appointed committees pursu-
ing lost causes that dotted the capitals of Europe. None of the powers
contemplated the disintegration of Austria-Hungary (and they were not
going to do so until 1918). Serbians had no interest in a federation, only a
greater Serbia. If the South Slav lands of Austria-Hungary entered into
Allied thinking at all, it was for use in bargaining. In 1915, in the secret
Treaty of London, Britain, France and Russia promised Italy a large chunk
of Slovenia and the northern part of the Dalmatian coast. Serbia, it was
hinted, would get the rest of Dalmatia and Bosnia-Herzegovina, perhaps
even part of Croatia.’”

Trumbié, now backed financially by the prosperous Croatian and
Slovenian communities in North America, complained bitterly. Pagi¢ and
the Serbs refused to commit themselves to an alliance of equals. Trumbié
was so discouraged that he talked of giving it all up and becoming a taxi
driver in Buenos Aires. In London, however, his cause had attracted a
small but powerful body of supporters, including Robert Seton-Watson,
an independently wealthy scholar and linguist, and Wickham Steed, who
had been The Times’s correspondent in Vienna before the war. Both men
viewed Austria-Hungary with irritation; it was a corrupt and incompetent
anomaly and they made it their self-appointed task to put it out of its mis-
ery. Wickham Steed had a particular enthusiasm for the Yugoslav cause.
According to the British ambassador in Rome, this was because he had
lived for years, “filially I believe rather than maritally,” with a very clever
South Slav woman.?

Croatia and Slovenia, and Bosnia as well, remained part of Austria-
Hungary during the war, and many of their soldiers fought loyally for the
old empire until the very end. There were Croats, Slovenes and Bosnians,
even Serbs, in the Austrian armies which bombarded Serbia’s capital, Bel-
grade, into ruins, which defeated the Serbian army and sent the Serbian
government into exile, which occupied Serbia and which raped and bru-
talized the civilian population. Whatever their complicity in the murder of
Archduke Franz Ferdinand in Sarajevo, the Serbians paid a very heavy
price. More than 120,000 died in the war, out of a population of 4.5 mil-
lion. By the war’s end, no matter how much Trumbi¢ and his committee
in London talked of South Slav unity, it was not easy for such recent ene-
mies to see each other as brothers and sisters. On the other hand, it was
not clear what alternative they had.

As Austria-Hungary stumbled from one military disaster to the next,
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“drunken geese in the fog.” Surely, many thought, the powers would pro-
tect them. An American mil‘tary man reported from Slovenia in early
1919: “The government and the people emphasize their almost pathetic
confidence in the United States as their champion in Paris. They con-
stantly refer to President Wilson and his doctrines, and believe that their
national claims and their national security, like those of other small states,
can only be gained if these doctrines are accepted and carried out as the
basis of the peace settlement.”"’

On December 1, 1918, Prince Alexander of Serbia proclaimed the
Kingdom of Serbs, Croats and Slovenes. The name itself was a problem;
non-Serbians generally preferred “Yugoslavia” because it implied a true
union of equals. Serbians wanted a name that enshrined the central im-
portance of Serbia. It was an uneasy marriage, among peoples who had
been divided by years of history, religion, cultural influences and war.
Were the claims of a common ethnicity and similar languages enough to
make it last? Outsiders were dubious; as an American military observer
wrote in the spring of 1919, “while the Government officials all take pains
to protest (‘too well’) that the Serbs and Croats are one people, it is absurd
to say so. The social ‘Climate’ is quite different. The Serbs are soldier-
peasants; the Croats are passive intellectuals in tendency. The Public Pros-
ecutor, from whom one would expect a certain robustness of mind, told
me frankly that the Croats had given up struggling against their Magyar
oppressors long ago, and had devoted themselves to the arts.” He noticed
that the Serbian army was increasingly unpopular throughout Croat terri-
tories.!®

Matters were not helped by the conviction of many Serbians that they
had simply increased Serbian territory rather than founded a new country,
and by their suspicion that the Croats and Slovenes and Bosnian Muslims
had not tried very hard to liberate themselves from Habsburg rule. Al-
though Serbs made up less than half of the population, they ran the new
country. The Serbian army became the Yugoslav army; Croatian units
from the old Austrian-Hungarian army were disbanded. In the bureau-
cracy and government, Serbs held almost all the important posts. Belgrade
remained the capital and the kings of Serbia became kings of the new
state. Alexander took an oath of allegiance to the constitution on June 28,
1921, the anniversary of the Battle of Kosovo, the most important day in
Serb history."” It was a beginning from which Yugoslavia never recovered.

At its very first meeting in Paris, the Supreme Council found itself dealing
with the fallout from Yugoslavia’s sudden appearance. Should Monte-
negro be treated as a separate country or not? The hasty vote to unite with
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Serbia and depose the royal family had produced an armed struggle be-
tween the Greens, who refused to recognize the union and who were
largely monarchist, and the Whites, who did. (The colors, and the divi-
sions, appeared again after the collapse of Tito’s Yugoslavia in 1991.) Son-
nino, speaking for the Italians, objected to separate representation on the
grounds that Serbs and Montenegrins were virtually the same. Italy clearly
did not want Serbia to have any more voice than it already had. (The Ital-
lans were quite content to see Montenegro swallowed up by Serbia, hop-
ing that the mouthful would be particularly indigestible.) Lloyd George
and Wilson were for hearing both sides. Wilson was particularly worried
about Montenegro’s rights to self-determination: “The action of Serbia
had gone some way toward prejudicing his mind against Serbia. It was ab-
solutely against all principle that the processes of self-government should
be forced.” The difficulty, as the statesmen all agreed, was to find anyone,
in the existing circumstances, who could speak for the Montenegrins.
Should the Allies recognize the king? Balfour said mordantly, “We pay for
him.” (Britain and France had subsidized Nicholas during the war and
had not yet got around to withdrawing recognition from him.) Wilson
objected that the king could speak only for himself and not for Monte-
negro.”

Much greater problems were waiting for the peacemakers, but there
was something fascinating about Montenegro. The country, a spot on the
map between Croatia and Albania so small that few people could find it,
was absurd and heroic, remote and beautiful. According to Montenegrin
legend, when God was creating the world he had its mountains in a sack
which broke and rained them down in a crazy jumble on what became
their homeland. The Montenegrins themselves matched their mountains.
They were perhaps the tallest people in Europe, handsome, proud, brave
and indolent, given to endless drinking of coffee and the rehashing of old
victories and blood feuds. The intrepid traveler Edith Durham took
against them when she inadvertently looked into the bag of one noble
warrior to discover his booty of sixty human noses; from that point on she
transferred her considerable loyalties to the Albanians.?!

Their legends had it that Montenegrins were descended from the
Serbs who had fled from the invading Turks in the fourteenth century, and
it is true that they were Orthodox like the Serbs and spoke a version of
Serbian. From their mountains they had fought the Turks to a standstill
and so had remained an autonomous Christian island in the Turkish Mus-
lim sea. Their rulers, until the middle of the nineteenth century, had been
warrior bishops. The modern dynasty was established by the last bishop of
the line in 1851, when he tired of being celibate and married. His nephew,
Nicholas II, had been on the throne since the 1860s.
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Nicholas himself, as it happened, was in Paris, living on a dwindling
pension from Britain while his daughters worked as dressmakers. Opin-
ion was divided as to whether he was a cunning buffoon (Rebecca West’s
view) or a great warrior king (the opinion of Edith Durham, who spent a
happy evening with him before the war swapping toasts). There was a
whiff of the Middle Ages about King Nicholas: his insistence on leading
his own troops into battle, on dispensing justice from his seat under an
ancient tree, even the magnificent medals he awarded himself and his
friends so copiously. His capital, Cetinje, was a large village, the Bank of
Montenegro a small cottage, and the Grand Hotel a boardinghouse. The
Biljarda, his old palace, was named after its much prized English billiard
table, which had been hauled up the mountainside, and looked like an En-
glish country inn. His new palace was more like a German pension, with
the royal children in folk costume doing their lessons with their Swiss
tutor while the king sat on the front steps waiting for visitors. Franz Lehar
used Montenegro as the model for Pontevedria in The Merry Widow.*

In fact, Nicholas was not quite the quaint figure he seemed. He had
been educated, in France, among other places, and he had maneuvered
with such success in the tangle of Balkan politics before the war that he
had enlarged the size of his tiny state four times. He had also married his
children well, two daughters to Russian royal dukes, one to the king of
Italy and yet another to the king of Serbia. He had dreamed of Monte-
negro’s absorbing Serbia; it was not meant to happen the other way round.
He still hoped, in 1919, that he could regain the throne he had lost during
the war.

Montenegro had been dragged into war when Austria invaded in 1916;
Nicholas fled to Italy with what many on the Allied side thought was sur-
prising alacrity. The suspicion that he had done a quiet deal with the Aus-
trians followed him to Paris. The British Foreign Office regarded him as a
treacherous ally, who probably was guilty as charged. It soon became clear
in the discussion of Montenegro’s representation that no one in Paris had
any idea what the state of affairs on the ground was, and so it was decided
to hold the question of Montenegro’s representation open. It remained so
until the Peace Conference ended.”

Nicholas did what little he could. He tried to give Colonel House one
of his most magnificent orders; he wrote to Wilson; he issued optimistic
memoranda claiming part of Bosnia for Montenegro. He did not get any
response: there were, after all, more pressing issues than the fate of a
country of 200,000 people. Fresh votes were held, under Serbian supervi-
sion, which seemed to show that Montenegrins wanted to be part of
Yugoslavia. At the end of 1920, France withdrew its support for Nicholas;
in the spring of 1921, Britain did likewise. Nicholas died, still in exile, in
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the spring of 1921. His grandson, an architect in France, has said that he
has no interest in reclaiming the throne. Montenegro remains, as it has
done since 1918, an uneasy part of Yugoslavia.

When the Yugoslav delegation finally got its chance to speak to the Su-
preme Council in February 1919, it brought a set of demands that had been
put together with as much haste as the nation itself, and with as much
wrangling. In an attempt to satisty everyone, six out of the country’s seven
borders were open for discussion. Only the border with Greece, in the for-
mer Ottoman territory of Macedonia, was left alone. In the west, Slovenes
insisted on Klagenfurt, on the north side of the southern spur of the Alps,
as security against what was left of Austria. Otherwise they would be sat-
isfied with the old boundaries between Austria-Hungary and Italy. Pa3i¢,
as usual, played his own game. His main interest, and that of the other
Serbs, was to push eastward into Bulgaria and north of the Danube, taking
a swath of Hungarian territory. Among other things, this would protect
their capital, Belgrade, which had been in a uniquely exposed position,
separated from a hostile Austria-Hungary by the width of a river. The Ser-
bians had chosen it despite this drawback because it lay at the intersection
of the Danube as it swept down from the north and the Sava River, which
flowed from the west, at one of the most important strategic points in
southern Europe. From the north and the west traders, pilgrims or armies
had to pass by Belgrade if they wanted to go on to Greece and the great port
at Salonika, or eastward through Bulgaria and on to Constantinople. The
city had been besieged, defended, taken, sacked and fought over by Ro-
mans, Huns, Crusaders, Turks, Austrians and of course the Serbians
themselves.?*

On the afternoon of February 18, Milenko Vesnié, a Serb, started by
apologizing that he did not yet have a full memorandum to lay before the
powers. There were “certain difficulties,” he murmured. Vesnié, easily the
best speaker in the delegation, was smooth, affable and well traveled. His
rich, attractive wife was friendly with the new Mrs. Wilson. Putting up a
map, he laid out the basis for Yugoslav claims: reward for virtue (Serbia
was a loyal ally, and the South Slavs within Austria-Hungary had done
their best to disrupt the enemy war eftort), self-determination, security.
Slovene and Croat colleagues followed to explain away the contentious
claims: to the largely Italian town of Trieste, the Hungarian provinces of
the Backa and the Baranya north of the traditional boundaries of Croatia,
the Rumanian-speaking parts of the Banat and the German-speaking
areas around Klagenfurt. They denied that they were asking for non-Slav
areas: the old censuses were unreliable, and in any case the Austrians and
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the Hungarians had deliberately suppressed Slavic schools and culture.
Why, 2 man had been arrested in the old empire for asking for a railway
ticket in Slovene. Even Yugoslavia’s supporters were troubled. “Have they
lost all sense of proportion and good sense?” asked a friend of Seton-
Watson.”

Yugoslavia was already in possession of much of what it wanted in
Austria-Hungary by the time the Peace Conference started—Bosnia-
Herzegovina, the Slovene heartland in the old Austrian province of
Carniola, much of Dalmatia and of course the old kingdom of Croatia—
but it wanted still more. The delegation asked for two little scraps in the
west known as the Medjumurje and the Prekomurje, where Croatia met
Austria and Hungary, and, further east, the Baranya and the Backa, part of
the rich southern Hungarian plain. Hungary had few friends in Paris: it
was not only a defeated enemy but looked about to fall into revolution.
The main question to be determined by the Peace Conference was how
much of Hungary Yugoslavia could reasonably have. The Medjumurje
and the Prekomurje were largely Croat and Slovene (although the Hun-
garians tried to claim otherwise) and, after some discussion, were handed
over. The fate of Baranya and Backa, however, became tangled up in the
dispute between Rumania and Yugoslavia and took much longer to settle.

To all the Balkan nations, the disappearance of Austria-Hungary was as
exhilarating an opportunity as the defeats of the Ottoman empire before
the war. Each wanted as much as it could get: self-determination for itself
but not for its neighbors. Already during that confused period in October
1918 when Austria-Hungary sued for peace and then vanished from his-
tory, Balkan governments had started to stake out possession, moving
their armies in. New bodies popped up like mushrooms after a storm:
workers’ councils, soldiers’ councils, councils of Croats, Macedonians,
Greeks. It was not clear who was behind them, but there seemed no end
to them and no limit to their demands.

Greece wanted the rest of European Turkey; so did Bulgaria. Both
Greece and Yugoslavia contemplated a division of Albania. Rumania and
Bulgaria could not agree on ownership of the Dobrudja, which stretched
along the west coast of the Black Sea. Serbia, Greece and Bulgaria all
wanted more of Macedonia. There was fine talk of saving civilization and
fighting for right and honor; underneath were the calculations of realpoli-
tik. In the heady atmosphere of 1919, it was madness not to grab as much
as possible. Balkan statesmen claimed to admire Wilson; they talked the
language of self-determination, justice and international cooperation, and
they produced petitions, said to represent the voice of the people, to bol-
ster their old-style land grabbing. They showed beautifully drawn maps.
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“It would take a huge monograph,” wrote an American expert, “to contain
an analysis of all the types of map forgeries that the war and peace confer-
ence called forth. . . . It was in the Balkans that the use of this process
reached its most brilliant climax.”?

The peacemakers had little to guide them in adjudicating all the
claims. Wilson had mentioned the Balkans in the Fourteen Points, indi-
rectly when he talked of the “freest opportunity of autonomous self-
development” of the peoples of Austria-Hungary, and more directly when
he said that Rumania, Serbia and Montenegro should be set on their feet
again. He also promised that Serbia should have access to the sea, without
specifying how, and that the Balkan states, under the benevolent eye of the
powers, should all become friends “along historically established lines of
allegiance and nationality.” What that last meant was not clear but it sug-
gested a disregard of both recent history and the national mix in the
Balkans.

There was also a feeling that loyal allies should be rewarded. Serbia
ought to have something for its sufferings—ports on the Adriatic, per-
haps, or, at the very least, access to the Aegean. Greece and Rumania ought
to collect on some of the promises handed out so freely during the war.
Bulgaria and Ottoman Turkey deserved to pay the penalty for joining the
wrong side. What they could pay was another matter. The Ottoman em-
pire did not have much left in the Balkans, and Bulgaria was broke and
had already lost a great swath of territory in 1913.

The British were largely indifferent to what happened in the Balkans,
as they were to most of Central Europe, so long as British interests,
whether commercial or naval, were protected. They preferred strong and
stable states because those would act as a barrier to a revived Germany or
Russia. While “gallant little Serbia” had its devoted admirers, as did Mon-
tenegro and Albania, the British government was not prepared to spend
British force or British money to secure its well-being.”” France, by con-
trast, was guided, as always, by its need for protection against Germany.
Ideally, an enlarged Serbia and Rumania and, to the north, Czechoslovakia
and Poland would provide such a forceful counterbalance that Germany
would never dare to attack France again. And if a strong Serbia kept Italy
honest, so much the better.

Geography forced Italy to think seriously about the Balkans. While
Italians were generally delighted to see the end of their hereditary enemy
Austria-Hungary, and the liberals, at least, sympathized with the small na-
tions struggling to gain their freedom, Italian nationalists did not want any
other power to achieve dominance in the Balkans, whether a Bolshevik
Russia or a new South Slav state. The nationalists would shape Italian pol-
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icy in an increasingly belligerent and expansionist direction. Because it
feared a strong South Slav state, Italy was prepared to back the demands of
its neighbors Rumania, Austria and Bulgaria. In Paris, Sonnino insisted
that the competing claims of Italy and Yugoslavia must be discussed only
by the Supreme Council. He feared, with reason, that a committee of
experts would worry about the fairness of the frontiers, not about what
Italy had been promised during the war. That story is part of the wider
dispute between Italy and its allies which nearly wrecked the whole Peace
Conference.

The Americans, in the Balkans as elsewhere, saw their role as that of
honest broker, cutting through the thickets of the old diplomacy to apply
the brave new standard of self-determination.?® Unfortunately, the truth
about populations in the Balkans was not easily discovered. The practice
of defining oneself by nationality was so new that many inhabitants of the
Balkans still thought of themselves primarily in terms of their region or
clan or, as they had done under the Turks, of their religion. Were Serbs
and Croats alike because they spoke virtually the same language, or differ-
ent because the former were mainly Orthodox and used the Cyrillic script
and the latter were Catholic and used the Latin? Where did the Macedo-
nians belong—with the Greeks because of their history, or with the Slavs
because of their language? How could you draw neat boundaries where
there was such a mixture of peoples? How could you leave people to-
gether who had come to fear each other? On the population maps of the
Balkans the patterns were rather pretty, a pointillist scattering of colors
and an occasional bold blob. On the ground it was less pretty, a stew of
suspicions and hatreds bubbling away.

The borders drawn through the region left in their wake unhappy mi-
norities and resentful neighbors. And at its heart was the new Yugoslavia.
It had formed itself; but the peacemakers recognized it and padded out its
borders in a series of separate committees. The result was a country three
times bigger than the old Serbia but with even more enemies. The new
state took in Montenegro, Slovenia and Bosnia from Austria; Croatia and
part of the Banat from Hungary; and pieces of Albania and Bulgaria. What
was involved, as so often at the Peace Conference, was not merely the land
and the fate of its inhabitants, but the future web of alliances on which the
peace of Europe would depend.

Austria, Hungary and Bulgaria, the defeated, mourned their losses,
both of territory and of their people. Only Greece in the south was
friendly to the new country. Within Yugoslavia, peoples who had little in
common except language never agreed on a common interpretation of
what the country meant. Yugoslavia paid a heavy penalty for its gains dur-
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ing the Second World War, when its neighbors, with much help from Ger-
many, seized back the land it had won at the Peace Conference and its peo-
ples turned on each other. Although the communist leader Tito managed
to put the pieces back together again, seventy years after the Paris Peace
Conference had first recognized its existence Yugoslavia started to decom-
pose into its separate components, disappearing for perhaps good as a
country in March 2002. Its neighbors watched it uneasily, as they had been
doing since 1919.



10

Rumania

AFEW DAYs before the Peace Conference officially opened, a rumor
reached Rumania that only Belgium and Serbia among the smaller
powers would be invited to participate. Ion Britianu, the Rumanian
prime minister, in the grip of “violent emotion,” summoned the Allied
ambassadors and complained. “Rumania is treated like a poor wretch de-
serving pity,” he said, “and not like an Ally who has a right to justice.” He
instructed them to tell their governments that Rumania had always been a
loyal ally (a dubious statement); he obliquely criticized Serbia for entering
the war only because it was attacked; he muttered darkly about people
who had lost touch with their own countries (his political enemies, some
of whom had made their way to Paris); he warned that if the Allies were
not careful, they would lose all influence in Rumania; and he threatened
to withdraw (from what, it was not clear). The Allied ambassadors passed
on this curious statement to their governments with a warning of their
own: it would not do to alienate Rumania, because it was a useful buffer
against Russia and Russian Bolshevism.! Since the Great Powers fully in-
tended that Rumania should be represented, both performance and warn-
ing were unnecessary.

The Rumanians had a high opinion of their own importance; they also
had large expectations of the Peace Conference. Early on January 8,
Harold Nicolson, from the British delegation, had a brief meeting with
two Rumanian delegates: “They say they are ‘too ashamed to speak of in-
ternal questions.” On external questions, however, they show no shame at
all, demanding most of Hungary.”> Rumania also wanted a slice of Russia,
Bessarabia, which it was already occupying, and the Bukovina from Aus-
tria in the north. Its demands were exorbitant, but it was particularly well
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placed to achieve them. There was no Russian force capable of stopping it,
and Hungary and Austria were humbled. Rumania moved to occupy
Hungarian Transylvania and the Bukovina pending a final decision in
Paris. That had to wait until the Austrian and Hungarian treaties were
drawn up.

Rumania faced a more difficult task with its claim to the Banat—also
on Yugoslavia’s list. Sloping westward down from the foothills of the
Transylvanian Alps to the southern end of the Hungarian plain, this bu-
colic backwater caused much controversy in 1919. It was a rich prize: its
11,000 square miles, with their industrious farmers, rich black soil and
abundant rivers and streams poured out corn and wheat. Herds of long-
haired cows grazed on its pastures, and fat chickens and pigs scratched in
its farmyards. The Banat had almost no industry to speak of, no towns of
over 100,000, and few great monuments. It was picturesque rather than
grand.

On January 31, 1919, Rumanian and Yugoslav representatives came be-
fore the Supreme Council. The Chinese, Czechs and Poles had appeared
earlier in the week to present their respective cases, a precedent that wor-
ried Lloyd George—and he was by no means alone. The day before, he
had asked whether there should be a firmer agenda. “He thought the dis-
cussion on Czecho-Slovakia and Poland the other day was absolutely
wrong. He would not use the term ‘a waste of time’ because that was a
very provocative one, and he could already see the glare in the President’s
eye! At the same time he thought it was not quite the best method of deal-
ing with the business.” If they were starting to deal with territorial issues,
Lloyd George argued, they should get on with it and actually make some
decisions. After an inconclusive discussion, the council accepted Balfour’s
suggestion that they might as well hear the Rumanians and Serbs out be-
cause it would make them happier.® Like many of Balfour’s solutions, it
was more elegant than practical.

As the light faded on that cold afternoon, Britianu presented Ruma-
nia’s case. Rich and polished to the point of absurdity, Britianu had a pro-
found sense of his own importance. He had been educated in the Hautes
Ecoles in Paris, and never let anyone forget it; he loved to be discovered
lying on a sofa with a book of French verse in a languid hand. Nicolson,
who met him at a lunch early on in the conference, was not impressed:
“Bratianu is a bearded woman, a forceful humbug, a Bucharest intellectual,
a most unpleasing man. Handsome and exuberant, he flings his fine head
sideways, catching his own profile in the glass. He makes elaborate verbal
Jjokes, imagining them to be Parisian.” Women rather liked him. “The eyes
of a gazelle and the jaw of a tiger,” said one. Queen Marie of Rumania,
who knew all about seductions, demurely recalled an evening when the
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full moon had made him “sentimental.” In a less charitable mood, she told
Wilson that he was “a tiresome, sticky and tedious individual.”*

Throwing open his briefcase with what Nicolson described as “histri-
onic detachment,” he claimed the whole of the Banat. “He is evidently
convinced that he is a greater statesman than any present. A smile of irony
and self-consciousness recurs from time to time. He flings his fine head in
profile. He makes a dreadful impression.” His arguments ran from the
strictly legalistic (Rumania had been promised the Banat in the secret
clauses of the Treaty of Bucharest of 1916 with which the Allies had en-
ticed Rumania into the war) to the Wilsonian (Rumanians ought to be in
one nation). In the course of his peroration he called in ethnology, history,
geography and Rumania’s wartime sacrifices. He also hinted that the Ser-
bians had tilted toward Austria-Hungary in the past. (The Serbians were
to make the same accusation about the Rumanians.)

Vesni¢ and Trumbi¢ replied. They pointed out that Serbia was asking
for only the western part of the Banat. While they could not call on secret
treaties, they could otherwise use the same sorts of arguments as the Ru-
manians. “Since the Middle Ages,” said Vesni¢, “the portion of the Banat
claimed by Serbia had always been closely connected with the Serbian
people.” Historically, he went on, “as the Isle of France was to France, and
Tuscany to Italy, so was the Banat to Serbia.” It had given birth to the Serb
Renaissance and later Serbian nationalism. And when the Serbian royal
family had been exiled, it had naturally taken refuge there. (To this Bri-
tianu replied, reasonably enough, that the vagaries of Serbian politics had
occasionally driven its rulers into Rumania proper, but this was scarcely
reason for Serbia to claim that as well.%)

In the discussion Wilson noted, with some surprise, that the delegates
from the Balkan nations did not “represent their facts in the same way, and
there would always be something that was not quite clear.” The United
States was always ready, he said, to approve a settlement based on facts.
Balfour, who had been half asleep, intervened to ask an apparently simple
question: Were there any figures as to the ethnic mix of the Banat? Yes,
said the Yugoslavs; the western part, which they were claiming, was pre-
dominantly Serb and, moreover, so were monasteries and convents all
over the Banat. There were, of course, large numbers of Germans and
Hungarians, but they would much rather be part of Serbia than Rumania.
No, said Britianu, Rumanians were in the majority if you took the Banat
as a unit (for political and historical reasons the only thing to do); monas-
teries were neither here nor there because everyone knew the Serbs, like
all Slavs, tended to be religious; and, as for the Germans and Hungarians,
the Serbs would have trouble managing such large minorities.’

On February 1, Britianu produced the full list of Rumania’s demands:
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the Banat, Transylvania, Bessarabia on the Russian border, and the Buko-
vina in the north, all of which he claimed were historically and ethnically
part of Rumania. The Allies acquiesced on Bessarabia and the Bukovina;
they had little enthusiasm for handing the one back to a Bolshevik Russia
and the other over to what looked then like a Bolshevik Hungary. Transyl-
vania was a much larger piece of land and a more complicated issue. The
Allies assumed that they would deal with that at their leisure when they
got around to doing the Hungarian treaty.

Britianu warned that the Great Powers must settle Rumania’s claims
before matters got out of hand and “serious developments” took place.
“Roumania was in need of the moral support of the Allies, if she was to
remain what she had been hitherto—a rallying point for Europe against
Bolshevism.”® This, of course, was a popular argument in Paris, but in the
case of Rumania, which lay between the new Bolshevik Russia and revo-
lutionary Hungary, a powerful one. Geography helped Rumania in an-
other way: it was too far away for the Allies to enforce their will. Rumania
had been an ally during the war, although a notoriously unreliable one,
and promises, as awkward now as those to Italy, had been made by Britain
and France.

The Rumania that Paris knew was the cultivated and worldly one of
Princess Marthe Bibesco, whose salon was famous in Paris before the war,
or of her beautiful young cousin, who married into an ancient French
aristocratic family and as Anna de Noailles became one of the most fa-
mous poets of her generation. The Rumanian upper classes loved France:
they bought educations in Paris for their children, and clothes and furni-
ture for themselves. And the French reciprocated in their own ofthand
way; Rumania, it was said, was a fellow Latin country, the Rumanians de-
scendants of Roman legionaries and Rumanian a Latin language. In the
nineteenth century, France had supported the cause of Rumanian inde-
pendence from the Ottomans; in 1919, the French government envisaged
a strong Rumania as both a counterbalance against Germany and as a cru-
cial link in the cordon sanitaire against Russian Bolshevism. The Rumani-
ans themselves made much of their Western connections: they were the
heirs of the Roman empire, part of Western civilization. Conveniently for
the peace negotiations, they could argue that all the old Roman province
of Dacia including part of Transylvania, which belonged to Hungary,
should be restored to them.

There was another Rumania, though, with a more complicated his-
tory: the Rumania that had been invaded and settled over the centuries by
peoples from the east; that had been divided up among the kingdoms that
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had come and gone in the center of Europe, and that, as Moldavia and
Wallachia, had been under the sway of the Ottoman empire since the early
sixteenth century. The Rumanian aristocrats who spoke such beautitul
French and who came to Paris to buy their clothes had portraits of their
grandparents in caftans and turbans.

Their society was deeply marked by the years under corrupt Ottoman
rule. Rumanians had a saying: “The fish grows rotten from the head.” In
Rumania almost everything was for sale: offices, licenses, passports. In-
deed, a foreign journalist who once tried to change money legally instead
of on the black market was thrown into jail by police who thought he
must be involved in a particularly clever swindle. Every government con-
tract produced its share of graft. Although Rumania was a wealthy coun-
try, rich in farmland and, by 1918, with a flourishing oil industry, it lacked
roads, bridges and railways because the money allocated by government
had been siphoned oft into the hands of families such as Bratianu’s own.
Rumanians tended to see intrigues everywhere. In Paris they hinted
darkly that the Supreme Council had fallen under the sway of Bolshevism
or, alternatively, that it had been bribed by sinister capitalist forces.’

Visitors to Rumania from Western Europe were struck by its exotic,
even Oriental, flavor, from the onion domes of the Orthodox churches to
which most of the inhabitants belonged, to the cabdrivers who wore blue
velvet caftans and came from a sect where men were castrated after they
had produced two children. Before the war Bucharest, the capital, was
charming but backward. Most of its buildings were low and rambling, its
unpaved streets busy with street vendors selling live birds, fruit, pastries or
carpets. Dark-eyed Gypsy girls hawked their flowers; in the nightclubs
their men played Gypsy music or the popular “Tu sais que tu es jolie.”
Well-to-do families lived with their own livestock in compounds guarded
by Albanians.™

Rumania, for all its claims to an ancient past, was a relatively new
country. Moldavia and Wallachia had gained a limited independence from
the Ottomans by the mid-nineteenth century and complete independence
by 1880. Together they formed a reverse L, with the richer, more devel-
oped province of Wallachia running east-west along the south side of the
Transylvanian Alps, and Moldavia to the east of the Carpathians. In 1866
they had gained their own German prince, later King Carol, who had
dodged the Austrian attempts to stop him by taking a Danube steamer dis-
guised as a traveling salesman. His wife was a famous mystic who wrote
poetry and romances under the pen name Carmen Sylva.

The Rumanians themselves were the Neapolitans of central Europe.
Both sexes loved strong scents. Among the upper classes, women made up
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heavily, and men rather more discreetly, but even so the military authori-
ties had to restrict the use of cosmetics to officers above a certain rank.
Even after Rumania entered the war, foreign observers were scandalized
to see officers strolling about “with painted faces, soliciting prostitutes or
one another.” Noisy, effusive, melodramatic, fond of quarreling, Rumani-
ans of all ranks threw themselves into their pastimes with passionate en-
thusiasm. “Along with local politics, love and love-making are the great
occupation and preoccupation of all classes of society,” said a great Ru-
manian lady, adding: “Morality has never been a strong point with my
compatriots, but they can boast of charm and beauty, wit, fun, and intelli-
gence.” Even the Rumanian Orthodox Church took a relaxed view of
adultery; it allowed up to three divorces per individual on the grounds of
mutual consent alone."!

Before Britianu arrived in Paris, Rumania’s spokesman had been the
distinguished and charming Take Ionescu. Cheerful, dapper and well fed,
he had studied law at the Sorbonne and spoke excellent French. His
equally cheerful English wife, Bessie, was the daughter of a boardinghouse
keeper in Brighton. Ionescu had been pro-Ally since the start of the war
and played a considerable part in bringing Rumania in on the Allied side.
On Rumania’s claims, he was more moderate than his prime minister.
“His attitude,” reported an American delegate, “is very friendly towards
the Serbs: the Bulgars, he says, have behaved very badly; of the 28,000 Ru-
manian prisoners taken by the Bulgarians only 10,000 survived captivity.”
On the Banat, Ionescu was for doing a deal: “they must be friends with
Serbia and he does not want to hog the whole Banat, but will give them the
southwestern portion.”'

And in fact a deal had been made in October 1918. Ionescu had met
with the Yugoslavs and hammered out an agreement, actually close to the
one that was reached months later, giving Rumania the largest part of the
Banat and Serbia the rest. The deal had been attacked in the Rumanian
press as a betrayal of the Rumanian nation and was finally scuppered by
Britianu, partly at least because he hated Ionescu. When Rumania’s dele-
gation was chosen for the Peace Conference, Britianu made sure that
Ionescu was omitted."

The Rumanian claim to the Banat stressed, inevitably, ethnic factors. It
also laid heavy emphasis on Rumania’s record in the war. This was not
perhaps the wisest choice. Rumania, sensibly, had stood aside when the
war started. Britianu, who was then prime minister, told his colleagues
that they must wait for the most favorable bid. Less sensibly, the Bratianu
government had made this too obvious, behaving, said a French diplomat,
“like a peddler in an oriental bazaar.” When the Allies appeared to be gain-
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ing the upper hand in the summer of 1916, Rumania finally decided to
enter the war, extracting as its price a promise that it would get the whole
of the Banat, Transylvania and most of the Bukovina. Privately the Rus-
sians and the French agreed that they would review the whole package
when peace came.'

Rumania’s timing was bad; by the time its troops were ready to move,
the Central Powers had rallied. By the end of 1916 over half the country
was occupied by Germans and Austrians; during that winter, 300,000 Ru-
manians out of a total of six million died from disease and starvation. Its
allies, unfairly perhaps, blamed Rumania itself for the disaster. Under a
new Treaty of Bucharest with the Central Powers in May 1918, Rumania
dropped out of the war, an understandable move but one that had impli-
cations for its territorial claims. Since in the earlier Treaty of Bucharest in
1916, Rumania had promised not to make a separate peace, the Allies now
considered themselves no longer bound by their promises. Clemenceau
never forgave Bratianu for his treachery. Britianu dealt with the awkward-
ness by resigning and letting his successors (whom he had chosen) take
responsibility. He managed to delay ratification of the new treaty in parlia-
ment and on November 10, 1918, declared war again on Germany. This,
he announced cheerfully, meant that the deal with the Allies still stood.
Rumania had made peace only in order to conserve its strength for war:
“neither legally, practically, nor morally, were the Rumanians ever really at
peace with the enemy.” Just in case, though, he quietly arranged with the
Italians, themselves anxious to limit Serbia’s gains, that their two coun-
tries would stand together on the need to adhere to wartime treaties. !

The Supreme Council found Rumania’s demands excessive and the
wrangling with Yugoslavia over the Banat tedious. (Britianu complained
that some of them had slept during his presentation.) It was with obvious
relief that the peacemakers adopted Lloyd George’s recommendation to
refer Rumania’s claims, including those to the Banat, to a subcommittee
of experts for a just settlement. When it had studied the matter, he added
optimistically, and teased out the truth, only a few issues would have to
come back before the council. Wilson agreed, with the reservation that the
experts should not look at the political side of the problem. (What was
“political” was never defined.) Clemenceau, perhaps as a result of Wil-
son’s intervention, remained virtually speechless and Orlando made an
ineffectual plea to settle the borders then and there. And so the future of
the Banat, along with other prize pieces of territory in south-central Eu-
rope, was shipped off to a special territorial commission, the first of many;,
which was to have no more success in bringing the different sides to-
gether. In time, the Commission on Rumanian and Yugoslav Affairs dealt
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with all of Yugoslavia’s boundaries, except the ones with Italy which, on
Italian insistence, were reserved for the Supreme Council.!

Although the experts on the territorial commissions (eventually there
were six in all) could not know it, almost all their recommendations were
to go into the various peace treaties unchanged because their leaders sim-
ply did not have the time to consider them in detail. The Rumanian com-
mission eventually broadened its scope until its experts determined the
future shapes of Yugoslavia, Rumania, Greece and Bulgaria and the future
balance of power in the Balkans, between Hungary and its neighbors and
between Soviet Russia and south-central Europe. “How fallible one feels
here!” Nicolson, one of the British experts, wrote. “A map—a pencil—
tracing paper. Yet my courage fails at the thought of the people whom
our errant lines enclose or exclude, the happiness of several thousands of
people.”?’

The Supreme Council did not explain what made a just settlement.
Did it mean providing defensible borders? Railway networks? Trade
routes? In the end the experts agreed only that they would try to draw
boundaries along lines of nationality. The Banat, the piece of land that
triggered the process, also gave warning as to its difficulties. It held a rich
mix of Serbs, Hungarians, Germans, Russians, Slovaks, Gypsies, Jews,
even some scattered French and Italians. And there was always the prob-
lem of how to count heads in an area where the whole notion of national
identity was as slippery as the Danube eels. In the gilt and tapestries of the
banqueting room at the Quai d’Orsay, the Rumanian commission got out
the maps, read the submissions, heard the witnesses and tried to impose a
rational order on an irrational world.'

They also, in the case of the Europeans, kept their own national in-
terests in mind. The French, looking for allies in central Europe, wanted
both Rumania and Yugoslavia to be strong and friendly. The Italians split
hairs and quibbled over procedure, all with the aim of blocking Yugoslav
demands, and then appalled the Americans by hinting that they might
agree to some of them in return for Italy’s own claims in the Adriatic
being accepted. Even where they could have made a magnanimous, and
better still a cost-free, gesture in accepting Yugoslavia’s claim on the Klag-
enfurt area of Austria, they would not. “Poor diplomacy,” in the opinion
of Charles Seymour, a young historian from Yale University. A French
colleague was blunter: “He did not mind the Italian’s crookedness, but he
did object to the gaucherie.” The Americans tried valiantly to pin down
the elusive just settlement, and the British tried to reconcile the Ameri-
cans and the French. “There was a good deal of jockeying to begin with,”
reported Seymour, “and a good deal of rather dirty work in maneuvering
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for position, so to speak. The British stood firm with us in killing this and
in getting down to honest work.”*?

Bratianu made a poor impression, refusing to compromise, showing
his temper and sulking when questioned too closely. He made the curious
argument that granting the whole of the Banat to Rumania would actually
improve relations with Yugoslavia, like “a tooth which has to be ex-
tracted.” He also made threats: if he did not get the Banat, he would resign
and let the Bolsheviks take over in Rumania. He tried to appeal over the
experts’ heads to Wilson, who sent him along to see House, who had to
endure a drunken harangue about how Rumania had been betrayed by its
allies. Bratianu also accused Hoover of holding up loans and food supplies
until American interests, Jewish ones at that, got concessions to Ruma-
nia’s oil. The news coming in from Central Europe did not help his case.
Rumania was advancing beyond the armistice lines into Hungary and
Bulgaria; its troops were massing on the northern edge of the Banat; it was
making wild accusations that Serbs were murdering Rumanian civilians.
The Yugoslavs by comparison appeared reasonable.?

At the beginning of March the Rumanian delegation received a reinforce-
ment when Queen Marie, accompanied by three plump daughters, ar-
rived on the royal train. Colette described her for Le Matin: “The morning
was grey, but Queen Marie carried light within her. The glitter of her
golden hair, the clarity of her pink and white complexion, the glow in her
imperious yet soft eyes—such an apparition renders one speechless.” The
queen spoke charmingly of her longing to help her country; she called at-
tention to her war work. “I simply went, My God!, I simply went wher-
ever they called for me, and they needed me everywhere.” She was, she
said modestly, “a sort of banner raised for my country.”?!

She was indeed. It was fortunate that the heir to the Rumanian throne
had married the one grandchild of Queen Victoria who had no difficulty
in shaking off her English upbringing and adopting the ways of her new
country. Ferdinand was deadly dull, shy and stupid; she was lovely, viva-
cious and adulterous. Her new subjects found this endearing. Her lovers
included Joe Boyle, the dashing Canadian millionaire miner from the
Klondike, and Britianu’s brother-in-law, who fathered, it was said, all of
her children except the disastrous one who became King Carol. She was
also very extravagant. Her trip to Paris was as much about shopping for
herself as about her country. “Rumania,” she cried, “has to have Transyl-
vania, Bessarabia too. And what if for the lack of a gown, a concession
should be lost?” She talked constantly of “my” ministers, country and
army. Her husband, the king, she ignored; she claimed that a letter of ad-
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vice he sent to Paris was “almost impossible to read but as the first sen-
tence began that he had complete confidence in her she never attempted
to read any of the rest.”?

From her suite at the Ritz Hotel, she set out to conquer the powerful.
She entreated Foch, with some success, to send weapons to Rumania, os-
tensibly for its fight against Bolshevism. She flattered House, who found
her “one of the most delightful personalities of all the royal women I have
met in the West.” The British ambassador in Paris dined with her: “She
really is a most amusing woman and if she was not so simple you would
think she was very conceited.” She asked Balfour prettily whether she
should talk about her recent purchases or the League of Nations with Wil-
son. “Begin with the League of Nations,” he advised, “and finish up with
the pink chemise. If you were talking to Mr. Lloyd George, you could
begin with the pink chemise!” Lloyd George found her “very naughty, but
a very clever woman.” Clemenceau was amused by her. He spoke to her
frankly, though, about his displeasure with Rumania for having made a
separate peace with the enemy, and about his dislike of Britianu. When he
accused Rumania of wanting the lion’s share of the Banat, Marie an-
swered archly, “that is just why I came to see his first cousin, the Tiger.”
Clemenceau shot back, “A tiger never had a child by a lioness.””

Her great failure was Wilson. She shocked him at their first meeting by
talking about love. Grayson, Wilson’s doctor, agreed: “I have never heard a
lady talk about such things. I honestly did not know where to look I was so
embarrassed.” Marie then invited herself to lunch, “with one or two of
my gentlemen.” She arrived half an hour late with an entourage of ten
people. “Every moment we waited,” another guest noticed, “I could see
from the cut of the president’s jaw that a slice of Rumania was being
lopped oft.” The queen thought the lunch went oft very well; indeed, she
felt that her time in Paris had done much to help her people. “I had
pleaded, explained, had broken endless lances in their defense. I had given
my country a living face.”?

She might have been better advised to spend more time on the subor-
dinates of the great men. On March 18, the Rumanian commission di-
vided up the prize of the Banat, with the western third going to Yugoslavia
and most of the rest to Rumania. It also gave Yugoslavia about a quarter of
the Baranya and well over half the Backa on the western end of the Banat.
The American experts, concerned as always with ethnic fairness, insisted
on a predominantly Hungarian area near the city of Szeged remaining
with Hungary. On June 21, in spite of passionate protests from the Ruma-
nians, the Supreme Council accepted the recommendations. The Yugo-
slavs briefly caused problems by refusing to evacuate an island in the
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Danube that had been awarded to Rumania, and in the autumn of 1919
there was tension between Rumania and Yugoslavia in the Banat. It was
not until 1923 that the two countries grudgingly agreed to respect the
award.

Yet the new line on the map could not tidy up the population. Almost
60,000 Serbs were left in Rumania, while 74,000 Rumanians and almost
400,000 Hungarians remained in Yugoslavia. In the new world of ethnic
states which had triumphed in the center of Europe, the situation of such
minorities was uneasy; they were too often treated as interlopers, even
though they had been there for centuries. Rumania and Yugoslavia both
pursued policies of assimilation. Yugoslavia eventually grouped its gains
from Hungary together as the Vojvodina; Belgrade ruled, as it does today,
with a heavy hand. Serbian was decreed the language of business; shop
signs had to be in the Cyrillic alphabet, although the Latin script might be
used as long as it came underneath; concerts had to include a stated num-
ber of Serb pieces; newspapers and school textbooks were strictly cen-
sored. In the 1930s, a foreign observer noticed that even Serbs in the
Vojvodina were singing a sad little song:

I gave four horses

To bring the Serbs here—
T would give eight

To take them away.®

During the Second World War, Hitler’s Germany and Hungary di-
vided up the area; it then became a battleground between the occupiers
and the resistance. Szeged, the town that the Americans had insisted on
giving to Hungary, became the site of the camp where Jews from the Voj-
vodina, and indeed from all over that part of Europe, were killed. Today
there are few Jews or Gypsies left in the Vojvodina, but the population is
still mixed. Only half is Serb, and almost a quarter is Hungarian. Belgrade
has fallen back on the familiar techniques of intimidation and repression
to keep it under control. It is difficult to see a peaceful future.

Of all the victors at the Peace Conference, Rumania made by far the
greatest gains, doubling in population and in size. Moreover, it has, un-
usually, managed to hang on to most of its gains. Bessarabia, it is true,
went back to the Soviet Union after the Second World War. The Soviets
also took about half of the Bukovina in the north, and the Bulgarians took
back part of the disputed Dobrudja in the south. But Rumania still holds
its greatest gain: Transylvania.
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Bulgaria

WHILE THE BANAT was being discussed, the possibility of making
it part of a complicated series of land deals was floated by, of all
people, the Americans. If Rumania got more of the Banat, then it might
be willing to give back some of the territory that it had seized in 1913 from
Bulgaria, its neighbor to the southwest; Bulgaria might then be willing to
give up some pieces of land to Yugoslavia, which would then be happier
about losing some of the Banat.! Not surprisingly, this came to nothing.
Rumania and Yugoslavia were in no mood to compromise.

Bulgaria, the one Balkan nation to have fought on the side of the Ger-
mans and Austrians, was of course not represented at the Peace Con-
ference. Nevertheless, it came surprisingly close to gaining rather than
losing territory. It had some friends, particularly in the United States,
and even its enemies were halthearted. Moreover, the principle of self-
determination was in its favor; Bulgarians were in a majority in at least two
areas outside the country: in the southern Dobrudja, along the west coast
of the Black Sea; and in western Thrace at the top of the Aegean. It is also
possible, as the Bulgarians argued, that they were in a majority in the parts
of Macedonia belonging to Yugoslavia, but, as so often in the Balkans, es-
tablishing this was extraordinarily difficult.

It was not clear what made a Bulgarian. Not religion, because, while
most Bulgarian speakers were Orthodox, some were Muslim. Race possi-
bly, but were they Slavs, or nomads from Asia, or a mixture? And how
were they different from Serbs and Macedonians? Their languages, after
all, were very alike. Bulgarian nationalism was as new a growth as the
others in the Balkans, newer perhaps because Bulgarians had lived under
Ottoman rule since the fourteenth century, longer than any other Balkan
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nation. In the 1870s, they had finally revolted. Gladstone had made some
of his greatest speeches when the Ottomans had massacred them by the
thousands. But by 1919, Bulgarians were seen in western Europe less as
victims than as unreliable thugs.?

From the time it first came into existence as a modern state, Bulgaria
had been fluctuating like a Balkan amoeba. In 1878 a huge, autonomous
Bulgaria had emerged out of the Ottoman empire, reaching westward to
the borders of Albania and down to the head of the Aegean. That was too
much, both for its neighbors and for the Great Powers. Serbia grabbed
much of Macedonia, and Greece western Thrace. The Ottomans man-
aged to hang on to eastern Thrace. After a short-lived expansion in 1912,
Bulgaria lost the southern Dobrudja to Rumania. Recovering the losses
became part of the Bulgarian national dream, along with that golden age
in the tenth century when Bulgaria touched the Adriatic in the west and
the Black Sea in the east.

If the Rumanians were the Neapolitans of the Balkans, the Bulgarians,
some five million of them in 1919, were the lowland Scots. Dour, hard-
working, thrifty and taciturn, they had a reputation for stubbornness. As a
local proverb had it, “The Bulgarian will hunt the hare in an ox-cart, and
catch him.” In the Great War, the hare Bulgaria wanted above all else was
Macedonia, a goal that was shared by their king, an ambitious and wily
German prince known to Europe as Foxy Ferdinand. Possession of Mace-
donia would give them control not only of the Aegean coast but also of
the valleys and railways that linked central Europe with the south and the
Middle East. After some calculation, Ferdinand and his government de-
cided that the Central Powers offered the better deal and so in the autumn
of 1915 Bulgaria attacked Serbia. The Allies declared war. Bulgaria enjoyed
a brief period of success, during which it seized the southern Dobrudja
and much of Macedonia, but by 1918 its armies, short of weapons and
food, could no longer fight. Bulgaria was the first of the Central Powers to
surrender.

With Bulgaria’s defeat, Ferdinand abdicated and went back to his con-
siderable estates in Austria-Hungary and to bird-watching, his one great
passion in life apart from his mother. His successor was his son Boris, a
thin and unhappy young man. Boris’s main pleasure was driving trains;
engine drivers on the Orient Express were warned not to let him any-
where near the cab. The young king’s new subjects thought him a fool or
worse; most observers did not think he would last long on the throne, a
view he himself shared. The Allies fretted from a distance. Would Bul-
garia go communist? What if it refused to sign a peace treaty? As the Brit-
ish military representative pointed out in the summer of 1919, “the Allies
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had no troops, and, if a national uprising were provoked, it would be im-
possible to stop it.”*

Much depended on the flamboyant figure of Alexander Stamboliski,
“like a brigand, moving through a blackberry bush” in the view of a Brit-
ish observer. The leading republican in Bulgaria, Stamboliski was the op-
posite of Boris in every way: powerful, crude, self-confident and energetic.
He did an hour of gymnastics a day in his little farmhouse. Unlike Boris,
he was not remotely in awe of Ferdinand. When Bulgaria was tilting
toward Germany and Austria-Hungary, he had not only attacked the king
in a private audience but had published the details in his paper, for which
he was sent to prison.’

Stamboliski gloried in his peasant background. Although he had gone
to university in Germany, his language was vivid with bulls mating and
chickens clucking. He was not, as many suspected, a communist, but
rather a peasant socialist, suspicious of both communism and capitalism;
this was an appealing combination in a country where there were many
small farmers. He articulated their suspicions of townspeople and the
upper classes. “Who sent you to the trenches?” he asked. “They did. Who
made you lose Macedonia, Thrace and Dobrudja?”®

In September 1918, as the Bulgarian armies collapsed, Ferdinand, in
one of his last acts, sent for his old enemy. Stamboliski calmed the muti-
nous soldiers. By the following autumn he was prime minister. Curiously,
he made no move to abolish the monarchy, perhaps because he had devel-
oped a soft spot for the “kinglet” Boris. The truth was, Bulgaria could not
afford further upheavals. The Turks and the Bulgarians had loathed each
other for years. Rumania had troops on the northern border and was
preparing to move south. Greece was massing troops on the southern bor-
der and complaining about Bulgarian crimes, including the theft of cows.
Only Yugoslavia offered some hope for friendship. An old dream that Ser-
bia and Bulgaria might form a great South Slav state was not completely
dead in either country. (Indeed, it was revived by Marshal Tito after the
Second World War.) Still, it was an unpropitious time to talk of Slavic
unity, given the way the Bulgarians had behaved during the war, first at-
tacking Serbia in a pincer movement with Austria-Hungary and Germany,
and then ravaging Serbian lands. At one point in 1919, the Serbians and the
Greeks talked about waging a war against Bulgaria, an idea firmly vetoed
by Clemenceau.’

Surprisingly, the Bulgarians awaited the start of the Peace Conference
with considerable optimism. The American representative in Sofia found
their view “peculiar”: they somehow considered themselves one of the
Allies. “They realize that they committed a ‘crime,’ as the Prime Minister
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called it, but once having admitted this fact, they seem to think that this is
the end of the matter, and cannot seem to understand why there should
be any hard feeling or resentment among the Allies towards Bulgaria, or
why there is anything to prevent Bulgaria from resuming her pre-war
position as ‘The Spoiled Child of the Balkans.”” Artlessly, the Bulgarian
prime minister admitted that his country had made a huge mistake in
joining Germany and Austria: “Bulgaria would never have gone into the
war if it had realized that it would have to come into conflict with England
and the great powers.” The Bulgarian people themselves had always op-
posed their wartime alliance, which had been imposed on them by “a
small band of unscrupulous politicians in the pay of Germany.” The vic-
torious Allies, in fact, owed Bulgaria a debt of gratitude for suing for an
armistice and thus starting the process that ended the war.?

The Bulgarian government put particular faith in one power: the
United States. Wilson was, it was said, widely admired by Bulgarians; in
particular, they liked his principle of self-determination. This was shrewd:
Bulgaria was not formally at war with the United States, and Americans
were generally sympathetic, encouraged by the enthusiastic lobbying of
American missionaries from the Protestant Board. (It was suggested by a
cynic that the latter were uniformly pro-Bulgarian because Bulgaria was
the only Balkan country where they had enjoyed any success.) American
experts favored giving Bulgaria access to the Aegean, the southern Do-
brudja and perhaps part of Macedonia. Bulgaria itself would have settled
for even more. Like the other defeated nations—Germany, Austria, Hun-
gary and Turkey—it was anxious to see the terms of its treaty. The govern-
ment sent a memorandum to Paris with its demands, which included the
whole of Thrace; “unreal and unworthy of its subject” was the view in the
British delegation.’

Bulgaria’s southern boundaries could not be decided until a peace was
worked out with the Ottoman empire, which was clearly not going to
happen for some time. As far as Macedonia was concerned, the Allies
eventually decided that they had enough to do without worrying about
that unhappy, much disputed piece of territory. The British and the
French agreed that it was dangerous to start meddling with borders estab-
lished in the Balkans before 1914. Macedonia was left alone, even though
this would leave a considerable number of Bulgarians under Yugoslav
rule.

The British and the French might have been persuaded to break their
own rule (as they later did when they took western Thrace from Bulgaria
and gave it to Greece) if they had felt Bulgaria deserved it. They did not.
When Yugoslavia claimed territory on Bulgaria’s western frontier to pro-



140 THE BALKANS AGAIN

tect crucial railway lines and Belgrade itself against future attack, the Brit-
ish and the French were prepared to listen. The Italians, hostile to Yugo-
slavia, objected. Italian soldiers in the Allied occupying forces apparently
let Bulgarian prisoners escape, dragged their feet on disarming the Bulgar-
ian army and even supplied it with weapons. Eventually, over Italian
objections, four pieces of territory, mainly inhabited by Bulgars, were
handed over to Yugoslavia—not as much as it wanted, but too much for
Bulgaria, which complained bitterly that it had lost all the strategic points
in the mountains dividing the two countries.!

The southern Dobrudja caused even greater bitterness. The Ameri-
cans insisted that the Peace Conference deal with its ownership. On eth-
nic grounds, Bulgaria’s claim was much stronger than Rumania’s. The
population was mixed: largely Tatars, Turks, Bulgarian-speaking Muslims
and Christian Bulgarians, who were probably in a slight majority. There
were fewer than 10,000 Rumanians out of a population of almost 300,000.
Rumania nevertheless managed to hang on to it at the Peace Conference,
partly because the issue was small and unimportant in the context of its
other demands. And, as so often happened, facts had been created on the
ground: by the time the Peace Conference opened, the French military
authorities in the occupation forces had allowed Rumanian troops and
civilian officials to take control of the area.!

The Bulgarian delegation, including Stamboliski, was summoned to
Paris in July 1919 although their treaty was not ready. For two and half
dreary months they sat in their hotel, an old castle in the suburb of
Neuilly, under police guard. They were forbidden to go into Paris, their
mail was censored and they were not allowed visitors. In a plaintive letter
to Clemenceau they complained that the French press was attacking Bul-
garians “as a barbarous people, unworthy of the confidence and friendship
of civilized nations.”? Sadly for Bulgaria, the United States, the only
power to support its claim to the Dobrudja, was disengaging itself from
Europe and European affairs by the time the issue came up for negotia-
tion. The American delegates who stayed on in Paris after the signing of
the Versailles treaty doggedly argued their case through the summer of
1919, but they no longer had much leverage over the European powers,
who held, as Balfour put it in his usual detached fashion, that although
Rumania should properly give up a piece of territory “which was clearly
not Rumanian,” it was not the time to make such a request.”

When the draft treaty was finally delivered in September, the delega-
tion had much more to complain about. Bulgaria lost about 10 percent of
its land, including the southern Dobrudja and what it still had of western
Thrace, along with its access to the Aegean. (The Allies took over Thrace
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temporarily, but Greece, which had come to Paris with a long shopping
list, had every hope of getting hold of it.) Bulgaria was to pay reparations
of £90 million. (Since the annual payments taken together with the coun-
try’s foreign debts were more than the annual budget, Bulgaria eventually
defaulted on both.) Finally the armed forces were severely slashed; the
army was to be a mere police force of 20,000. When the details of the
treaty were published, there was a national day of mourning in Bulgaria.

The Bulgarian delegation begged for modifications, arguing that since
the overthrow of Ferdinand it had become a new, democratic country, just
like France after its revolution. The Allies paid little attention; almost their
only concession was to allow Bulgaria to maintain a small flotilla of lightly
armed boats on the Danube. There was talk in Bulgaria of resistance but
Stamboliski, a realist, said that he would sign “even a bad peace.” On No-
vember 27, 1919, a simple ceremony took place in the old town hall in
Neuilly. Guards with fixed bayonets lined the stairway and a curious
crowd waited for the Bulgarians to appear. Stamboliski, pale and appre-
hensive, entered alone. It looked, said a sympathetic American, “as if the
office boy had been called in for a conference with the board of directors.”
Among the observers was the Greek prime minister, Venizelos, “endeav-
ouring not to look too pleased.” Clemenceau presided from a table cov-
ered in green baize, and the signing was over quickly. In Athens there was
a public holiday. In Sofia there was glum resignation.'

Earlier that month, Stamboliski had made a desperate appeal to Ven-
izelos for their two countries to cooperate: “Of all the statesmen in the
Balkans, your excellency is the best able to appreciate the great efficacy of
an understanding among the Balkan peoples.”’® Venizelos, bent on his
dream of a greater Greece and secure in his support from Britain, did not
listen. The following year, western Thrace was given to Greece. Bulgaria’s
southern boundaries were not finally settled until a lasting treaty with
Turkey was signed in 1923, by which time Venizelos, and his dream, had
run up against reality.

Stamboliski turned out to be something of a statesman. Bulgaria ac-
cepted its new borders and renounced its old expansionist policies, even in
Yugoslavian Macedonia. He went further, mending relations with Yugo-
slavia and signing an agreement to cooperate against terrorists; he duly
cracked down on the Macedonian terrorists who were turning Sofia into
their fiefdom. He started to build a Green International of peasant parties
to counter the new Communist International founded by the Soviet
Russians. Bulgaria became an enthusiastic member of the League of Na-
tions. But Stamboliski’s foreign and domestic policies also made him
many enemies: Bulgarian nationalists, army officers, Macedonian terror-
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ists, the middle classes suffering from inflation and high taxes, possibly
the king himself. In June 1923, there was a coup; Stamboliski was killed by
Macedonian conspirators who first cut oft the hand which had signed the
antiterrorist agreement with Yugoslavia. “The poor great man,” mur-
mured the king when he heard.'

The moderate approach to foreign affairs taken by Stamboliski did not
long outlast his death. Too many Bulgarians looked back longingly at
the great Bulgaria of earlier decades; they resented the Treaty of Neuilly
and were infuriated by the treatment of their compatriots by Rumania,
Greece and Yugoslavia. The Macedonian terrorists continued to operate
from Bulgarian soil with virtual impunity, worsening relations with both
Greece and Yugoslavia. Attempts in the early 1930s to get a general Balkan
agreement respecting existing boundaries foundered on Bulgaria’s refusal.
The result was an agreement among Yugoslavia, Greece, Turkey and Ru-
mania that left Bulgaria isolated. As Europe drifted toward war again, Bul-
garia tilted to the German camp. In 1940, under pressure from Germany,
Rumania handed back the southern Dobrudja. In the spring of 1941, Bul-
garian troops, fighting with the Germans and the Italians, occupied Mace-
donia and western Thrace. Bulgaria did not enjoy its recovered territories
for long; under the settlements of 1947 it kept only the southern Do-
brudja. By that time its new communist regime was firmly in place. Boris
was long dead—poisoned, many believed, by the Nazis. Foxy Ferdinand,
however, died peacefully in Germany in 1948, at the age of eighty-seven."”
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Midwinter Break

Y THE END of January 1919, the main outlines of the peace settle-

ments were emerging. The Russian question, the League of Nations
and the new borders in central Europe had all come up, even if they had
not been completely settled. Progress had been made, too, on some of the
crucial details of the German treaty by special committees: on war dam-
ages and on Germany’s capacity to make reparation; on Germany’s bor-
ders, its colonies and its armed forces; on the punishment of German war
criminals; even on the fate of German submarine cables. The big ques-
tion, though—how to punish Germany and how to keep it under control
in the future—had barely been touched on by Clemenceau, Lloyd George
and Wilson, the only men who could really settle it.

Also emerging was what a Swiss diplomat called the “great surprise at
the conference”: a close partnership between the British and the Ameri-
cans. True, there had been difficulties over the mandates, but at the Su-
preme Council, on the committees and commissions and in the corridors,
British and Americans found that they saw eye to eye on most issues. Wil-
son, who never wholeheartedly liked Lloyd George, had succumbed a
little to his charm, chatting away cheerfully as they went in and out of
meetings and even going out to the occasional lunch or dinner. He had
also come to recognize that he was better off dealing with a strong Liberal
as prime minister than a Conservative.'

On January 29, Wilson told House that he thought it would be a good
idea for the American experts to work closely with the British. House,
whatever his own reservations, obediently passed this on to both the
Americans and the British. Lloyd George, who valued good relations be-
tween Britain and the United States highly, was delighted. So were the
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Canadians. “Our relations with the British, who are the only people here
who are not playing chauvinistic politics (a fact that it took Wilson about a
week to discover),” said Seymour, the American expert, “are so close that
we are exchanging views with absolute frankness on the territorial settle-
ment of Europe.” Members from the two delegations fell into a pattern of
frequent consultation, exchanging confidential memoranda and talking
on the secure telephone lines that American army engineers rigged up to
link the Crillon and the Majestic. “Our unanimity,” wrote Nicolson later,
“was indeed remarkable. There—in what had once been the cabinets partic-
uliers of Maxim’s—was elaborated an Anglo-American case covering the
whole frontiers of Jugo-Slavia, Czecho-Slovakia, Rumania, Austria and
Hungary. Only in regard to Greece, Albania, Bulgaria and Turkey in Eu-
rope did any divergence manifest itself. And even here the divergence was
one of detail only, scarcely one of principle.”

As relations between Britain and the United States flourished, those of
each country with France deteriorated. The British saw the French as
competitors for Ottoman and Russian territory in the Middle East and
Central Asia. They also suspected that once Wilson had left for his brief
trip home, the French would try to shape the German terms to suit them-
selves. “I find them full of intrigue and chicanery of all kinds, without any
idea of playing the game,” wrote Hankey. When France faced a financial
crisis, with downward pressure on the franc in February, the British reac-
tion was cool. They could not, they told the French, make a loan to tide
them over. It was only when House interceded with Lloyd George that
some funds were made available. The French accepted the loan but re-
membered the delay. The British and the Americans shook their heads
over what they saw as French incompetence and irresponsibility.’

Relations between the French and the Americans were especially poor.
French diplomats blamed Wilson for holding up the real business of the
conference—the punishment of Germany—with his League. The French
finance minister, Louis-Lucien Klotz, told his colleagues that the Ameri-
cans were trying to sell their excess food to Germany in return for cash
payments, which would, of course, make it more difficult for the French
to collect the reparations due to them. The Americans in return com-
plained that the French were stinging them for their accommodation in
Paris and for the expenses of their army. In the cinemas, French audi-
ences, which had once cheered every appearance of Wilson on the screen,
now stayed silent. French policemen and American soldiers brawled in
the streets. Some of the Americans were overheard to say that they had
been fighting on the wrong side. The Parisians made fun of Mrs. Wilson,
and the French papers, which had been generally favorable to the Ameri-
can president, now started to criticize him.*
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The attacks infuriated Wilson, who was convinced that they were or-
chestrated by the French government. His voice trembling with indigna-
tion, he showed a visitor a confidential document which told French
newspapers to exaggerate the chaos in Russia, to stress the strong possibil-
ity of a renewed offensive from Germany and to remind Wilson that he
faced a strong Republican opposition back home. Increasingly, in private,
Wilson poured out his bitterness: the French were “stupid,” “petty,” “in-
sane,” “unreliable,” “tricky,” “the hardest I ever tried to do business with.”
He still thought the ordinary French people were all right, he told his doc-
tor, but their politicians were leading them astray. “It was due entirely to
the fact that the French politicians had permitted so many apparent dis-
criminations against Americans that the rank and file of the people of the
United States had turned from being pro-French to being pro-British.
And the President also said that the British seemed to be playing the game
nobly and loyally.”

Like Franco-American relations, the weather turned colder. Wet snow
fell over Paris; American soldiers had snowball fights in the Champs-
Elysées. There was skating in the Bois de Boulogne and tobogganing at
Versailles. Because of the shortage of coal, even the grand hotels were icy.
People came down with colds or, more dangerously, fell prey to the flu
epidemic which had started in the summer of 1918. The military doctors
in the Crillon dispensed cough mixture and advice. Smoking, said one,
was an excellent preventative.®

Delegates—in the end, there were well over a thousand—continued to
arrive. The British issued each of theirs 1,500 visiting cards to leave with
their counterparts because that was what had been done at the Congress of
Vienna. After many complaints about the waste of time, Clemenceau
ruled that the practice be abandoned. Many delegates were diplomats and
statesmen; but, for the first time at a major international conference, many
were not. The British brought over virtually the whole of the Intelligence
Bureau from the Ministry of Information, including men such as the
young Arnold Toynbee and Lewis Namier, later among the most eminent
historians of their generation. The Americans had their professors from
House’s Inquiry, and Wall Street bankers such as Thomas Lamont and
Bernard Baruch. The professional diplomats grumbled. “An improvisa-
tion,” said Jules Cambon, the secretary-general at the Quai d’Orsay, but
such views did not bother Lloyd George or Wilson, or Clemenceau for
that matter. “Diplomats,” in Lloyd George’s view, “were invented simply
to waste time.””

Paris was also filling up with petitioners, journalists and the merely cu-
rious. Elinor Glyn, the romantic novelist, entertained prominent men at
her corner table at the Ritz and wrote articles asking “Are Women Chang-
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ing?” and “Is Chivalry Dead?” Franklin Roosevelt, then assistant secretary
of the Navy, persuaded his superiors that he had to supervise the sale of
American naval property in Europe and arrived in Paris, a resentful and
unhappy Eleanor in tow. Their marriage was already falling to pieces; now
she found him too attentive to the Parisian women. William Orpen and
Augustus John settled in to paint official portraits of the conference, al-
though the latter spent much of his energy on riotous parties. British
Cabinet ministers popped over for a day or two at a time. Bonar Law;, the
deputy prime minister, bravely flew back and forth, dressed in a special
tur-lined flying suit. Lloyd George’s eldest daughter, Olwen, a lively
young married woman, came over for a brief visit. Clemenceau offered
her a lift in his car one afternoon and, as they chatted, asked if she like art.
Yes, she replied enthusiastically, and he whipped out a set of salacious
postcards.®

Elsa Maxwell, not yet the doyenne of international café society that she
would become, secured a passage from New York as companion to a
glamorous divorced woman who was on the lookout for a new husband.
The two women gave marvelous parties in a rented house. General Persh-
ing supplied the drink; Maxwell played the latest Cole Porter songs on the
piano; and the divorcée found her husband, a handsome American captain
called Douglas MacArthur. Outside, early one morning, two young offi-
cers fought a duel with sabers over yet another American beauty.’

Attractive women had a wonderful time in Paris that year. Few dele-
gates had brought their wives; indeed, it had been expressly forbidden
most of the junior ranks. “All the most beautiful & well dressed society
ladies appear to have been brought over by the various Departments,”
wrote Hankey to his wife. “I do not know how they do their work, but in
the evening they dance and sing and play bridge!” The puritanical sus-
pected that worse was going on than bridge. An American female journal-
ist traveled “with complete frankness and tremendous enthusiasm” with
an Italian general. In the hotels where the delegations stayed, women
wandered freely into men’s rooms. A couple of Canadian Red Cross
nurses who made quite a career of mistaking the number on the door and
then refusing to leave had to be sent home. The war appeared to have
loosened the old inhibitions. “Vice is rampant in Paris,” said Elinor Glyn
severely. “Lesbians dine together openly, in groups of six sometimes, at
Larue’s. . . . Men are the same. Nothing is sacred, nothing is hidden, not
even vice and avarice.!”

Paris oftered many distractions: the races at St. Cloud, excellent res-
taurants if you could afford the prices and could get in, and the Opéra,
where there were productions of the great favorites: Les Contes d’Hoffmann,
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Madame Butterfly, La Bohéme. The theaters were gradually reopening, with
everything from the classics to farces. Sarah Bernhardt appeared in a gala
for a French charity, and Isadora Duncan’s brother did interpretative
dances. Ruth Draper came over from London to give her monologues,
and Canadian delegates were slightly shocked by the musical Phi Phi. “We
concurred, however,” wrote one to his wife, “in thinking there was some-
thing to be said for the open eyes. I should like to know if; through greater
knowledge, the French escape diseases of a kind which, there is no doubt,
are prevalent with us.” Even Wilson, who was usually in bed by ten p™m.,
went out to a revue; he found some of the jokes too crude but enjoyed
“the decent parts.” Elsa Maxwell carried Balfour off to a nightclub for the
first time in his life. “Allow me to thank you,” said the elder statesman
with his usual courtesy, “for the most delightful and degrading evening I
have ever spent.”!!

Other delegates found more innocent pastimes: early morning walks
in the Bois de Boulogne, bridge games in the evening. Balfour tried
to play tennis whenever he could. Lansing passed his evenings quietly
reading philosophy. The chief Italian delegates, Sonnino and Orlando,
kept to their hotel. Lloyd George went out occasionally in the evenings to
restaurants or the theater, although Frances Stevenson found that his ar-
rival always caused an unfortunate stir. She also complained one evening
when he flirted with a young woman from the British delegation. “How-
ever, he was quite open about it & I think it did him good, so that I did not
mind.”!?

Social life in Paris started to revive. When Prince Murat and Elsa
Maxwell went together to a costume ball—Murat as Clemenceau, and
Maxwell, who was rather plump, as Lloyd George—their car was stopped
on the Champs-Elysées by a huge, cheering crowd. In the bar at the Ritz,
people met to drink the new cocktails. Out at Versailles, in her famous
villa, the decorator Elsie de Wolfe (later Lady Mendl) gave teas for the
more prominent delegates. Mrs. Wilson tried to drag Wilson out to some
of the parties and receptions, to the dismay of his admirers.'

At the Hotel Majestic, Ian Malcolm, Balfour’s private secretary, gave
readings of his comic poems, “The Breaking Out of Peace” and “The Bal-
lad of Prinkipo.” There were amateur theatricals in the basement. After
Orpen did posters for one production which showed two naked children,
the next revue had a chorus singing “We are two little Orpens / Of rai-
ment bereft.” A British officer, who had come hundreds of miles to report
on the situation in central Europe, went away in disgust. “Nobody at his
level,” he told an American colleague, “could be bothered to listen to his
account of the appalling conditions in Poland because they were totally
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preoccupied with discussing whether the ballroom should be used for
theatricals to the exclusion of dancing on Tuesdays and Thursdays or just
on Tuesdays.” Lloyd George’s youngest daughter, the sixteen-year-old
Megan, had the time of her life. The hotel, said the wits, should be called
the Megantic. Her father finally put his foot down and she was shipped off
to a finishing school.™

The dancing at the Majestic became famous. The young nurses and
typists—“like nymphs,” said an elderly diplomat—knew the latest dances,
from the hesitation waltz to the fox-trot. Spectators were fascinated.
“Why,” asked Foch, who dropped in one day, “do the British have such sad
faces and such cheerful bottoms?” The Saturday night dances, in particu-
lar, were so popular that the authorities grew concerned about the impres-
sion being made and considered putting a stop to them.'®

The Paris Peace Conference had far fewer, however, of grand balls and
extravagant entertainments than the Congress of Vienna. The most popu-
lar forms of social life were lunches and dinners, where the delegates got
much useful work done. Lloyd George, more energetic than almost
everyone else, had breakfast meetings as well. The supplicant nations laid
on lavish meals where they poured out their demands. “I am beginning
my work as social laborer again,” wrote Seymour to his wife. “Dinner with
Bratianu tomorrow, lunch with Italian liberals on Saturday, dinner with
the Serbs in the evening, and dinner with Czechoslovaks—Kramarz
[Karel Krami¥] and Benes—on Monday.” The Poles gave a lunch for the
Americans that lasted until five in the afternoon; one after another, Polish
historians, economists and geographers outlined the justice of Poland’s
claims. The Chinese invited the foreign press to a special dinner. As the
courses followed, one after the other, hour after hour, their guests waited
to hear their hosts’ case. In impeccable English the Chinese chatted about
this topic and that, everything but the Peace Conference. At 3:30 in the
morning, the American correspondents went home, leaving one of their
number to report. When he finally left, as dawn was breaking, the Chinese
had still not explained the reason for the dinner.'®

Some of the overseas delegates visited the battlefields. They tried, in
letters home, to describe what they had seen: the splintered trees, the little
wooden crosses with palm leaves dotting the fields, the shrapnel littering
the road, the shell craters, the tangles of rusting barbed wire, the tanks and
guns buried in the mud, the scraps of uniform, the unburied bones. “For
miles and miles,” wrote Gordon Auchincloss, House’s son-in-law, “the
ground is just a mass of deep shell craters, filled with water, and there are
dozens of tanks, all shot to pieces, laying [sic] about the fields. I have never
seen such horrible waste and such intense destruction.” They ventured
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into the trenches and picked up German helmets and empty shell cases for
souvenirs. One party found some new fuses, “lovely playthings for the
children.” They marveled at the mounds of rubble which had once been
cities and towns. Like the ruins of Pompeii, said James Shotwell, an
American professor, after he had visited the old cathedral city of Reims,
although he was relieved to find a restaurant among the ruins serving
sausages and sauerkraut.!”

By the middle of February, the pace of work slackened as Wilson left on a
quick trip back to the United States—officially, for the closing sessions of
Congress; unofficially, to deal with the growing opposition to the League
of Nations—and Lloyd George went back to London to cope with do-
mestic problems. Balfour stood in for Lloyd George on the Supreme
Council and Wilson, choosing yet again to ignore his own secretary of
state, chose House as his deputy. Lansing, depressed and unwell—he was
trying out a new treatment for his diabetes—felt the slight deeply. And it
was by no means the first. When Lansing, an experienced international
lawyer, had made some suggestions about the League of Nations at a
meeting of the American delegation, Wilson had said curtly that he did
not intend to have lawyers drafting the peace treaty. Since he was the only
lawyer present, Lansing took this as an insult to both himself and his pro-
fession. Wilson repeatedly gave House the important jobs; Lansing was
left to brief the press, something he hated. Wilson seems to have taken a
malicious pleasure in stirring up trouble between House and Lansing and
he was delighted when he heard anything to Lansing’s discredit. “Every-
thing Mr. L. does seems to irritate him,” wrote Mrs. Wilson’s secretary in
her diary after a visit from a tearful Mrs. Lansing, “the fact that they go out
to dinner so much, accept invitations from people he (the P) doesn’t like.
He is simply intolerant of any form of life save the one he leads.” Wilson’s
behavior was cruel and ultimately costly: Lansing would take his revenge
when the peace settlements came up for approval back home.!®

Both House and Balfour were anxious to speed up the work of the
conference in the absence of their superiors. They decided to concentrate
on getting at least general terms ready for Germany (the details, it was as-
sumed, could be negotiated directly in what was still expected to be a full-
blown peace conference). The special commissions and committees (in
the end there were almost sixty) were told to have their reports ready by
March 6. That would leave a week for tidying up before Wilson’s return.
The plan was to call the German delegation before the end of the month.
This was wildly optimistic.'

The delegates groaned but plowed ahead. When Nicolson met Marcel
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Proust—*“white, unshaven, grubby, slip-faced”—at a dinner at the Ritz, he
found the great writer fascinated by the details of the work. “Tell me about
the committees,” Proust commanded. Nicolson started by saying that
they generally met at ten in the morning. Proust begged for more details.
“You take a car from the Delegation. You get out at the Quai d’Orsay. You
climb the stairs. You go into the room. And then? Be specific, my friend,
be specific.”?

By the time Wilson left Paris, the League’s covenant had largely been
drawn up, some progress had been made on the German terms and most
of the territorial commissions had been created. But almost nothing had
been decided on the Ottoman empire, and the treaties with Austria, Hun-
gary and Bulgaria had scarcely been considered. There was less and less
talk about a preliminary peace conference and more about the quantity of
work that had to be got through before the enemy states could be sum-
moned to Paris. Although it was not yet acknowledged, what was happen-
ing in Paris was now the Peace Conference proper. In the hotels and
meeting rooms, there were gloomy speculations about whether a peace
could be made before the world went up in flames.

On February 19, as Clemenceau was leaving his house in the Rue
Franklin to drive to a meeting with House and Balfour at the Crillon, a
man in work clothes who had been lurking behind one of the public uri-
nals jumped out and fired several shots at the car. Clemenceau later told
Lloyd George that the moment seemed to last forever. One bullet hit him
between the ribs, just missing vital organs. (It was too dangerous to re-
move and he carried it for the rest of his life.) Clemenceau’s assailant, Eu-
geéne Cottin, a half-mad anarchist, was seized by the crowd, which was
waiting as usual to see the prime minister’s comings and goings, and
nearly lynched. Clemenceau was carried back into his house. When his
faithful assistant Mordacq rushed in, he found him pale but conscious.
“They shot me in the back,” Clemenceau told him. “They didn’t even
dare to attack me from the front.”*

“Dear, dear,” said Balfour when the news reached the Crillon, “I won-
der what that portends.” Many people in Paris feared the worst, especially
when news came in a couple of days later that the socialist chief minister
of Bavaria had been assassinated. Lloyd George cabled Kerr from London.
“If the attempt is a Bolshevist one it shows what lunatics these anarchists
are for nothing would do them as much harm as a successful attempt on
Clemenceau’s life and even a failure will exasperate opinion in France and
make it quite impossible to have any dealings with them.”?

Clemenceau carried the whole thing off with his usual panache. Visi-
tors found him sitting up in an armchair, complaining about Cottin’s
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marksmanship—*“a Frenchman who misses his target six times out of
seven at point-blank range”—and arguing with his doctors: “Doctors, I
know them better than anyone because I am one myself.” To the nurse
who said that his escape was a miracle, he replied that “if Heaven intended
to perform a miracle, it would have been better to have prevented [my]
aggressor from shooting at [me] at all!” He refused to allow Cottin to be
condemned to death: “I can’t see an old republican like me and also an
opponent of the death penalty having a man executed for the crime of
lése-majesté.” Cottin got a ten-year prison sentence but was released half-
way through, much to Clemenceau’s annoyance, after the left took up his
cause.

Messages of sympathy poured in, from Lloyd George and King
George in London, from Wilson out on the Atlantic, from Sarah Bern-
hardt—“just now Clemenceau is France”—and from the thousands of
French who regarded Clemenceau as the father of their victory. The pope
sent his blessing (the old anticlerical radical sent his own in return) and
ordinary soldiers left their decorations on Clemenceau’s doorstep. Poin-
caré, who had initially been as shocked as anyone, was furious. “Singular
collective madness, strange legend which hides the reality and will falsify,
no doubt, history.” The day after the attempt, Clemenceau was walking in
his garden; a week later he was back at work. He was severely shaken,
though. Wilson, among others, felt that he never again had the same pow-
ers of concentration.?

Back in London, Lloyd George was having more success confronting his
enemies. He jumped off the train on February 1o and went straight into
meetings with Bonar Law and his chief adviser on labor questions. “I saw
him a little later,” reported the secretary of the cabinet to Hankey, “and he
was extraordinarily cheerful and vigorous and happy about your doings in
Paris and full of schemes of dealing with the miners and the railway men
should they come out during the next week or two.” In the end he man-
aged to head oft the threatened strikes, arranging for commissions of in-
quiry and bringing management and labor together as he had so often
done before. In his four weeks in London he also created a new Ministry
of Transport and introduced a whole array of parliamentary bills dealing
with social issues.?

Wilson’s trip home was much less successful. The George Washington
ran into bad weather and, as it finally reached the coast of New England,
nearly came to grief on a sandbar. And trouble was waiting on land. In
Washington the last days of the old Congress were marked by partisan bit-
terness and a filibuster by Republicans who hoped, among other things, to
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delay important bills until after the recess when the newly elected Con-
gress, with its Republican majority, would meet. Ominously, the Republi-
cans were increasingly taking the opportunity to attack the League. In the
country as a whole, support for the League remained strong but leading
members of the influential League to Enforce Peace were privately con-
templating revisions to build bridges to moderate Republicans.®

Wilson showed little interest in compromise. He landed in Boston on
February 24 and immediately gave a rousing and partisan speech. He and
the United States, he said, were carrying out a great work in Paris; those
who questioned this were selfish and shortsighted. On their seats the au-
dience found copies of the draft covenant for the League. The senators in
Washington had not yet seen it. This was tactless, and it was not Wilson’s
only political blunder. Boston was the hometown of his great rival, the
Republican senator from Massachusetts, Henry Cabot Lodge.

Lodge, of whom it was once said that his mind was like his native soil,
“naturally barren, but highly cultivated,” came from the New England
aristocracy. He was short, bad-tempered and a tremendous snob. He
shared Wilson’s conviction that the United States had a mission to make
the world a better place and was even prepared to contemplate some form
of league to keep the peace. But he disagreed with Wilson’s methods and
scorned his conviction that the League could solve all the world’s prob-
lems. And he loathed the man—not just, as is sometimes said, because
they disagreed, but also because he thought him ignoble and a coward.
Wilson’s speech that day in Boston was further proof to Lodge not only of
the president’s folly, but also of his baseness. Wilson had asked him and
the other members of the Senate’s Foreign Relations Committee to hold
oft all discussion of the League until he had had a chance to explain it to
them in person in Washington.

The two men had been antagonists for years. They had disagreed over
the start of the war, when Lodge had been for intervening on the Allied
side at once and Wilson had opted for neutrality, and over its end, when
Lodge would have marched on to Berlin and Wilson chose to sign an ar-
mistice. Now they disagreed over the peace. Wilson put his trust in the
League and collective security as a way to end war. Lodge, a pessimist with
little faith in the perfectibility of human nature, preferred to trust power.
He wanted to hem Germany in with strong states, a renewed Poland, a
solid Czechoslovakia and a France beefed up with Alsace and Lorraine and
perhaps even the Rhineland. If the United States joined any association at
all, it should be one with other democracies, where there was a commun-
ity of interests, not a league which threatened to draw the country into
vague and open-ended commitments.*’
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Lodge represented the moderate middle of the Republican party. On
one wing stood those, mainly from the Midwest, who recoiled from any
contact with wicked Europe, and on the other the internationalists, often
from the East Coast, who supported the League enthusiastically. Wilson
could have reached out to many in the Republican party but instead he
drove them away, with his refusal to take any leading Republicans along to
Paris, with his insistence that, in the congressional elections of November
1918, a vote for the Democrats was a vote for peace and a vote for the Re-
publicans something quite different, and now with his actions on his re-
turn trip to the United States.

Unfortunately, at the same time he did little to conciliate the doubters
in his own party. He refused to talk at all to a Southern senator who he said
had been nothing but “an ambulance-chaser” in his law career. Even his
little jokes now had a sour edge. His remark when he saw a new grandson
for the first time made the rounds: “With his mouth open and his eyes
shut, I predict that he will make a Senator when he grows up.”

From Boston, Wilson hurried on to Washington. On February 26 at
Colonel House’s urging, he gave a dinner in the White House for the
members of the key Senate and House Foreign Relations Committees.
The evening did not go well. Lodge, seated next to Mrs. Wilson, had to
listen to her happy chatter about the wonderful reception her husband
had received in Boston. Some of the guests complained that, after dinner,
they were not offered enough cigars or enough to drink. More seriously,
they came away thinking that Wilson had hectored them, as one said, “as
though they were being reproved for neglect of their lessons by a very
frigid teacher in a Sunday School class.” When he saw House again, the
president was resentful. “Your dinner,” he told him, “was not a success.”?

As he was to do so often, Wilson found reassurance in telling himself
that the people were with him even if their representatives were not. And
he was probably right. When a leading American journal asked its readers
whether they favored the League, more than two thirds said yes. Unfor-
tunately the public did not vote on treaties but the Senate did—and there
a two-thirds majority, which was necessary to ratify a treaty, was not so
easily obtained. On March 4, as Wilson was preparing to head back to Eu-
rope, Lodge circulated a round-robin rejecting the covenant as it was
drawn and asking the negotiators in Paris to postpone any further discus-
sion of the League until the treaty with Germany had been finished.
Thirty-nine Republican senators signed, more than a third of the total
membership of the Senate. Wilson’s initial reaction was to wonder if he
might somehow bypass the Senate altogether.?

The Congress duly adjourned on March 4, in keeping with its calendar
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at the time, leaving much unfinished financial and other business. Wilson
issued a public rebuke: “A group of men in the Senate have deliberately
chosen to embarrass the administration of the Government, to imperil the
financial interests of the railway systems of the country, and to make arbi-
trary use of the powers intended to be employed in the interests of the
people.” That afternoon he started north for the George Washington and Eu-
rope. On March s, in one last speech, at the Metropolitan Opera House in
New York, he wound up his brief stay in the United States with another
attack on the opponents of the League: “I cannot imagine how these gen-
tlemen can live and not live in the atmosphere of the world. I cannot
imagine how they can live and not be in contact with the events of their
times, and I cannot particularly imagine how they can be Americans and
set up a doctrine of careful selfishness thought out in the last detail.”*

When his train pulled into Paris on March 14, only a small group of
French dignitaries greeted him at the station. As he drove to his new quar-
ters, at the Place des Etats-Unis, just opposite Lloyd George’s apartment,
there were no ecstatic crowds as there had been the previous December.
The house, the property of a wealthy banker, was not as grand or as large
as the Hotel Murat. The daisies were beginning to emerge, and so were
the problems at the Peace Conference.
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Punishment and Prevention

ILSON’S RETURN OPENED a period of intense work on the Ger-

man treaty that ended only at the start of May, when the terms
were finally agreed. The delay—the war had been over for four months by
this point—raised the awkward question of what the German defeat really
meant. How much power did Germany still have? How strong were the
Allies? In November 1918, the victors had possessed an enormous advan-
tage. If they had been ready to make peace then, if they had realized the
extent of their victory, they could have imposed almost any terms they
wanted.

The German army, despite what Generals Ludendorff and Hinden-
burg—and Corporal Hitler—later claimed, had been decisively defeated
on the battlefield before the German government asked for an armistice,
and before the old regime was toppled inside Germany. In the summer of
1918, as fresh troops and tons of equipment were pouring in from the
United States, the Allies had attacked. On August 8, 1918, the “Black Day”
to the German army, they smashed through the German lines. For four
years, shifts in the lines on the Western Front had been measured in me-
ters; now the Germans went back kilometer by kilometer, leaving behind
guns and tanks and soldiers. Sixteen German divisions were wiped out in
the first days of the Allied attack. On August 14, Ludendorff told the
kaiser that Germany should think of negotiating with the Allies; by Sep-
tember 29 he was demanding peace at any price. The Allies were moving
slowly but inexorably toward Germany’s borders and there was little the
German High Command could do to stop them. Germany was near the
end of its manpower and its supplies, and the public was losing its appetite
for the war. In the streets of Berlin, housewives marched with their empty
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pots and pans to show they could no longer feed their families; in the
shipyards and factories, workers put down their tools; and in the Reich-
stag, deputies who had once submissively voted for the war demanded
peace. One by one Germany’s allies dropped away: Bulgaria at the end of
September, Ottoman Turkey a month later, and then Austria-Hungary.
By November, insurrections were breaking out in Germany. When the
armistice was signed in a French railway carriage on November 11, Ger-
many was reeling under the combination of its wartime losses and politi-
cal upheaval. The terms left no doubt as to the extent of the Allied victory.
Hindenburg collapsed into depression. Ludendorff, disguised in false
whiskers and tinted glasses, fled in a panic to Sweden.

Germany relinquished all the territory it had conquered since 1914, as
well as Alsace-Lorraine. Allied troops occupied the whole of the Rhine-
land as well as three bridgeheads on the east bank of the river. Germany
also handed over the greater part of its machinery of war—its submarines,
its heavy guns, its mortars, its airplanes and 25,000 machine guns. (This
brought an anguished cry from the German negotiators: “Why, we are
lost! How shall we defend ourselves against Bolshevism?”) The great high
seas fleet, which had done so much to alicnate Britain from Germany,
sailed out of port one last time. On a misty November day sixty-nine
ships, from battleships to destroyers, passed between lines of Allied ships
on their way to Scapa Flow in the British Orkneys. It was a surrender and
the Allies treated it as such.!

The French ambassador saw Lloyd George the day after the armistice
was signed: “The Prime Minister said that he had never hoped for such a
rapid solution nor envisaged such a complete collapse of German power.”
Among the Allied leaders only General Pershing, the top American mili-
tary commander, thought the Allies should press on, beyond the Rhine if
necessary. The French did not want any more of their men to die. Their
chief general, Marshal Foch, who was also the supreme Allied com-
mander, warned that they ran the risk of stitf resistance and heavy losses.
The British wanted to make peace before the Americans became too
strong. And Smuts spoke for many in Europe when he warned gloomily
that “the grim spectre of Bolshevist anarchy is stalking the front.”

The mistake the Allies made, and it did not become clear until much
later, was that, as a result of the armistice terms, the great majority of Ger-
mans never experienced their country’s defeat at first hand. Except in the
Rhineland, they did not see occupying troops. The Allies did not march in
triumph into Berlin, as the Germans had done in Paris in 1871. In 1918,
German soldiers marched home in good order, with crowds cheering
their way; in Berlin, Friedrich Ebert, the new president, greeted them
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with “No enemy has conquered you!” The new democratic republic in
Germany was shaky, but it survived, thanks partly to grudging support
from what was left of the German army. The Allied advantage over Ger-
many began to melt.

And the Allied forces were shrinking. In November 1918, there were
198 Allied divisions; by June 1919, only 39 remained. And could they be
relied upon? There was little enthusiasm for renewed fighting. Allied de-
mobilization had been hastened by protests, occasionally outright mutiny.
On the home fronts there was a longing for peace, and lower taxes. The
French were particularly insistent on the need to make peace while the
Allies still could dictate terms. The Germans, Clemenceau warned, could
not be trusted. They were already becoming “insolent” again; in Weimar,
the constituent assembly had concluded its deliberations by singing
“Deutschland tiber Alles.” It was madness for the Allies to say to them,
“Go on. Do as you like. Perhaps we shall some day threaten to break off
relations; but just now we will not be firm.” What would it be like by
April, when American troops had gone home? “France and Britain would
be left alone to face the Germans.”

While his pessimism was premature, it is true that by the spring of 1919
Allied commanders were increasingly doubtful about their ability to suc-
cessfully wage war on Germany. The German army had been defeated on
the battlefield, but its command structure, along with hundreds of thou-
sands of trained men, had survived. There were 75 million Germans and
only 40 million French, as Foch kept repeating. And the German people,
Allied observers noticed, were opposed to signing a harsh peace. Who
knew what resistance there would be as Allied armies moved farther and
farther into the country? They would face, warned the military experts, a
sullen population, perhaps strikes, even gunfire. It was very unlikely that
the Allies could get as far as Berlin.?

The great Allied weapon of the blockade was also starting to look rather
rusty. Although it still remained in force in 1919, and although Allied ships
still patrolled the seas looking for contraband cargo heading for Germany,
the blockade was increasingly halthearted. In Britain, whose navy was pri-
marily responsible for enforcing the ban on trade with Germany, the pub-
lic was starting to ask awkward questions about the sufferings of German
civilians. The general in charge of British troops in Germany told Frances
Stevenson that “he could not be responsible for his troops if children in
Germany were allowed to wander about the streets half starved.” The ad-
mirals worried about the mood of their men. “If the final terms could be
fixed at once,” the first sea lord told the Supreme Council, “the Navies
would no longer be tied down to their present employment as instruments



160 THE GERMAN ISSUE

of the blockade. The spirit of unrest did not leave the Naval Services un-
touched. A very calming influence on sea-faring folk as a whole would be
effected by the settlement of naval peace terms at the next renewal of the
Armistice.”®

The terms of the armistice in fact allowed food to be shipped in to
Germany, although Allied military advisers warned that Germany would
build up stockpiles which might make it less willing to sign a peace treaty.
The French, too, had been unenthusiastic. “It was proposed,” said Cle-
menceau sarcastically, “to buy the good will of the Germans by offering
them food and raw materials. A state of war still existed, and any appear-
ance of yielding would be construed as evidence of weakness.” Wilson
and Lloyd George were more inclined to worry about a desperate Ger-
many sliding further toward anarchy and Bolshevism, “a pool,” said Lloyd
George, “breeding infection throughout Europe.™

Food shipments to Germany moved slowly, something for which
many Germans never forgave the Allies. Part of the problem was a short-
age of shipping. The Allies insisted that Germany provide the ships, not as
unreasonable a request as it might seem: much of the German merchant
marine was safely in German ports. The German government, urged on
by powerful shipowners, dragged its feet, fearing that if it let the ships go
it would never get them back again. Germany also tried to get guarantees
from the Allies about the quantities of food to be supplied and, with the
lack of realism that was to mark its attitude toward the Allies in this pe-
riod, suggested that it could pay for its food purchases with a loan from the
United States. When it was made clear that there was no hope of getting
such a loan through Congress, the German government agreed to use
its gold reserves. This, however, alarmed the French, who wanted the
German gold to go for reparations. It was only after a heated debate in
the Supreme Council, enlivened by Lloyd George waving a telegram
he claimed to have just received from the British army in Germany warn-
ing that the country was on the edge of a famine, that the French reluc-
tantly backed down. By late March 1919, the first food shipments were
arriving.®

The delay in drawing up the peace terms worked to the Allies’ disad-
vantage in another way, too. Wartime coalitions usually fall apart in peace-
time as the thrill of victory gives way to the more permanent realities of
national interests and rivalries. By the spring of 1919, it was public knowl-
edge that there were differing views among the Allies on what needed to
be done with Germany. (The Germans studied the Allied press with close
attention.) It was not, as has often been portrayed, a matter of the vindic-
tive French against the forgiving Americans, with the British somewhere
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in between. Everyone agreed that the two provinces of Alsace and Lor-
raine, which France had lost to Germany in 1871, must be French again.
And by a tacit understanding, no one raised the awkward issue of self-
determination; there was no question of consulting the locals, many of
whom might have disobligingly preferred to remain German. Everyone
agreed that the damage done to Belgium and the north of France must be
repaired. Everyone agreed that Germany, and the Germans, deserved pun-
ishment. Even Wilson, who had insisted during the war that his only
quarrel was with the German ruling classes, now seemed to blame the
whole of the German people. “They would be shunned and avoided like
lepers for generations to come,” he told his intimates in Paris, “and so far
most of them had no idea of what other nations felt and didn’t realize the
Coventry in which they would be put.” Everyone agreed that Germany
must somehow be prevented from dragging Europe into war again.

Almost everyone in Paris in 1919 believed that Germany had started the
war. (Only later did doubts begin to arise.) Germany had invaded neutral
Belgium, and German troops, to the horror of Allied and American opin-
ion, had behaved badly. (Not all the atrocity stories were wartime propa-
ganda.) Germany had also done itself great damage in Allied eyes by two
punitive treaties, often forgotten today, which it imposed in 1918. The
Treaty of Bucharest turned Rumania into a German dependency. And with
the Treaty of Brest-Litovsk the new Bolshevik government of Russia gave
Germany control of a huge swath of Russian territory stretching from the
Baltic down to the Caucasus mountains and agreed to pay over a million
gold rubles in reparations. Two decades later, Hitler set his sights on the
same goal. Russia lost 55 million people, almost a third of its agricultural
land and the greater part of its heavy industry and iron and coal. The Bol-
sheviks were also obliged to pay over millions of gold rubles. Germans
might talk of peace, said Wilson in April 1918, but their actions showed
their real intentions. “They nowhere set up justice, but everywhere impose
their power and exploit everything for their own use and aggrandisement.”
Lloyd George and Wilson, both from religious backgrounds, both good
liberals, believed firmly in chastising the wicked. They also believed in re-
demption; one day Germany would be redeemed.!’

Punishment, payment, prevention—on these broad objectives there
was agreement. It was everything else that was the problem. Should the
kaiser and his top advisers be tried as war criminals? What items should be
on the bill presented to Germany? War damages (whatever those were)?
Civilian losses? Pensions to the widows and orphans of Allied soldiers?
And there was also the related question of how much Germany could pay.
What sort of armed forces should it have? How much territory should it
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lose? Were the Allies dealing with the old Germany or a new one that had
emerged since the end of the war? Was it fair to punish a struggling de-
mocracy for the sins of its predecessors?

Punishment, payment, prevention—all were interconnected. A smaller
Germany, and a poorer Germany, would be less of a threat to its neighbors.
But if Germany was losing a lot of land, was it also fair to expect it to pay
out huge sums? Striking a balance between the different sets of terms was
not easy, especially since Wilson, Clemenceau and Lloyd George did not
agree among themselves, or, frequently, with their own colleagues.

What made these questions even more complicated was that there
were no clear principles to go on. It had been more straightforward in the
past. The spoils of war, whether works of art, cannon or horses, went to
the victor while the defeated nation paid an indemnity to cover the costs
of the war and normally lost territory as well. At the Congress of Vienna,
France had lost most of Napoleon’s conquests and been liable for 700 mil-
lion francs as well as the costs of its occupation. After the Franco-Prussian
War of 1870~71, which many in Paris still remembered vividly, France had
paid s billion gold francs and lost its provinces of Alsace and Lorraine. But
1919 was supposed to mark a new sort of diplomacy. “No annexations and
no punitive peace” had been the cry from liberals and the left; and states-
men from Washington to Moscow had taken it up. Self-determination,
not power politics, was supposed to settle borders.

Public opinion, that new and troubling element, was no help. There
was a widespread feeling that someone must pay for such a dreadful war;
but there was an equally strong longing for peace. The Allied publics spoke
with loud and contradictory voices. In December 1918, the British public
had wanted to string the kaiser up; four months later, it was not so sure.
The French wanted to bring Germany low, but did they want to hand it
over to Bolshevism? The Americans hoped to destroy German militarism
but also to rehabilitate the German nation. The statesmen were feeling
their way in Paris, trying at once to pay attention to their voters, stay true
to their principles, and work out a deal they could all accept. It is perhaps
not surprising, then, that they spent so much time in the early days on a
relatively simple but highly symbolic issue: the fate of the kaiser.

In 1919 Kaiser Wilhelm, the third and last leader of the empire built by
Bismarck, was a fidgety man in his early sixties living in a comfortable cas-
tle near Utrecht. At the end of the war, his armies melting away, he had ut-
tered a few last boastful remarks about dying with his troops around him
and then slipped away into exile in the Netherlands. Even his most loyal
generals had been glad to see him go. His sudden enthusiasms and his



PUNISHMENT AND PREVENTION 163

equally sudden rages had always been hard to bear. Wilhelm had never
grown up; the unloved, restless child had turned into a man who loved
dressing up and playing cruel practical jokes. His erratic behavior and wild
statements had done much to unsettle Europe before the Great War. He
may have been clinically mad; from time to time before 1914 there was talk
in Germany of declaring a regency.!! Queen Victoria had other difficult
grandchildren; none, perhaps, did so much damage as he did. Under the
“operetta regime,” as one critic put it, which ran Germany, the kaiser had
a dangerous amount of power, especially over the military and foreign
affairs. With a different personality, things might have turned out dif-
ferently; as it was, the most powerful nation on the continent of Europe
lurched and bullied its way toward the explosion of 1914.

The kaiser always made it clear that it was his Germany, his army and
his navy. “He has utterly ruined his country and himself,” wrote his cousin
George V of Britain in November 1918. “I look upon him as the greatest
criminal known for having plunged the world into this ghastly war which
has lasted over 4 years and 3 months with all its misery.”'? The king spoke
for many people. As a shattered world looked for someone to blame, who
better than the kaiser, together with his weak, womanizing son and his
military leaders?

In Britain, the coalition had started out the postwar election campaign
in high-minded fashion. “We must not allow,” said Lloyd George, “any
sense of revenge, any spirit of greed, any grasping desire to over-rule the
fundamental principles of justice.” It rapidly became clear that the elec-
torate preferred talk of hanging the kaiser. Lloyd George himself seems to
have deplored the language but shared the sentiments. He amused him-
self, annoyed colleagues such as Churchill and infuriated the king by
thinking up elaborate schemes for trying the kaiser publicly in London, or
perhaps at Dover Castle, and then shipping him off, after the inevitable
guilty verdict, to the Falkland Islands. A Foreign Office official com-
mented to his diary: “The papers write the greatest rubbish about hanging
the Kaiser. They are as mad about him as they once were over Jumbo the
Elephant. We ought to have better things to think about.”*

Sonnino, who had made and then abandoned Italy’s treaty with the
Central Powers, raised repeated objections. It would not do to establish
precedents. Clemenceau had little patience for such arguments. “What is a
precedent? I'll tell you. A man comes; he acts—tor good or evil. Out of the
good he does, we create a precedent. Out of the evil he does, criminals—
individuals or heads of state—create the precedent for their crimes.”
There were no precedents for Germany’s crimes—“for the systematic
destruction of wealth in order to end competition, for the torture of pris-
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oners, for submarine piracy, for the abominable treatment of women in
occupied countries.”!

In the London meetings before Wilson’s arrival, talk of punishing the
kaiser and his subordinates took up much time but all that was agreed in
the end was that they should wait and see what Wilson thought. The
American president was not sure. He loathed German militarism, of
which the kaiser was such a potent symbol, but was it possible that Wil-
helm had been coerced by his own general staft? The American experts,
led by Lansing, were uneasy about the legality of proceeding against the
Germans.

Wilson eventually agreed, unenthusiastically, to a commission to in-
vestigate responsibility for the war and appropriate penalties for the guilty.
Its American members, who included Lansing, refused to agree that the
Germans should be tried for crimes against humanity. Wilson warned his
fellow peacemakers in the Council of Four that it would be much better
to leave the kaiser alone with his disgrace: “Charles I was a contemptible
character and the greatest liar in history; he was celebrated by poetry and
transformed into a martyr by his execution.” In a spirit of compromise
(and perhaps to get the amendment on the Monroe Doctrine that he
wanted in the League covenant), Wilson finally agreed to a clause accusing
Wilhelm of “a supreme offence against international morality and the
sanctity of treaties” and invited the government of the Netherlands to
hand him over. The lesser German criminals were to be tried by special
military tribunals once the German government had surrendered them.
“The rabbit must first be caught” was the opinion of one of the American
experts.'

By the spring of 1919, the public appetite for the chase was waning.
When the Netherlands refused to give up the kaiser, the Allies, who could
scarcely be seen to be bullying a small neutral country, acquiesced. On
June 25, shortly before the signing of the Treaty of Versailles, the Council
of Four discussed the matter one last time. The mood was jovial rather
than vindictive. The kaiser should be brought to England, said Lloyd
George. “Be careful not to let him sink,” said Clemenceau. “Yes, judge-
ment in England, execution in France.” Where shall we send him after-
ward, wondered Lloyd George. Canada? Some island? “Please don’t send
him to Bermuda,” cried Wilson. “I want to go there myself!”'®

The kaiser lived on until 1941, writing his memoirs, reading P. G.
Wodehouse, drinking English tea, walking his dogs and fulminating
against the international Jewish conspiracy which, he had discovered, had
brought Germany and himself low. He thrilled to “the succession of mir-
acles” when Hitler started the war in 1939, and he died just before the
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German invasion of the Soviet Union. The Allies eventually gave up
the idea of trying any Germans themselves. They sent a list of names—
including those of Hindenburg and Ludendorft—to the German govern-
ment, which set up a special court. Out of the hundreds named, twelve
were tried. Most were set free at once. A couple of submarine officers who
sank lifeboats full of wounded received sentences of four years each; they
escaped after a few weeks and were never found.



14

Keeping Germany Down

HE MILITARY CLAUSES of the treaty, which the Council of Four

had started to look at even before the midwinter break, warned that
dealing with Germany was infinitely more difficult than dealing with the
kaiser. Most people agreed that militarism and huge armed forces, espe-
cially the German, were bad for the world; indeed, books arguing that the
arms race had caused the Great War were already starting to appear. One
of Wilson’s Fourteen Points talked about reducing national armaments “to
the lowest point consistent with domestic safety,” and one of the selling
points of the League was that it would provide such security that nations
would willingly cut back on their armed forces. Lloyd George, who knew
that conscription was deeply unpopular in Britain, seized on the idea with
enthusiasm. Disarming the most powerful nation on the continent was
clearly an important first step to the more general disarmament to be car-
ried out by the League. Although it mattered much less, the Allies intended
to impose stringent military conditions on the other defeated nations.
They would also try, unsuccessfully, to persuade their friends in Europe,
such as Czechoslovakia, Poland and Greece, to accept small armed forces.'
Disarmament was good in itself; but it was difficult to reach agreement

on how much of an army Germany should be left with. The new German
government had to be able to put down rebellion at home. Should it also
be strong enough to hold oft the Bolshevik threat from the east? The Al-
lies could not do it for them. Neither could the states of central Europe.
They were not only struggling to survive, but, as Hankey said severely,
“there has not been the smallest sign of any serious attempt at combined
effort to resist the Bolshevists among them. On the contrary, they show all
the worst qualities that we have become accustomed to in the Balkan
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states.” The Germans, for all their flaws, were at least “a solid, patriotic, re-
liable and highly-organised people.” From the French point of view, how-
ever, German forces were always a danger. Foch in particular argued from
the first that the Allies must confiscate German military equipment, oc-
cupy the Rhineland and its bridgeheads, destroy German fortifications
along its frontiers with France and limit the German army to 100,000 men.
These demands, he said implausibly, were merely military.?

One of the few top French generals to come out of the war with his
reputation enhanced, Foch liked to refer to himself as a simple soldier. He
was short, fair-haired, unassuming and rather sloppy in appearance. “At a
distance of 15 feet,” in the opinion of an American expert, “one would
never pick him for the generalissimo.” Born into a modest family in the
Pyrenees, Foch was a devout Catholic and irreproachable family man who
liked gardening and shooting and the theater (as long as it was nothing too
modern) and hated politicians and Germans. The English general Henry
Wilson, a great friend, revered his courage and refusal to give up, even in
the darkest moments of the war. Foch, he said, had “an uncanny instinct
as to the right thing to be done. He cannot always give you reasons.” On
the other hand, the American commander, General Pershing, who clashed
with him in the last days of the war, saw only “a narrow, small, self-
opinionated man.” President Wilson grew to see him as the embodiment
of French vengefulness and blindness. He also found him dull.?

Clemenceau, who had known him for years, was always ambivalent.
“He was a great General,” he told the Supreme Council in 1919, but “not a
military Pope.” During the war he had weighed General Pétain against
Foch as supreme Allied commander. “I found myself between two men,
one of whom told me we were finished and the other who came and went
like a mad man and who wanted to fight. I said to myself ‘Let’s try Foch!””
And Clemenceau felt he had been right. “I always see him,” he said, “in
March 1918, more confident, more fervent than ever, showing himself
truly like a great leader, and having only one idea: to fight, and to go on
until the enemy gave up.” But Clemenceau had reservations. “During the
war,” he said, “it was necessary for me to see Foch practically every day in
order to keep him from doing something foolish.”™

Clemenceau never could trust any soldier entirely, especially not a re-
ligious one. He did not name Foch as a French delegate to the Peace Con-
terence and made it clear that Foch would attend its meetings only when
he was invited. Foch never forgave him: “It is really extraordinary that
M. Clemenceau did not think of me in the first place as a suitable person
to overcome the resistance of President Wilson and Lloyd George.” When
Foch and his supporters nevertheless tried to influence the peace negotia-
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tions, Clemenceau became increasingly impatient. There were dreadful
scenes. During one, in the Supreme Council, Foch marched out and sat in
the anteroom. When his colleagues tried to persuade him to go back in, his
shouts of “Never, Never, Never” could be heard clearly within. Clemen-
ceau thought of dismissing him from time to time, but could never quite
bring himself to do so. “Leave the people their idols,” he said, “they have
to have them.™

Foch had insisted on writing strict provisions into the initial armi-
stice agreement of November 11, 1918. During the Peace Conference, he
warned that the Germans were not complying with the clauses of the ar-
mistice; they were not demobilizing fast enough, not handing over their
weapons. The Allies, he said, must keep large armies in existence, espe-
cially in the Rhineland, or they would not be able to enforce the peace
terms. The British and the Americans were skeptical. Wilson thought
the French “hysterical,” and when Pershing told him that Foch was exag-
gerating German strength, he promptly passed the opinion on to Lloyd
George.*

When the armistice came up for renewal, which it did at monthly in-
tervals, Foch tried to insert new provisions. “It was not sportsmanlike,”
said Wilson. “Little and irritating secondary demands were continually
being added to the armistice conditions whilst at the same time reports
were being received to the effect that the previously accepted terms were
not being fulfilled.” How could they persuade the Germans to accept
them? Foch’s answer was blunt: “By war.” Clemenceau, a little reluctantly,
backed him up. “He knew the German people well. They become tero-
cious when any one retires before them.” On February 12, after consider-
able debate, the Supreme Council came to a compromise: the armistice
was to be renewed indefinitely, without the addition of any significant
changes, and Foch was put in charge of a committee to draw up detailed
military terms for the peace treaty. In the continuing confusion over
whether they were drawing up a preliminary treaty or the final one, no
one was sure whether the military terms were going to be presented first,
on the installment plan, or incorporated in some comprehensive and final
document.’

When Foch’s committee reported back on March 3, it recommended a
small German army with basic equipment but no frills such as a general
staff or tanks. Foch asked the Supreme Council for an immediate deci-
sion. He wanted to be able to start negotiations with German representa-
tives within three weeks. Given the rate of demobilization of the Allied
armies, he and his Allied colleagues could not guarantee that they would
have the upper hand for much longer. The British and the American



KEEPING GERMANY DOWN 169

peacemakers were unsympathetic. “This,” said Balfour, “was equivalent to
holding a pistol at the head of the Council.” Nor did he want to make a
decision in Lloyd George’s absence, since some of Foch’s proposals were
controversial.®

Where Foch wanted a German army of 140,000 conscripts who would
serve for one year only, the British representative on his committee,
Henry Wilson, favored 200,000 volunteers who would serve for a number
of years. The British tried to persuade the French that training thousands
of men per year would produce a huge pool of experienced soldiers. He
would hate, said Lloyd George, to leave France facing that threat. Foch
replied that he was not worried about quantity but about quality. Long-
serving soldiers could easily become the nucleus of a much larger force.
The Germans, “flocks of sheep,” would end up with lots of officers to
drive them.’

Lloyd George took Clemenceau aside and persuaded him to abandon a
conscript German army. Foch only discovered this at the next meeting of
the Supreme Council; he remonstrated furiously with Clemenceau, who
refused to budge. All he achieved was a lower cap, of 100,000, on the Ger-
man army. “So,” wrote Henry Wilson, “I got my principle, but not my
numbers, and Foch got his numbers but not his principle. An amazing
state of affairs.”'” The military clauses were put aside to await Woodrow
Wilson’s return.

Foch, like many of his compatriots, wanted far more than a disarmed
Germany. He wanted a much smaller one. Germany, all the peacemakers
agreed, must shrink. Where and by how much was the problem. Poland
was demanding Upper Silesia, with its coalfields, and the port of Danzig
(now Gdanisk). Lithuania, if it survived, wanted the Baltic port of Memel
(now Klaipéda) and a slice of territory stretching inland. Those borders in
the east, which were part of the much larger settlement of Central Eu-
rope, were to cause much trouble.

On the northwest, Germany’s borders were settled relatively easily.
Neutral Denmark put in a claim to the northern part of Schleswig-
Holstein, a pair of duchies whose fate had much disturbed Europe in the
middle of the previous century. With a mixed population of Germans and
Danes and a legal status of great antiquity and bewildering complexity
(Bismarck always said that only two men in Europe understood the
issue—he was one and the other was in an asylum), they had been seized
by Prussia as it began the creation of modern Germany. The German gov-
ernment had done its best to make the inhabitants German, but despite its
best efforts an overwhelming majority in the northern part still spoke
Danish. The Danish government beseeched the Peace Conference to act
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quickly. The collapse of the old German regime had produced revolution-
ary councils in Schleswig-Holstein as elsewhere, but they were still be-
having as Germans. Danish speakers were being prevented from holding
meetings, their windows were being smashed and, perhaps worst of all in
such a prosperous farming area, their cows were being confiscated.! No
one wanted to reopen the old legal questions, but fortunately there was
the new principle of self-determination to hand. The Supreme Council
decided that the question should be referred to the committee examining
Belgium’s claims against Germany. It duly reported back in favor of two
plebiscites, the first of the handful ordered by the peacemakers. In Febru-
ary 1920, an international commission supervised a vote by all men and
women over the age of twenty. The results closely mirrored the language
divisions; the northern zone voted for incorporation in Denmark, the
southern to stay with Germany. The border remains unchanged today.

It was not so easy to settle Germany’s borders in the west, when
France’s need for compensation and security ran up against the principle
of self-determination and the old British fears of a strong France domi-
nating the Continent. At the northern tip of Alsace lay the rich German
coalfields of the Saar. France needed coal, and its own mines had largely
been destroyed by the Germans. Besides, as Clemenceau reminded the
British ambassador just after the armistice, Britain had once thought of
giving the Saar to the French at the end of the Napoleonic Wars; why not
take the opportunity now to erase “any bitter recollection they might have
of Waterloo”?

The Saar, however, was only a small piece of the much larger territory
on the west bank of the Rhine that stretched north from Alsace-Lorraine
to the Netherlands. The Rhineland, Clemenceau argued, should be re-
moved from German control to ensure France’s security. “The Rhine was
the natural boundary of Gaul and Germany.” Perhaps the Allies could cre-
ate an independent state with its neutrality guaranteed, just as Belgium’s
had been done, by the powers. “I can see,” reported the British ambassa-
dor, “that he intends to press for that very strongly.” Clemenceau in fact
was prepared to compromise on many of France’s demands as long as the
overriding goal of security was met. Indeed, he was even willing to con-
sider, though little came of it, limited cooperation with Germany, with the
two countries working together on rebuilding the devastated areas of
France and perhaps developing fruitful economic links."

Foch did not think in such terms and spoke with the authority of a
military man who had spent his life facing the menace across the Rhine.
France needed that river barrier; it needed the time that a Rhineland
under its control would buy in the face of an attack from the east; and it
needed the extra population. “Henceforward,” he insisted in a memoran-
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dum to the Peace Conference in January 1919, “Germany ought to be de-
prived of all entrance and assembling grounds, that is, of all territorial
sovereignty on the left bank of the river, that is, of all facilities for invad-
ing quickly, as in 1914, Belgium, Luxembourg, for reaching the coast of
the North Sea and threatening the United Kingdom, for outflanking the
natural defences of France, the Rhine and the Meuse, conquering the
Northern provinces and entering upon the Paris area.”"

If Germany attacked, he told Cecil, it could strike deep into France
long before the United States and Britain responded. “If there were any
other natural features which could be made an equally good line of de-
fence he would not have asked for the Rhine frontier, but there were ab-
solutely none.” His preference was an independent Rhineland which
could be grouped together with Belgium, France and Luxembourg in a
defensive confederation. “I think Foch is going too far,” said his friend
Henry Wilson, “but it is at the same time clear to me that neutrals like the
Luxembourgs and the Belgians unduly expose the flank of the poor
French, and that therefore some precaution must be taken, such as that no
Boche troops should be quartered over the Rhine, and possibly no Boche
conscription in the Rhenish provinces.” Foch’s second choice was a neu-
tral and demilitarized state, or perhaps states, in the Rhineland. Its inhabi-
tants, he felt, were naturally inclined toward France; in time, they would
recognize that their best interests lay in looking westward rather than to
the east.

French troops made up the majority of the occupying forces in the
Rhineland, and the French commanders there shared Foch’s views com-
pletely (including Marshal Pétain, who was to take a rather different view
of Germany in the Second World War). The Rhineland, said General
Charles Mangin, was the symbol of “immortal France which has become
again a great nation.” Mangin, whose career had been spent mainly in
France’s colonies, saw the local inhabitants as natives to be won over, with
festivals, torchlit processions, fireworks and a firm hand. The French also
wooed the Rhinelanders with economic concessions, exempting them
from the continuing blockade of Germany."

For an exhilarating few months in 1919, it looked as though powerful
separatist forces were stirring among the largely Catholic Rhinelanders,
who after all had never really settled down comfortably under Prussian
rule. But were they ready to throw themselves into the arms of France?
The mayor of the great Rhine city of Cologne, a cautious and devious
politician, spoke for the moderates. Konrad Adenauer toyed with sepa-
ratism but gave it up as a lost cause by the spring.'® The diehard separatists
remained a small minority.

Clemenceau chose not to know what his military was up to. Nor did
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he directly forbid it from intriguing with the separatists. He himself did
not care so much how the Rhineland was managed, as long as it did not
become, yet again, a platform for attacks on France. He wanted the Allied
occupation to continue; indeed, he wanted it extended to the eastern side
of the Rhine to protect the bridgeheads. If he could get this guarantee for
France’s security, he was prepared to back down on other French de-
mands, such as reparations. He urged his allies to keep the peace terms to-
gether as a package. As he told Balfour in February, he did not want the
disarmament terms, even though nearly ready, to be given to the Germans
because they would feel that they had nothing left to bargain with and so
be difficult on everything else.!”

Clemenceau had to move carefully on the Rhineland: his critics at
home were watching him closely. From the Elysée Palace, Poincaré
warned: “The enemy is picking herself up and if we do not remain united
and firm, everything is to be feared.” Poincaré’s view that France should
have direct control of the Rhineland had much support in France. While
the government had been careful during the war, for propaganda reasons,
not to talk publicly about annexing parts of Germany, private French citi-
zens had set up committees and rushed into print with their aspirations
(without the censors making any effort to stop them). The river had al-
ways been the boundary between Western civilization and something
darker, more primitive. France had civilized the Rhineland, they wrote.
Charlemagne’s capital had been there; Louis XIV had conquered it; and
French revolutionary armies had conquered it again. (The much longer
periods when the Rhineland was ruled by German-speaking princes were
skipped over hastily.) The people of the Rhine were really French in their
genes and their hearts. Their love of good wine, their joie de vivre, their
Catholicism (as even anticlerical French writers pointed out) were proof
of this. Get rid of the Prussians, and the Rhineland would revert to its
true, French, nature. And—perhaps this argument was the most com-
pelling of all—the Rhineland was fair compensation for France’s losses.™

The Americans were unmoved. The League, not the Rhineland, would
solve France’s security problems. As House put it, “If after establishing the
League, we are so stupid as to let Germany train and arm a large army and
again become a menace to the world, we would deserve the fate which
such folly would bring upon us.” Lloyd George was undecided. Perhaps
the Rhineland could be a small neutral state. On the other hand, as he re-
peatedly said, he did not want to create new Alsace-Lorraines to disrupt the
peace of Europe for yet another generation.'

French officials floated various ingenious schemes: a permanent occu-
pation by Allied troops; a customs union with France that left the Rhine-
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land technically in Germany; a plan to make the Rhineland part of France
militarily and of Germany legally. Some dreamed of something more dra-
matic. “To assure a durable peace for Europe,” said the French Foreign
Ministry, “it is necessary to destroy Bismarck’s work, which created a Ger-
many without scruples, militarized, bureaucratic, methodical, a formida-
ble machine for war, which blossomed out of that Prussia, which has been
defined as an army which has a nation.”® To see an independent Bavaria
again, a Saxony, above all a chastened Prussia, in the center of Europe
would quiet French nightmares.

Clemenceau himself was rather more realistic. He was convinced that
Germany would survive and that France would have to deal with it. He
could not forget that France’s future security depended on its allies as
much as on its own efforts. The Rhineland was only a piece of what
France wanted. If he went all out to gain it, would his allies support
France’s bill for reparations? Would they be as sympathetic on disarming
Germany? The full extent of his maneuvers and his real thoughts will
never be known, and that is as he preferred. When the French Foreign
Ministry tried to prepare a summary of the 1919 negotiations on the
Rhineland a few years later, it could not find a single document in its
files.?! Clemenceau destroyed most of his own papers before he died.

In the early months of the Peace Conference, Clemenceau did his best
to build up a reserve of goodwill among his allies by cooperating, for ex-
ample, on the League of Nations. He kept silent on the Rhineland in the
Supreme Council, sounding out his allies privately on the alternatives of
outright annexation or an autonomous Rhine state. He found some sym-
pathy among the Americans, particularly from House. The British, he felt,
would be harder to win over. He did not apparently talk to Wilson before
the president’s departure for the United States. As Lloyd George put it,
with his usual disregard of geography, “the old tiger wants the grizzly bear
back in the Rocky Mountains before he starts tearing up the German
hog!”*

On February 25, André Tardieu, one of the official French delegates,
finally presented a formal statement on the Rhineland to the Peace Con-
ference. It was his usual dazzling performance. Tardieu, who came from a
family of Paris engravers, was a distinguished intellectual (he had been top
of his class at the élite Ecole Normale Supérieure), diplomat, politician
and journalist. In 1917, Clemenceau sent him to the United States as his
special representative. He was very clever, energetic and charming. Lloyd
George could not abide him, and Wilson never forgave him for his close
contacts with the Republicans in Washington. Clemenceau was fond of
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him and trusted him as much as he did anyone. He also kept him firmly
under control. When Tardieu made the mistake of standing in front of
him at a meeting of the Supreme Council, the old man rapped sharply on
the table. “S’il vous plait, Monsieur.” Tardieu slunk back to his seat in a
fury, but dared not answer back.”

Tardieu’s memorandum of February 25, which he had drawn up on
Clemenceau’s instructions, asked for Germany’s western borders to stop
at the Rhine and for Allied forces to occupy the bridgeheads permanently.
France, he insisted, did not have the slightest interest in annexing any
part of the Rhineland, but Tardieu did not say how it was to be governed.
The response from France’s allies was firm. “We regarded it,” said Lloyd
George, “as a definite and dishonourable betrayal of one of the funda-
mental principles for which the Allies had professed to fight, and which
they blazoned forth to their own people in the hour of sacrifice.” Always
the realist, he also pointed out that trying to divide Germany up probably
would not work in the long run; “meanwhile it would cause endless fric-
tion and might provoke another war.” Wilson, in the United States, was
equally firm. “This could not be,” he told Grayson. “The desires of the
people were German in character. Taking this territory away from Ger-
many would simply give a cause for hatred and a determination for a re-
newal of the war throughout Germany that would always be equal to the
bitterness felt by France against Germany over the lost provinces.” The
president ordered House not to make any commitments on the Rhine-
land. He would deal with the issue in person when he returned to Paris.*

In an attempt to come up with a compromise, Lloyd George, Clemen-
ceau and House set up a secret committee a few days before Wilson’s boat
docked. Tardieu, who represented France, now came out openly for an in-
dependent Rhine state. “France,” he said, “would never be content unless
it was secured against a repetition of 1914 and . . . this security could only
be given by drawing the frontier along the Rhine. France had the right to
expect that if there was to be another war, it should not take place on
French soil.” Kerr replied that Britain could not see either separating the
Rhineland from Germany or stationing troops there permanently. British
public opinion was against it; so were the dominion governments, whose
wishes could not be ignored. On the other hand, British forces would, of
course, come to France’s aid if Germany attacked again. Tardieu pointed
out that they would probably not arrive in time. (The French did not take
seriously Lloyd George’s offer to build a tunnel under the Channel.) The
American representative said very little. The talks produced nothing use-
ful.®
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By the time Wilson was due back in Paris, considerable progress had been
made on the military clauses of the Germany treaty, but Germany’s bor-
ders, including the Rhineland, were far from settled and the tricky issue
of reparations was completely deadlocked. When Wilson’s ship reached
Brest on the evening of March 13, House came down to meet him. He
brought discouraging news. There was only the outline of a German
treaty.

The colonel thought he had simply briefed the president. Mrs. Wilson
and her supporters, who had never liked House, declared that the presi-
dent was shattered. “He seemed to have aged ten years,” she said twenty
years after the event, “and his jaw was set in that way it had when he was
making a superhuman effort to control himself.” He exclaimed, according
to Mrs. Wilson, “House has given away everything I had won before we
left Paris.” Grayson later added his embellishment: the president was hor-
rified to discover that House had not only agreed to the establishment of a
separate Rhine republic but had gone along with the nefarious scheme of
the British and the French to play down the significance of the League of
Nations by taking the covenant out of the German treaty. House had done
neither, but Wilson’s suspicions were aroused, and those around him were
happy to keep them alive.?

We will never know what happened between the president and the
man he had once called an extension of himself, but certainly that night a
crack appeared in their friendship. They continued to see each other and
House continued to act for the president, but it was rumored that he no
longer had his master’s ear. Lloyd George thought the main trouble came
later, in April, when he, Clemenceau and House were meeting in the lat-
ter’s room at the Crillon. House was trying to smooth over a dispute, this
time between Wilson and the Italians over Italy’s claims in the Adriatic.
The president walked in unexpectedly and clearly felt that something was
going on behind his back. “He had at least one divine attribute,” said
Lloyd George; “he was a jealous god; and in disregarding what was due to
him House forgot that aspect of his idol and thus committed the unfor-
givable sin.”?’

What House may have done at Brest is put to Wilson a suggestion
coming from Foch, among others, to present a preliminary treaty to Ger-
many with the military terms and perhaps some financial ones, leaving the
difficult issues such as borders and reparations for later. Wilson certainly
heard of it almost as soon as he arrived back. He immediately scented a
plot to delay the covenant of the League of Nations. On March 15 he
spoke “very frankly” to Lloyd George and Clemenceau. “There were so
many collateral questions which must be referred to the League of Na-
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tions when created that its creation must be the first object, and that no
treaty could be agreed upon that would deal only with military, naval and
financial matters.” Wilson refused to go to that afternoon’s meeting of the
Supreme Council, which was meant to approve the military terms; he
needed time, he claimed, to read them. “Impudence,” said the British gen-
eral Henry Wilson. Two days later, when the question finally came up, the
president contemplated opposing the provision for a German volunteer
army. Lloyd George, irritated at the delay, threatened in return that he
would refuse to approve the League of Nations covenant. The terms went
through.?

Germany was left, as even the Allies admitted, with something closer
to a police force than an army. When the promise of reductions in all
armies failed to materialize in later years, it added to British unease about
the German treaty, and to German resentment. With an army of 100,000
men and a navy of 15,000, and with no air force, tanks, armored cars,
heavy guns, dirigibles or submarines, Germany was to be put in a position
where it could not wage an aggressive war. Most of its existing stocks of
weapons, and all its fortifications west of the Rhine and along its eastern
bank, were to be destroyed. Only a few factories in Germany would be al-
lowed to produce war materials, and all imports were forbidden. To make
sure that Germany did not train men surreptitiously, public services, such
as the police, had to be kept at prewar levels, and private societies—tour-
ing clubs, for example, or veterans’ associations—were not allowed to do
anything of a military nature. In Germany’s high schools and universities,
students were no longer to be cadets. All this would be enforced by the
Germans themselves, supervised by an Inter-Allied Commission of Con-
trol. It was, in retrospect, like the ropes of the Lilliputians over Gulliver.”

The difficulties over the military terms were not yet over. Wilson now
found himself in a serious quarrel with the British over the naval terms, a
quarrel that reflected both older rivalries and the newer one that was de-
veloping as the United States became a world naval power. To begin with,
the British Admiralty longed to destroy the Kiel Canal, which linked the
Baltic and the North Sea and thus enabled Germany to move even its
largest ships without sending them through the straits by Copenhagen.
The admirals feared, with good reason, that commercial shipping interests
and the American government might object. The alternative of handing
over the canal to the Danes was out of the question; they showed no en-
thusiasm for such a poisoned chalice. The best that could be done was to
take it out of German control and let every nation’s ships use it. The
Americans objected even to that. “A punitive measure,” said Admiral
William Benson, the American naval representative and chief of naval
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operations. With the new Panama Canal firmly under their control, the
Americans did not want precedents for international management of
waterways. Benson also objected in general to imposing harsh terms on
Germany, which he argued would drag the United States into endless ef-
forts to enforce them. The compromise, which went into the treaty, sim-
ply allowed free passage for all countries at peace with Germany.*

The Americans had similar reservations about British proposals to raze
the fortifications along Germany’s coasts. “Naval armaments were being
limited,” Lansing complained. “Why then should Germany not be per-
mitted to defend her own coasts?” Lloyd George came up with a solution;
defensive fortifications were acceptable, offensive ones were not. In the
end, all German fortifications conveniently turned out to be defensive ex-
cept the ones that the British really cared about.

Out in the North Sea were two tiny low-lying islands, Heligoland
(Helgoland) and Dune, which the British had given to Germany in 1890,
in what seemed like an excellent deal, for Zanzibar. Unfortunately, time
had produced airplanes, submarines and long-range guns—and the
Anglo-German naval race. The useless specks of land became formidable
bases. The Admiralty had a simple solution: “The key of the mad dog’s
kennel must be in our pocket,” said an admiral, “for there is no knowing
when the evil beast will get another attack of hydrophobia.” If the Ameri-
cans objected, an alternative was to blow them both to smithereens. From
his retirement in England, the half-blind Sir Edward Grey put in his sug-
gestion, to turn Heligoland into a sanctuary: “For some reason this, hu-
manly speaking, unattractive and barren spot is a resting place for millions
of birds on migration.” Why not give it to Hughes of Australia? suggested
Clemenceau. The final British position, which the French supported, was
that only the fortifications and harbors should be destroyed. President
Wilson “was entirely in sympathy with the destruction of the fortifications
on the Islands of Heligoland and Dune, but he thought the destruction of
the breakwaters was rather a serious matter from a humane point of view,
as those formed havens for fishermen in case of storms in the North Sea.”
He did not, he added, want to give “an impression of gratuitous violence.”
The fishermen, according to the British, could easily find shelter in natu-
ral harbors. The British got their way on this, but the islands remained
German. In the 1930s, with the Nazis in power, the fortifications were re-
built, only to be blown up again after the Second World War.”!

When it came to Germany’s submarines, the British and the Ameri-
cans found themselves on the same side. “These pests ought to be dis-
posed of,” said Lloyd George when the matter came up for discussion.
The American secretary of the navy, Josephus Daniels, spoke for many
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when he compared them to poison gas: “I believe all submarines should
be sunk and no more should be built by any nation, if and when the
League of Nations becomes a fact.” The French and Italians objected.
“There is no treacherous weapon,” said the French minister of marine,
“there can only be treachery in the way the weapon is used.” And if the
submarines were to be destroyed, they would like a share in the work and
in the profits from the scrap. In the end, the French navy took ten sub-
marines; the remainder were broken up.*

The real tension between the British and the Americans came over
Germany’s surface ships. Initially both had taken the same view: their ad-
mirals did not want them; it would be expensive and difficult to incorpo-
rate them into their own fleets. Although Wilson thought it foolish to
destroy perfectly good ships, Lloyd George rather liked the idea of sinking
them ceremoniously in the middle of the Atlantic. The French and the
Italians objected. France, said a French admiral, had thrown all its re-
sources into winning the war on land. “Our fleet suffered losses which
could not be repaired, while the fleets of our allies increased in consider-
able proportion.” It would make more sense, in his view, to divide the
ships up. The Japanese suggested diffidently that they might take a few as
well.

Britain was about to give way at the beginning of March when House
told Lloyd George that the United States could not accept an increase in
the British navy. The distribution of the German fleet had set off alarm
bells in the mind of the excitable and Anglophobic American naval adviser.
Admiral Benson pointed out that whether the distribution was done on the
basis of contribution to the war effort or on that of losses, in either case
Britain would come out with the greatest share. “In future her sole naval
rival will be the United States, and every ship built or acquired by Great
Britain can have in mind only the American fleet.” Britain, he was con-
vinced, was determined to dominate the world’s seas and world trade.*

Lloyd George tried to defuse the issue by suggesting another of his
sleights of hand: the ships would be given out, but the United States and
Britain would go ahead and sink theirs. Unwisely, perhaps, he made this
dependent “upon the understanding that we should not in the future
enter into a building competition against each other.” Otherwise the Brit-
ish navy would simply go ahead and keep its share of the German ships.
Behind his proposal lay British concern over the continuing expansion of
the American navy, which t